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Letters to the Editor
A key element in the world of publishing is what readers have to say.

We want to hear from you on just about anything that appears in
each issue of Akauntan Nasional. Why not drop us a line now?

The dearth of Islamic financial instruments has led to serious liquidity man-
agement problems for Islamic financial institutions and has curtailed the de-
velopment of a ‘stronger’ Islamic financial market. In order to do so, appropri-

ate Islamic banking and financial tools based on Syariah principles must be in place.
The pioneering success of Tabung Haji and the encouraging public response to a

wide range of Islamic-based financial products and services, from banking and insur-
ance to private debt securities, has led to calls for the nation to develop a full-scale
Islamic capital market within the overall context of developing Kuala Lumpur into a
major regional financial hub.

Aside from fulfilling the basic religious needs of Muslim investors, a well deve-
loped Islamic capital market could serve as a vital means of mobilising capital for
Islamic financial institutions, investment houses and business enterprises both at home
and abroad.

With the right set of products, accumulated expertise and a head-start, Malaysia is
well-positioned to take advantage of this unique market niche. ‘Halal funds’ have been
already making some headway in Europe. Such an appeal coupled with the dynamic
growth of the Asia-Pacific economies, and some political persuasion, may exert just
enough pull to divert some of the vast West Asian funds which are still managed by
Western financial houses to our shores. For the Muslim community and for the world
at large this could bring tremendous development benefits.

Yet looking at present day statistics the growth of Islamic funds in this country has
been dismally slow as compared to the Kuala Lumpur Stock Exchange’s (KLSE) mar-
ket capitalisation growth. The problem is that while the market may be in existence
and our pool of expertise grows, there is still a dearth of Islamic securities and instru-
ments to give an Islamic fund manager sufficient diversity, liquidity and an efficient
way of managing his risks.

In this regard, efforts of designating about half of the KLSE stocks as halal are
noteworthy. So are the creation of Syariah-based unit trusts and investment funds
and the issue of private debt securities. But there is an urgent need for the Islamic
financial community to go further with innovative product creation and development.
To stay on par with the conventional system, the Islamic capital market today must at
least have the basic hedging and risk management tools.

Derivatives, options and futures should be standard features. What is needed there-
fore, is for the ulamas and financial experts to get to the drawing board and hammer
out these requisite instruments at speed. Until such time, chances are, an Islamic
capital market will remain a poor cousin of its more established and better endowed
conventional counterpart.

Editor

A Poor Cousin?
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We Renewed Faith
and Optimism

How time flies! We are almost ap-
proaching the beginning of the
Year 2001. It will never be as glam-

orous as the Year 2000, which we welcomed
with great anticipation watching spectacu-
lar fireworks and partying into the night.
Neither will we fear the birth of a killer bug
out to destroy our computer systems nor
will the soothsayers of doom be peddling
the prophecy of the end of the world.

No matter how we look at it, the new year
will be a time to take stock, to reflect on the
past, to evaluate the present and prepare for
the future. For the Institute, Year 2000 was
a year of change and renewed faith. Are we
happy with what we have achieved? What
does the future hold for us?

As a regulatory body, the Institute has
had its fair share of ups and downs, thank-
fully, more ups than downs over our 13-year
history. The challenges that we have over-
come have only made us stronger as we
rallied together with a sense of unity in the
spirit of ‘MIA Boleh’.

A relatively ‘young’ institute by interna-
tional standards, we have over the years,
attained a level of professionalism that has
earned us the respect of members and pro-
pelled the Institute to greater heights. The
advancement of the Institute is after all a
reflection of the profession’s maturity. We
should count our blessings.

What matters most, is that we must re-
mind ourselves that we are on the thresh-
old of a very long journey towards achiev-
ing our goal, which is to work for the bet-
terment of the profession.

As the recent economic turbulence
proved, there is no room for complacency.
We must forge ahead. We must remember
that we have managed to recover from our
worst crisis through our diligence and per-
severance. We must remind ourselves that

we are not completely out of the woods yet.
We must always be prepared.

The new year, which is just around the
corner, will see us enter an unprecedented
era of rapid growth in information technol-
ogy and networked economy. The process
of globalisation and the liberalisation of
trade in services will continue to take cen-
tre stage in most countries. As an Institute,
we must be wary.

When our trade barriers are being dis-
mantled, our economic resilience will be
tested. Here, only the fittest will survive.
We need to arrest our weaknesses and
overcome the challenges swiftly and surely.

Are we ready?
What is important thing is to learn from

our mistakes. Forget the sour grapes atti-
tude and look for ward. Unfor tunately,
some of the excesses of the ‘old turbulence’
have continued to fester and surface in the
recent crisis. It takes political will and self-
discipline to initiate a paradigm shift. These
may even be a need to adopt a whole new
approach to doing things.

It is not so much what we achieve that is
important but rather how we go about achiev-
ing it. Nevertheless, there should be no com-
promise when it comes to ethics and moral
values. That is the pillar of our strength.

Riding on the wave of better and sustain-
able economic growth, the Institute be-
lieves that its members will enter the new
year with renewed faith and optimism.

On a lighter note, it’s that time of the year
for everyone to take a well-deserved break.
The Institute takes this opportunity to wish
our Muslim friends ‘Selamat Berpuasa and
Selamat Hari Raya’ and to our Christian
friends ‘Merry Christmas and Happy New
Year’. To the rest, ‘Happy Holidays and
have a productive New Year’ — a real mil-
lennium awaits you.

“The new year, which is just around the corner, will see us

enter an unprecedented era of rapid growth in information

technology and networked economy.”
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says, “Dependence on electronic informa-
tion and IT systems is critical to support
critical business processes. Successful
businesses need to better manage complex
technology that is pervasive throughout
their organisations in order to respond
quickly and safely to business needs.”

As increasing disclosures of information
systems disaster and electronic fraud
emerge, it is obvious that IT governance
is a key factor in corporate governance.

IT Governance is gaining momentum in

the West as more and more CEOs, CFOs
and CIOs agree that synchronicity between
IT and enterprise objectives are critical fac-
tors for success.

What about Malaysian companies?
Lest our company top guns follow suit

and make a serious attempt to understand
the correlation between corporate and IT
governance, they may just find themselves
at a disadvantage as they fail to maximise
the potential benefits and capitalise on op-
portunities which will give them the com-
petitive edge.

3

VISION AND MISSION

The Malaysian Institute of Accountants is the exclusive accountancy body, repre-

senting the voice of all accountants in Malaysia and a leading partner in nation-
building. The Institute is committed to serving the profession and the nation with

integrity and professionalism.

Its mission is :

* To promote and monitor professional standards and integrity.

* To provide education and training to meet the challenge of the

ever-changing global economy.

* To conduct and promote research and development for the

enhancement of the profession.

If you think posting a guard at the
entrance to your office premise can
deter thieves and safeguard your assets

within, you are probably residing in the
twilight zone of yesteryear.

For an organisation, information and the
technology that supports it are its most
valuable assets.

Electronic theft happens everyday be it
from within the organisation or from hack-
ers who manage to perpetrate an organi-
sation’s systems from anywhere in the
world. Ultimately, it is the management’s
responsibility to safeguard the assets of an
enterprise and provide the necessary as-
surance to stakeholders.

What it all boils down to is proper secu-
rity control for its IT environment. Within
the context of corporate or enterprise gov-
ernance, therein lies the vital discipline of
IT Governance to ensure the security of
its systems.

In the era of k-economy, an enterprise,
be it public or private, has to be wired for
success.

The only way to attain one’s business
objectives and stay in competition is to in-
tegrate business strategies with informa-
tion technology.

Strategists and planners not only need
to effectively tap the benefits from a con-
tinuous almost unstoppable change in in-
formation technology but must also be able
to ascertain the corresponding IT-related
risks and respond quickly and accurately
to safeguard their businesses.

This is where a proper framework of
generally applicable and accepted code of
governance will be of immense benefit.

Granted, there is some confusion as a
result of the different evaluation methods
such as COBIT1, ITSEC2, TCSEC3, and
ISO90004, the underlying stumbling block
could very well be the very people en-
trusted as guardians of the organisation,

the top management.
Says a reliable source, top management

of several companies in Malaysia, of which
many have been in business since the early
60s, have an unfounded fear of technology.

Many simply refuse to get onboard the
technology train and prefer to sit on the side-
lines and employ others to bring their busi-
nesses into the mainstream of progress.

It is this attitude of not wanting to learn
new things that is actually a stumbling
block as they do not understand the asso-

ciated risks and fail to take the necessary
precautions.

It is hightime for a shift in mindset.
Global competition is very real and very

much around us.
As organisations restructure, reengineer,

downsize, outsource and streamline to stay
competitive, so too must the engines of tech-
nology management be put into perspective.

The very nature of IT being continuously
changing demands a need to better man-
age IT-related risks.

As the US based IT Governance Institute

Perspective on IT Governance

“… top management of several companies in Malaysia,

of which many have been in business since the early 60s,

have an unfounded fear of technology. Many simply refuse

to get onboard the technology train and prefer to sit on

the sidelines and employ others to bring their businesses

into the mainstream of progress.”

1 Control Objectives for Information and Related
Technology.

2 Information Technology Security Evaluation Citeria.

3 Trusted Computer System Evaluation Criteria.

4 Quality management and quality assurance as de-
fined by the International Standards Organisation
(ISO).
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To boldly go where no one has
gone before. This cliché must
be very familiar to fans of a

certain long running space exploration
television programme. However, to the
powers that be in Malaysia, the cliché can
be applied to the development of an Islamic
financial system in the capital markets as
well as banking. No doubt, the initial pub-
lic perception of an Islamic financial sys-
tem had been uncertain but as the system’s

popularity increased over the years, more
conventional financial institutions are pro-
viding Islamic financial services.

 Thanks to the publicity and educational
programmes focusing on the Islamic finan-
cial services that include Islamic Banking,
we have overcome the apparent resistance.
Islamic bankers, in keeping pace with the
sophisticated techniques and the latest
knowledge, have created investment in-
struments, which are not only profitable
but are also ethically motivated. There are
at present more than 200 Islamic financial
institutions operating throughout the
globe, with thousands of employees.

Besides Malaysia, the countries where
Islamic financial institutions have spread
to are Albania, Bahrain, the Bahamas,
Bangladesh, Brunei, China, Guinea, India,
Jordan, Kazakhstan, Kuwait, Luxembourg,
Mauritania, Northern Cyprus, Nigeria,
Niger, Pakistan, the Philippines, Qatar,
Russia, Saudi Arabia, Senegal, Switzerland,
South Africa, Sri Lanka, Sudan, Tunisia,
Turkey, Uzbekistan, the United Arab Emir-
ates, the UK and the US.

The first modern experiment of Islamic
banking was undertaken in Egypt under
cover, without projecting an Islamic image,
for fear of being seen as a manifestation of
Islamic fundamentalism which was anath-
ema to the political regime. The pioneering

Syariah means a path to a watering place. It implies a path leading to the

source of a meaningful life — the Islamic path or way of life. The main compo-

nents of  Syariah are:

n Aqidah or belief and faith — this is a foundation of Syariah.

n Akhlaq or morality and ethics.

n Fiqh or legal rulings governing the acts of human beings.

Aspects of Aqidah and Akhlaq are fixed and eternal for all time and societies.

Aspects of Fiqh change and vary from one nation (ummah) to the other.
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effort, led by Ahmad El Najjar, took the form
of a savings bank based on profit-sharing in
the Egyptian town of Mit Ghamr in l963.

This experiment lasted until l967, by which
time there were nine such banks in the coun-
try. These banks, which neither charged nor
paid interest, invested mostly by engaging
in trade and industry, directly or in partner-
ship with others, and shared the profits with
their depositors. Thus, they functioned es-
sentially as saving investment institutions
rather than as commercial banks. The Nasir
Social Bank, established in Egypt in l97l, was

declared an interest-free
commercial bank, al-
though its charter made no
reference to Islam or
Syariah (Islamic law).

The Islamic Development Bank (IDB)
was established in l974 by the Organisation
of Islamic Countries (OIC), but it was pri-
marily an inter-governmental bank aimed
at providing funds for development projects
in member countries. The IDB provides fee-
based financial services and profit-sharing
financial assistance to member countries. Its
operations are free of interest and are ex-
plicitly based on syariah principles. In the
seventies, changes in the political climate
of many Muslim countries decreed that
there was no longer any need to establish
Islamic financial institutions under cover.

 A number of Islamic banks, both in letter
and spirit, came into existence in the Middle
East, such as the Dubai Islamic Bank (in
l975), the Faisal Islamic Bank of Sudan
(l977), the Faisal Islamic Bank of Egypt (l977),
and the Bahrain Islamic Bank (l979). The
Asia-Pacific region was not excluded from
these developments. The Philippine Amanah
Bank (PAB) was established in l973 by Presi-
dential Decree as a specialised banking in-
stitution without reference to its Islamic char-
acter in the bank’s charter. The establish-
ment of the PAB was a response by the Phil-
ippines Government to the Muslim rebellion
in the south, designed to serve the special
banking needs of the Muslim community.

However, the primary task of the PAB was
to assist rehabilitation and reconstruction

in Mindanao, Sulu and Palawan in the south.
The first Islamic financial institution in

Malaysia was the Lembaga Urusan Tabung
Haji, which was set up in l963. The Tabung
Haji has been performing not unlike a fi-
nance company that invests the savings of
would-be pilgrims in accordance with the
Syariah, but its role is rather limited, as it
is a non-banking financial institution.

The success of the Tabung Haji, how-
ever, provided the impetus for establish-
ing an Islamic bank to cater to the grow-
ing needs of the Muslim population. Bank
Negara Malaysia says the motion pertain-
ing to the establishment of Islamic banks
in the country was tabled at the National
Seminar on the Concept of Development
in Islam back in 1981.

Later that year, a National Steering Com-
mittee on the establishment of an Islamic
Bank was formed. As a result, the Islamic
Banking Act, 1983, was promulgated to pro-
vide the central bank with the necessary pow-
ers to regulate and supervise Islamic banks.

Bank Islam Malaysia Berhad was estab-
lished and commenced operations on 1 July
1983. The Tabung Haji contributed l2.5 per
cent to its initial capital of RM80 million.
This was followed by the establishment of
Syarikat Takaful Malaysia Berhad in 1984.

The essential feature of Islamic banking
is that it is interest-free. Although it is of-
ten claimed that there is more to Islamic
banking than that, such as contributions
towards a more equitable distribution of
income and wealth, and increased equity
participation in the economy, it neverthe-
less derives its specific rationale from the
fact that there is no place for the institu-
tion of interest in the Islamic order.

Islam prohibits Muslims from taking or
giving interest (riba) regardless of the pur-
pose for which such loans are made and the
rates at which interest is charged. To be
sure, there have been attempts to distin-
guish between usury and interest and be-
tween loans for consumption and for pro-
duction: it has been argued that riba refers
to usury practised by petty moneylenders
and not to interest charged by modern
banks and that no riba is involved when in-
terest is imposed on productive loans. But
these arguments have not won acceptance.

Apart from a few dissenting opinions, the
general consensus among Muslim scholars
is that there is no difference between riba

and interest. In what follows, these two terms
are used interchangeably. The Quran estab-
lishes a clear distinction between interest and
trade, urging Muslims to take only the prin-
cipal sum and to even forgo this if the bor-
rower is unable to repay. The hadith (sayings
of the Prophet) contains admonishments
against the profferer and the recipient, as
well as those who record or witness the deed.
The abhorrence towards interest does not
mean capital is costless in an Islamic finan-
cial system. Islam recognises capital as a fac-
tor of production but it does not allow this
factor to be a cause for a predetermined claim
on the productive surplus in the form of in-
terest. What then replaces the interest rate
mechanism in an Islamic framework?

There have been suggestions that profit/
loss-sharing (Mudarabah) can be a viable
alternative. In Islam, the owner of capital can
legitimately share the profits made by the
entrepreneur. What makes profit-sharing
permissible while interest is not, is that in
the case of the former, only the profit-shar-
ing ratio, not the rate of return itself, is pre-
determined. Currently, some of the more
popular Islamic banking and financing in-
struments and practices in Malaysia in-
clude, besides the Mudarabah, Murabahah
(cost-plus), Ijarah (hire purchase),
Musyaraqah (partnership) and Al Wadiah
(trust power) while lending and advancing
is usually achieved through deferred pay-
ments (Bai’ Bithamin Ajil and Bai’ Al
Innah) to create the margin of profit.

Mudarabah is basically a contract in
which one party provides the capital while
the other provides the expertise to start
investment in a project. The contract is
between the beneficial owners and the
managing trustee. The investor provides
100 per cent capital but no interference.

Any accrued profits are shared between
the two parties at an agreed basis. The capi-
tal originally invested will be turned to the
provider at the end of the agreement. Capi-
tal loss is borne by the partner providing the
capital while the other party forgoes any re-
ward for his efforts. On the other hand,
Murabahah is a form of sales arrangement
based on cost plus profit where the cost has
been mentioned. Payment can be deferred.
Ijarah is the Islamic leasing arrangement
whereby the period of the lease contract is
mutually agreed upon and the asset becomes
the property of the lessor at the end of the

g :
 tory
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lease period. The product is akin to the op-
erating lease in conventional institutions.

A joint venture agreement in which two
parties commit funds and share profits and
losses in direct proportion to their respec-
tive share contributions is known as
Musyarakah.

Mudarabah and Musyarakah constitute,
at least in principle if not in practice, the
twin pillars of Islamic banking.

The Musyarakah principle is invoked in
the equity structure of Islamic banks and
is similar to the modern concepts of part-
nership and joint stock ownership. In so
far as the depositors are concerned, an Is-
lamic bank acts as a Mudarib which man-
ages the funds of the depositors to gener-
ate profits subject to the rules of
Mudarabah. The bank may in turn use the
depositors’ funds on a Mudarabah basis in
addition to other lawful modes of financing.

In other words, the bank operates a two-
tier Mudarabah system in which it acts both
as the Mudarib on the saving side of the
equation and as the rabbulmal on the invest-
ment portfolio side. The bank may also en-
ter into Musyarakah contracts with the us-
ers of the funds, sharing profits and losses.

At the deposit end of the scale, Islamic
banks normally operate three broad cat-
egories of accounts, mainly current, sav-
ings, and investment accounts.

The current account, as in the case of
conventional banks, gives no return to de-
positors. It is essentially a ‘safekeeping’ (Al
Wadiah) arrangement between the deposi-
tors and the bank, which allows the former
to withdraw their money at any time and
permits the bank to use the depositors’
money for investments. As in the case of
conventional banks, cheque books are is-
sued to the current account holders and the
Islamic banks provide the broad range of
payment facilities such as bank drafts, bills
of exchange, travellers cheques and so on.
More often than not, no service charges are
levied by the banks in this regard.

The savings account is also operated on
an Al Wadiah basis, but the bank may, at
its discretion, pay the depositors a positive
return periodically, depending on its own
profitability. Such payment is considered
lawful in Islam since it is neither a condi-
tion for lending by the depositors to the
bank, nor is it predetermined. The savings

account holders are issued with savings
books and are allowed to withdraw their
money as and when they please.

The investment account is based on the
Mudarabah principle, and the deposits are
term deposits which cannot be withdrawn
before maturity. The profit-sharing ratio var-
ies from bank to bank and from time to time
depending on the laws of supply and demand.

In theory, the rate of return could be
positive or negative, but in practice the re-
turns have always been positive and com-
parable to rates conventional banks offer
on their term deposits. As regards invest-
ment portfolios, Islamic banks employ a
variety of instruments. The Mudarabah
and Musyarakah modes are supposedly the
main conduits for the outflow of funds from
the banks. In practice, however, Islamic
banks have shown a strong preference for
other modes which are less risky.

The most commonly used mode of financ-
ing seems to be the ‘mark-up’ device termed
Murabahah. In a Murabahah transaction,
the bank finances the purchase of goods or
an asset by buying it on behalf of its client
and adding a mark-up before reselling it to
the client on a ‘cost-plus’ basis. It may ap-
pear at first glance that the mark-up is just
another term for interest as charged by con-
ventional banks, interest thus being admit-
ted through the back door.

What makes the Murabahah transaction
Islamically legitimate is that the bank first
acquires the asset and in the process, as-
sumes certain risks between the period of
purchase and resale. The bank takes re-
sponsibility for the goods before it is safely
delivered to the client. The services ren-
dered by the Islamic bank are therefore
regarded as quite different from those of a
conventional bank, which simply lends
money to the client to buy the goods.

Islamic banks have also been resorting
to purchase and resale of properties on a
deferred payment basis, which is termed
Bai’ Muajjal. It is considered lawful in fiqh
(jurisprudence) to charge a higher price
for goods if payments are to be made at a
later date. According to fiqh, this does not
amount to charging interest, since it is not
a lending transaction but a trading one.

When Islamic banking made its debut in
the country in 1983, it was to offer an al-
ternative form of banking for Muslims.

Today, Malaysia has one of the most ad-
vanced models of Islamic banking in the
world, and its popularity has caught on
even with non-Muslims.

According to the Economic Report 2001,
besides Bank Islam Malaysia Berhad and
Bank Muamalat Malaysia Berhad, 49 finan-
cial institutions in the country — 21 com-
mercial banks, 16 finance companies, five
merchant banks and seven discount
houses — have Islamic Banking schemes
as part of their operations.

Total Islamic banking assets in Malaysia
continued to record a 17 per cent growth to
RM41.8 billion in the first eight months of
the year, from RM30.7 billion previously.
This represents some five per cent of the
country’s banking system assets.

The report also indicates that the total de-
posits mobilised in the Islamic banking sys-
tem had increased by 25.4 cent to RM31.015
billion for the same period. The bulk of new
deposits were from investment deposits,
which registered an increase of 35.9 per cent
to RM22.4 billion. The report indicates that
savings deposits increased by 21.6 per cent
to RM2.9 billion, while current deposits de-
clined by 20.5 per cent to RM4.3 billion.

Meanwhile, the financing extended by
the Islamic banking system, increased by
24.1 per cent to RM17.4 billion. A major
proportion of the financing was channelled
to the residential property sector, which
constituted 20.6 per cent of the total financ-
ing, while 13.3 per cent was extended to
the transportation sector and 10.4 per cent
to the manufacturing sector.

Glossary
Al Wadiah safe keeping
Bai’ Muajjal deferred-payment/sale
Bai’ Salam pre-paid purchase
Baitul Mal treasury
Fiqh jurisprudence
Hadith Prophet’s commentary on Quran
Haji pilgrimage
Halal lawful
Haram unlawful
Ijara leasing
Iman faith
Mithl like
Mudarabah profit-sharing
Mudarib entrepreneur-borrower
Muqaradah Mudarabah
Musyaraqah equity participation
Qard Hasan benevolent loan (interest free)
Qirad Mudarabah
Abbul Mal owner of capital
Riba interest
Syariah Islamic Law
Shirka Musyaraqah
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The organisation of this conference
is timely as we reflect the achieve-
ments of Islamic banking over the

past 25 years, and look ahead in the new
century, to chart the future for Islamic
banking in the face of new challenges in
the world economic and financial environ-
ment. New technology has already shaped
the way we conduct our banking activities,
and the banking industry is finding it in-
creasingly more difficult not only to pre-
serve the territory where they have been
dominant but also to fully capitalise on the
IT revolution in other areas and to cross
the boundaries into previously unattainable
activities.

By any standard, 25 years of Islamic
banking is an extremely short period of
time if we were to compare it with conven-
tional banking,
which has a history
of more than 200
years. Islamic bank-
ing developed in
earnest beginning
in 1975 followed by
the establishment
of the Islamic De-
velopment Bank in
the same year.

Alhamdulillah, we have made great
strides when Islamic financial institutions

began to be set up in all parts of the world,
and is continuously being established until
this day. It is heartening that we have made
remarkable progress, if not momentous,
over the years. We have created the gen-
esis of an alternative financial system that
has begun to gain worldwide recognition.

Indeed the initial reaction of the West
towards Islamic banking was great scepti-
cism. Today it is received with significant
interest. With about US$170 billion of
funds managed by more than 170 Islamic
institutions, including countries such as

the UK and the
US, Islamic bank-
ing has proven it-
self and survived.

Although the
amount of funds
managed amounts
to only a fraction of
the total assets of
the international fi-

nancial system, it represents that portion of
financial activities supported by underlying
productive capacity that generates the
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The long-term objective of the Government has always been to create an
Islamic banking system to run parallel to the conventional banking sys-
tem. Unfortunately, a single Islamic bank or institution or even a few Is-
lamic banks and institutions, for that matter, do not necessarily consti-
tute an Islamic Banking system.

Bank Negara Malaysia in a report said that there are three basic ground
rules that have to be fulfilled to qualify as an Islamic banking system. The
first is having a large number of players — different types of institutions
taking part — to provide depth to the system.

The second criterion is the availability of a wide range of Islamic finan-
cial instruments to meet the current and growing needs of the financial
institutions and customers. Finally, there must be an efficient and effec-
tive interbank money market to link the players and different instruments.

In addition to these requirements, Islamic banking is governed by a
higher authority — the word of God. The system must reflect the socio-
economic values of Islam. In other words, it must be Islamic in substance;
not merely in form and certainly not in name only. Recognising this fact,
the Government, through Bank Negara, has taken a concrete and dy-
namic approach to achieving the goal of developing an Islamic banking
system to compliment conventional banking. Following are excerpts from
Bank Negara Malaysia Governor Datuk Dr. Zeti Akhtar Aziz’s speech at
the 2000 World Islamic Banking Conference held in Bahrain last month

The Future of
Islamic Banking

Datuk Dr. Zeti Akhtar Aziz, Governor
of Bank Negara Malaysia

“… as we enter the 21st Century,

in the wake of unstable financial

markets, there has been a paradigm

shift amongst the major financial

players on the fundamental

concept of banking.”
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growth of nations across
continents. It is this form
of financial activities that
we should encourage, as
opposed to the specula-
tive financial flows that
are not only unproduc-
tive but destabilising and
destructive as has been
seen to have occurred
during the financial cri-
ses.

It is wor thwhile to
note that as we enter
the 21st Century, in the
wake of unstable finan-
cial markets, there has
been a paradigm shift
amongst the major fi-
nancial players on the
fundamental concept of
banking.

The primary function
of banks has been rede-
fined, not only as an ef-
fective allocator of re-
sources in the economy
but having an increased
role of a fund facilitator
between depositors and
entrepreneurs. In fact,
academicians have long
argued in favour of a
profit-and-loss based
banking system. It
clearly suggests that
the idea of profit-shar-
ing as advocated under
Islamic banking is not an alien concept to
our Western counterparts, in fact it may
be a solution to some of the ills created,
expanded and institutionalised by them.

The concept of Islamic banking has been
nurtured and serious efforts have been
made to strengthen its infrastructure. We
have made great strides in designing in-
ternational accounting and auditing stand-
ards aimed at enhancing transparency and
corporate governance of Islamic financial
institutions through the Accounting and
Auditing Organisation for Islamic Financial
Institutions (AAOIFI).

Indeed, transparency and corporate gov-
ernance are the very basis on which confi-
dence and credibility are founded, and Is-

lamic banks essentially epitomise these
characteristics as demanded by Islam. We
have made meaningful headway towards
the crystallisation of an international Is-
lamic money market, which is vital for the
development and efficiency of a global Is-
lamic financial system.

Significant inroads have been made in
formulating an acceptable and workable
model to be used by the players and Ma-
laysia is looking forward for the interna-
tional Islamic money market to take off as
planned in October next year.

An international Islamic rating agency is
also now in the process of being set-up to
structure a customised rating methodol-
ogy for Islamic financial institutions and in-

str uments based on
their distinct character-
istics. Besides lending
credence to the overall
Islamic financial archi-
tecture, an Islamic rat-
ing agency is needed to
pre-empt the competi-
tive disadvantages that
Islamic financial institu-
tions have to encounter,
relative to their conven-
tional counterparts, with
the introduction of a
more risk-sensitive capi-
tal adequacy framework
in replacement of the
1988 Capital Accord.

Despite these achieve-
ments, we need to do
more and we are march-
ing on to initiate the es-
tablishment of a Finan-
cial Services Board to
design and issue the su-
pervisory and prudential
standards for Islamic fi-
nancial institutions.

The Islamic Develop-
ment Bank has an in-
strumental role in fos-
tering co-operation be-
tween the Islamic finan-
cial institutions, the
regulators and other
government authorities,
without which such sig-
nificant progress could

not have been achieved.
The size and scale of the Islamic bank-

ing and finance industry today is such that
no conventional banker can afford to ig-
nore the tremendous potential in securing
a niche in the contemporary financial
world. Hence, we see the trend for conven-
tional banks to take strategic steps to posi-
tion themselves accordingly to capture a
meaningful share of the Islamic banking
market, and we have seen investors in-
creasing their appetite for Islamic-based
transactions, products and services.

There have been a significant number of
global players, equipped with an existing
extensive conventional banking network at
their disposal, being actively involved in
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Bank Negara Malaysia has taken a concrete and dynamic approach
in developing an Islamic banking system to compliment

conventional banking
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structuring Syariah-compliant invest-
ment and financing deals. Even the mul-
tilateral agencies including the Interna-
tional Monetary Fund have acknowl-
edged that “Islamic banking is a finan-
cial innovation taking root rapidly and
is cer tainly ver y much part of the
Fund’s present and future thinking and
policies.”

Whilst we can be proud of concerted ef-
forts towards realising a credible and effi-
cient Islamic banking industry, we need to
gear ourselves to remain viable and prevail
in a global financial environment driven by
the advances in technology and globalisation.
In this regard, it is unfortunate that criticisms
on the technical and operational aspects of
Islamic banking still dominate the discourse
in the academia world.

While this dialogue should continue, ef-
forts need to focus on the expansion and
the dissemination of knowledge on Islamic
banking as a viable global financial system.
In my own mind, productive efforts should
also be channelled towards research and
development in creating new financial
products and an international Islamic finan-
cial architecture which would support the
full progress of Islamic banking.

We have been urging for greater co-op-
eration among Islamic countries. To sup-
port this, the Quranic verse from Surah Ali-
Imran verse 103, which says :  “And hold
fast, all together, by the rope which God
(stretches out for you), and be not divided
among yourselves and remember with
gratitude God’s favour on you …”

Despite this, we have not witnessed sig-
nificant flow of funds within the Muslim
world. The Muslim world has been be-
stowed with an abundance of resources
that could be channelled to support the
growth of Islamic banking. By pooling our
financial and human capital resources to-
gether, we will be able to carve our niche
and establish a competitive edge in the glo-
bal financial environment.

Islamic banking is also in dire need of a
committed and pragmatic regime to sup-
port and guide its development in terms
of infrastructure, accounting standards, fi-
nancial markets, products and Syariah
framework. Another major impediment to
the growth of Islamic banking appears to
be the differences in Syariah interpreta-

tions. An international conference such as
this, where there is a convergence of great
minds, represents the perfect opportunity
to resolve the contentious issues and work
together to achieve a resolution that is ac-
ceptable to all.

We should view the current evolution of
information technology in the banking and
finance world as an opportunity to foster
the much-needed co-operation between us.
In the past, we had to go through great
lengths to exchange information; today
information can be transmitted instantane-
ously and at increasingly lower costs
across the globe.

As technology and innovation remove
barriers across geographical boundaries,
we need to take advantage of this wireless
world of communications that has brought
us closer, to create an integrated Internet
platform as a means of sharing ideas, re-
search findings, conference discussions,
Syariah rulings and other vital information
on Islamic banking and finance.

Although there exist Internet portals on
Islamic banking and finance currently,
what we have at our disposal are only
myriad websites with hardly any linkages,
displaying fragmented information and
few-and-far-between masterpieces of re-
search in Islamic banking.

Today, technology is no longer viewed
as a cost centre, rather it is seen as a stra-
tegic tool to achieve a competitive edge.
The traditional barriers between banks and
technology firms are blurring as banks are
actively providing technology services
whilst technology firms are making in-
roads into banking services.

Banks are also partnering with technol-
ogy firms to offer financial products and
services to Internet users. Essentially,
technology has brought about the financial
world today a highly competitive environ-
ment in which financial and business enti-
ties would have to compete and co-operate

at the same time.
Against this backdrop of a constantly

evolving and intensely competitive fi-
nancial industry, how do we visualise
the way forward for Islamic banking?

Islamic banking should endeavour to
be the epicentre in the financial galaxy.
It should be as if it were the prime en-
ergy source that each financial entity

gravitates towards as if it symbolises a pow-
erful magnetic field.

As a means to realise this quest, a number
of strategic steps need to be taken in chart-
ing a viable future for the Islamic financial
institutions in this more challenging era.

All of us here today have an ambitious
agenda lined up for Islamic banking in the
21st century. It is certainly an era of excep-
tional opportunities and challenges for Is-
lamic financial institutions and their regu-
lators.

Developing the industry and designing
the regulatory and supervisory framework
for Islamic banking while pacing the waves
of globalisation would demand more inten-
sive and sophisticated co-operation be-
tween the authorities, regulators, financial
entities and market participants.

Governments have a vital role in provid-
ing the essential support and infrastructure
whilst regulators have to formulate a flex-
ible framework that addresses the distinct
features of Islamic banking without sacri-
ficing prudential standards. While we work
together, each meeting our responsibilities
and reinforcing the other in facing up to
the daunting challenges in riding the waves
of globalisation, it is of utmost importance
that we not lose sight of the shore. I wish
to leave you with a few phrases from Iqbal
the famous poet, who said :  “In man’s cru-
sade of life, these weapons has he : Con-
viction that his cause is just; Resolution to
strive till eternity :  Compassion that em-
braces all humanity.” That thought is pro-
found. Islamic banking is now at a thresh-
old of exciting developments. The tides of
Islamic banking are bringing once again
greater co-operation, collaboration and un-
derstanding of the magnificent splendour
of Islam.

Deriving strength from our rich tradi-
tions, we have the real opportunity to es-
tablish a financial model for the rest of the
world to follow. InsyaAllah.

“Islamic banking should endeavour to

be the epicentre in the financial galaxy.

It should be as it were the prime

energy source that each financial

entity gravitates towards as if it sym-

bolises a powerful magnetic field.”
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   Financial reporti 
      banks :  Research 

Introduction
This article highlights the excerpts of

findings derived from an analysis of finan-
cial reporting practices of selected banks
from a number of countries.

Objectives of the Study
The specific objectives of the study are:

n To identify and compare the differences
and similarities in the financial report-
ing of Islamic financial institutions

n To identify the influence of regulation and
governing laws on financial reporting

n To identify to what extent Islamic finan-
cial institutions have adhered to the
standards issued by the Accounting and
Auditing Organisation For Islamic Finan-
cial Institutions (AAOIFI) and the Inter-
national Accounting Standards
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C O V E R

Scope of this Study
Information is obtained from interviews

conducted, questionnaires sent out, pub-
lished annual reports of banks including
statutes, guidelines and pronouncements
of central banks. In addition to Malaysia,
three countries are also included; Bahrain,
Turkey and Pakistan where detailed infor-
mation about the respective regulatory
frameworks are obtained.

A total of 98 questionnaires were sent
out together with requests for financial
reports and five were returned. For
those who did not submit the com-
pleted questionnaires, 11 financial re-
ports were examined. All the analyses
are descriptive.

The regulations of each nation are de-
scribed in terms of the institutional ar-
rangements. Using the framework dis-
cussed above, the content is compared
against the AAOIFI’s requirements. Fi-

nally, the financial reports are examined
mainly against the Financial Account-
ing Standards (FAS) 1 produced by
AAOIFI. What was originally intended
was to examine the financial reports
against FAS1 up to FAS8.

AAOFI and Syariah
Accounting concepts do assist standard

setters and preparers in finding solutions for
accounting problems. As such, given the rela-
tive infant stage of financial reporting for Is-
lamic financial institutions, the differences
or similarities in concepts adopted could help
us in understanding the differences or simi-
larities in accounting treatment.

AAOIFI was established for the purpose
of developing reporting (and auditing)
standards. AAOIFI’s set of standards could
represent a benchmark framework as it
draws rationales from the Syariah and
takes a holistic approach to Islamic ac-
counting and finance.

1

2



Akauntan NasionalNovember/December 2000 15

Pilot Study
There was a pilot study carried out by

looking at banks in Malaysia (hereinafter
referred to as the “Malaysian Study”) that
provide Islamic-based facilities and financial
products. The emphasis was on the differ-
ences between the requirements of the vari-
ous regulatory and professional sources in
Malaysia and those of AAOIFI’s in respect
of the presentation of financial statements;
viz; the income statement, balance sheet
and funds (or cash) flow statement.

Assisted by the findings, a study on
other banks outside Malaysia (hereafter
referred to as the “Worldwide Study”) was
carried out. It identified the dimensions
over which comparisons were made and
drew up benchmark criteria for compari-
son and evaluation.

Compliance of AAOIFI Standards
In the absence of any enabling legal pro-

visions (except in Bahrain) or any other
form of international endorsement, it is not
expected that financial reports of Islamic
financial institutions adhere or comply with
AAOIFI standards. If they do, it is perhaps
by coincidence.

When one examines the legal and pro-
fessional regulation, and compares each
with the AAOIFI’s standards, it provides
an evidence of de jure harmony. It is note-
worthy that each nation has a different
approach to regulating accounting prac-
tices. Often, one differs from another in
terms of the mixture of legal and profes-
sional regulation. As such, the approach
in regulating reporting practices indicates
the possibility of harmonising reporting
practices among Islamic financial institu-
tions.

Arguably, if a regulation is encoded in
law, it would be more difficult to bridge
the differences if compared to a situation
where the regulation is based on profes-
sional pronouncement.

At present AAOIFI has no legal backing.
Compliance with its standards is on a vol-
untary basis to the extent that the finan-
cial institutions do not comply. It is ex-
pected that reporting practices of Islamic
financial institutions vary as a result of dif-
ferent motives of reporting and interpreta-
tions of the Syariah related issues, among
others.

Although Islamic financial institutions’
operations are based on the Syariah, many
operate within a national legal structure
that is non-Islamic. It therefore vital to in-
vestigate the national legal influence as it
would also explain differences in report-
ing practices.

Study Framework
Findings from the Malaysian study also

indicate that differences in operation con-
tribute to differences in accounting and re-
porting. Areas of operation that are of con-
cern are :

n funds mobilisation (basis of deposit tak-
ing and pooling of funds) which explains
differences in presentation of income and
expenses, and distribution of profits, and

n level of involvement with project fi-
nanced and thus tracing of and account-
ing for expenses.

Islamic Banking vis-à-vis Conven-
tional Banking

The cornerstone of Islamic banking is
profit and risk sharing between banks and
clients within the confines of general
Syariah principles. Examples are the pro-
hibition of riba and gharar. This is achieved
by different modes of financing; principally
musharakah and mudharabah which is
comparable to the conventional partner-
ship, and other sales-based contracts such
as murabahah, istisna’ and salam.

Each mode is governed by a set of rules.
There are different rights and obligations
accrued to the parties, bank and client.
Culminating the fact that a bank invariably
takes up some risk in the project financed,
confining to default risk, would require the
banks to be involved in a different way com-
pared to a conventional bank.

In the case of mudharabah financing, the
bank as capital provider shares profits with
the mudharib without any recourse to the
capital provided. Thus, the profitability of
the project financed becomes the more
important consideration compared to cred-
itworthiness of the mudharib i.e. the com-
pany proposing the project.

For an Islamic bank, there is a higher
level of involvement in the project fi-
nanced as it is required to assess the
profitability. In contrast, a conventional
bank would extend loan finance, which
requires a repayment of and a return
on the capital provided. This is without

ng of islamic
Highlights

1
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tional bank is not obliged to disclose
expenses traceable to each type of in-
come and the profit sharing basis.

Conventional banks are often classified
as commercial, investment and mer-
chant banks. This classification is
sometimes legally enforced (for e.g. in
Malaysia). The Central Bank deter-
mines the scope of operation accorded
for what is termed as a commercial
bank, a finance company or a merchant
bank. An Islamic bank (not involved in
trading, fee based activities and invest-
ment) does not really fit singly into any
of these classifications. However, ow-
ing to an apparent business climate in

MALAYSIA

“… in Malaysia, the central bank determines the

scope of operation for what is termed as a commer-

cial bank, a finance company or a merchant bank.”

C O V E R
I S L A M I C  F I N A N C I A L  S YS T E M

regard to the profitability of the project.
Thus, conventional banks would view
knowledge regarding the creditworthi-
ness of the mudharib (the company pro-
posing the project) as the main consid-
eration.

The Islamic bank’s exposure to risk is
thus not similar to that of a conven-
tional bank. Therefore, the information
for an Islamic bank to report in order
for the users to assess the bank’s risk
exposure would not necessarily be the
same as that of a conventional bank.
This appears to be the immediate im-
plication on financial reporting.

A matter of concern should be the man-
ner in which the deposits are taken;
based on how different contracts are
pooled and mobilised or how expenses
are incurred and/or allocated and how
the resulting profits are distributed.
Different contracts accrue different
rights and obligations to the bank and
the depositor.

In addition, banks have the right to use
freely al-wadiah and unrestricted in-
vestment deposits with shareholders
funds. On the former, the bank guar-
antees the safe keeping without any
charge to the client and without any
guarantee of profit. On the latter, the
bank and depositor are on profit-shar-
ing basis. Thus, at least in principle it
is important to account for the ex-
penses that are borne by the bank
solely and by the project financed for
the purpose of profit determination, as
agreed in the mudharabah contract.

As for restricted mudharabah, in prin-
ciple, the funds cannot co-mingle with
other funds. Only the depositor can
give instruction as to its utilisation. The
accounting and the reporting system
should reflect these rights and obliga-
tions, in order for users to properly as-
sess the position of the banks. In con-
trast, a conventional bank merely per-
forms an intermediary function. For
example, it guarantees a certain return
on depositors’ fund. An accounting sys-
tem to trace expenses to the project fi-
nanced by depositors’ funds in order
to attribute profit properly to the de-
positors is not necessary. The conven-

nancial success. One needs to understand
that accounting and reporting are religious
obligations; distinguished from corporate
social reporting in terms of accountability.

One of the major themes of corporate
social reporting is that accountability is
built on a social contract between organi-
sations and society. The terms of the so-
cial contract are set out in law. Thus, it is
society that sets the rules of accountabil-
ity. However, if accounting and reporting
are religious obligations, then the rules of
accountability are divine, and in this con-
text based on Syariah.
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the region, some Islamic banks tend to
develop a niche in certain types of
banking activities even though there
are no legal reasons for doing so.

There are those that can be termed as
investment banks and tend to focus on
wholesale project financing, these banks
would face a different risk, and one would
expect it to affect the bank’s accounting
and reporting practices.

Based on the findings of the Malaysian
Study, areas of differences in reporting re-
quirements that were identified formed the
basis for comparisons and are summarised :

Expressed Objective of Reporting
It is widely accepted that the primary ob-

jective of reporting is to provide information
to assist users in making economic decisions
and development elsewhere. However, it also
indicates that in making the economic deci-
sions, users may not only be interested in
information to assess the financial success
of companies. They are also concerned with
the information to assess if companies have
discharged social responsibilities.

In a similar vein, AAOIFI sets out the
objective of reporting : to provide users
with information to assess whether Islamic
banks have complied with Syariah require-
ments as well as information to assess fi-
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Underlying principles, assumptions,
and concepts

AAOIFI does not particularly endorse the
concept of ‘substance over form’. In view of
the primacy of contract in transactions in Is-
lam, the emerging reality must be con-
structed or appear to be as the form. How-
ever, this may not be so in practice. The ac-
ceptance of concepts such as going concern,
stable monetary unit, and those relating to
quality of information, reliability, relevance
and comparability would not be problematic.

Definition of Asset
AAOIFI defines asset as that which the

enterprise has acquired rights to hold, use

tracts are not liabilities. Restricted
mudharabah (cannot be mingled with
other funds) is kept off the balance sheet
with separate disclosures.

Income Presentation and, Classifica-
tion and Treatment of Expenses

AAOIFI requires income to be presented
by types; return from pooled funds (unre-
stricted mudharabah and shareholders’
funds), return from own (shareholders’)
funds, fees earned in a bank’s capacity as
mudharib and other revenue. Expenses at-
tributable to specific income need to be dis-
closed and are not included as a bank’s
overheads.
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ing Standards Committee’s (IASC) concep-
tual framework.

The results also indicate that AAOIFI
does not particularly endorse the concept
of substance over form. This is evident in
the treatment of leased assets and sales
based transactions.

Furthermore, all the banks that are in-
volved in ijarah that expressed compli-
ance to AAOIFI’s standards for their sup-
plementary reports, record ijarah at re-
ceivable value. Only the First UDL
Modaraba (FUDLM – Pakistan) treats
ijarah assets as operating leases albeit not
according to FAS1 classification and that
is as investment assets, but as fixed as-
sets.

Banks in Bahrain appropriately classify
ijarah financing as investment. Thus, simi-
larity exists in the treatment of ijarah but
it is at variance with AAOIFI’s prescrip-
tion.

In addition FUDLM (Pakistan) has been
observed to record trading inventory in
transit, which is in conformity to AAOIFI’s
requirement for the treatment of
murabahah transaction and to the form of
the transaction. As for other banks, the cost
of purchase of assets that are subject to
murabahah contracts is not recorded. In
most cases, the completion of purchase
and sale is instantaneous and banks do not
actually conduct ‘trading’ in the real mean-
ing of the word. As repor ted in the
Malaysian Study, this is true for Bank Is-
lam Malaysia Berhad (BIMB). The trans-
action recorded reflects the substance of
the transaction essentially being a financ-
ing/lending transaction.

The differing treatment has implications
on both asset value and the amount recog-
nised as income and expense. On the other
hand, if one treats a murabahah transac-
tion as a financing transaction or purely as
a sales transaction, it has the same effect
on profit although it may be termed differ-
ently; either interest or margin.

 Therefore, there is no fundamental dif-
ference between banks practising Islamic
principles and those that do not. However,
banks may differ in terms of the timing of
recognition of the margin :  at time of sale,
as cash received or as payment becomes
due. However, AAOIFI rejects the first
method, except where the credit period

or dispose and does not therefore recog-
nise asset based on ability to control
through other than legal ownership.

Presentation and Classification of As-
sets, Liabilities and Sources of Finance

Financing assets are classified by the na-
ture of the contractual rights :  receivables
from sales based contract, i.e. murabahah,
salam and istisna’, amount invested on profit
sharing basis i.e. musharakah and
mudharabah, and assets acquired for leasing
(which is presented separately from operat-
ing assets, even though similarly depreciated).

Liabilities are strictly contractual obliga-
tions. Examples are savings and current
accounts and other payables. Thus, invest-
ment accounts based on mudharabah con-

A Comparative Analysis
At the conceptual level, there are simi-

larities in the primary purpose of report-
ing — to provide information for users in
making economic decisions. There is no
expressed objective in the reporting re-
gimes being examined.

However, voluntary disclosure of the
Syariah supervisory board’s report or its
equivalent has been observed filling the
need for users to assess Syariah compli-
ance on the banks’ operations. Except for
Bahrain’s bank, none provides additional
statements showing sources and uses of
Zakah or Qard funds.

The regulatory reporting framework of
Malaysia and Pakistan either explicitly or
implicitly adopt the International Account-

PAKISTAN
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does not exceed the current financial pe-
riod. The preferred method is the accrual
basis.

In general, all banks, except BIMB (Ma-
laysia) recognise income on a cash basis.
The Development Co-operative Islamic
Bank in Sudan adopts an income recogni-
tion policy that is not clear :  it recognises
income on accrual basis.

In terms of general presentation and
classification of items of balance sheet and
income statements, three banks in Bahrain
complied with the requirements of FAS1.
There is a non-compliance of the valuation
of ijarah financing and the absence of dis-
closure of the departure.

AAOIFI requires sources of the asset fi-
nanced from own fund or co-mingled funds
to be disclosed for each class of assets.
Given the risk faced by mudharabah de-
positors, such detailed disclosure would be
useful and unique to financial reporting of
Islamic banks. Apart from the banks in
Bahrain, none of the banks provide such
detailed disclosure.

AAOIFI distinguishes restricted
mudharabah deposits (that do not co-mingle
with other funds and for purposes specified
by the client) from unrestricted mudharabah
deposits (that the bank is free to utilise with
other funds). The former is kept off the bal-
ance sheet, while the latter as quasi-capital
in between liability and equity.

It is noteworthy that all the banks based
in Bahrain adhered to AAOIFI’s treat-
ment. Pakistan keeps mudharabah depos-
its that the bank has no obligation in re-
turning the capital sum as an off the bal-
ance sheet item.

In comparison, Albaraka (Turkey) kept
all mudharabah deposits, even special pur-
pose funds on the balance sheet separate
from liability with disclosure of a bank’s
obligations. The rest of the banks disclose
them as liabilities.

However, not every one disclosed in-
come as coming from different sources :
from utilisation of unrestricted mudharabah
or restricted mudharabah. The number that
showed expenses to each source of income
was less; especially for the “investment
banks” where for the purpose of profit de-
termination, expenses are largely traced to
project financed. Arguably, banks that op-
erate as commercial banks would not in the

first place have significant expenses to each
financing activity.

Ramifications
As a whole, the Malaysian requirements

reflect the need to align reporting practices
for Islamic-based transactions with the con-
ventional counterpart. There is less empha-
sis on reflecting the contractual form of
transactions. Thus, the different treatment
of the transactions as compared to
AAOIFI’s treatments could not stem from
dif fering interpretations of the Syariah
principles.

The AAOIFI’s requirements seem to

“Albaraka (Turkey) keeps all mudharabah
deposits, even special purpose funds on the
balance sheet separate from liability with

disclosure of a bank’s obligations. The rest of
the banks disclose them as liabilities.”

project strongly on the need to reflect the
resulting contractual rights and obligations
of the banks as well as the social and reli-
gious obligations of banks.

AAOIFI has set out financial reporting
as a religious obligation, non-compliance
with its standards appears to result in a
lower standard of disclosure in the theo-
logical sense. Information in financial state-
ments might not assist readers to look at
the religious compliance. At a practical

level, there may not be sufficient informa-
tion for proper analysis of the bank’s per-
formance given the differing functions of
an Islamic bank as compared to the inter-
mediary function of its conventional coun-
terpart.

Banks may not correctly measure risk
of default arising from different contracts
as they are treated the same i.e. as financ-
ing. This, coupled with the treatment of
expenses may render income not correctly
apportioned. Users on the other hand may
be unable to analyse the use of different
funds.

Evident from the analysis of treatment

of ijarah and murabahah transactions, and
the treatment of restricted and unrestricted
investment funds, conformity to AAOIFI’s
prescription could be difficult to expect if
such prescription requires a` radically dif-
ferent treatment from the ones convention-
ally required.

There should be improvement in regu-
lation and practice as regards the disclo-
sure and treatment that reflect the obliga-
tions and rights of banks and clients.
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paced conventional methods? Aside for re-
ligious benefits, the market players would
surely put the commercial benefits as top
priority. Thus, the development of an Is-
lamic capital market must not be confined
to imitating available models, but more of
an innovative approach, exploring the
wide array of Syariah concepts that have
not been tested.

Fortunately, this is already happening
in Malaysia, much to the envy of many
other Islamic countries. In fact, Malaysia
has become a model for the rest of the
world.

It is true that Malaysia has been recog-
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Resurgence of
Islamic
Capital Market
The success of Islamic

banking in the coun-
tr y has spilled over

into other Islamic financial sec-
tors. This includes mobilising
the funds for better returns us-
ing the Islamic investing in-
struments in the capital mar-
ket.

The Islamic capital market is
an essential platform for the ef-
ficient mobilisation of Islamic
funds, and there is a need to
develop capital market instru-
ments to attract funds from
such institutions as Tabung
Haji, Islamic banks and Islamic
unit trusts as well as the in-
creasing number of individuals
looking for Syariah-compliant
investments.

On the international front,
there are 52 Islamic funds in
operation of which 21 are glo-
bal equity funds. The total fund
value, including both banks and
capital market, and private asset manage-
ment from Islamic countries is valued at
US$90 billion (US$1=RM3.80) and US$800
billion respectively. In addition, there are
several global Islamic indices such as the
Dow Jones Islamic Market Index, Dow
Jones Islamic-US and Dow Jones Islamic
Global Technology. Last year, Kuwait-
based The International Investors,
launched a series of Islamic indices as a
benchmark for the international Islamic
equities capital market in a joint effort with
the Financial Times.

But how does Islamic financial systems
compete with the ever changing and fast-

nised internationally as one of the pio-
neers in the Islamic banking and takaful
industry. Further, in the Islamic capital
market, we have seen quite a number of
Islamic cross-border investment and fi-
nancing taking place to finance infrastruc-
ture projects in Malaysia based on Ijarah
(Islamic leasing), murabahah (cost plus
profit), musyarakah (profit and loss shar-
ing), istisna’  (product/contract by
progress order) and other concepts. The
investment and financing of these activi-
ties are co-arranged with Islamic invest-
ment banks and fund managers based in
the UK and Middle East.
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“On the international front, there are 52 Islamic funds in operation of which

21 are global equity funds. The total fund value, including both banks and

capital market, and private asset management from Islamic countries is

valued at US$90 billion  and US$800 billion respectively.”



Akauntan NasionalNovember/December 2000

The Council is the authority that de-
cides whether a share on the KLSE is ap-
proved or not in Syariah where the list of
companies is updated periodically, pres-
ently three times a year. Usually when an
updated list is announced, there may be a
few shares on the previous list which are
de-listed, a few other new ones are in-
cluded, and newly-listed shares which are
included for the first time.

To enhance efficiency in their task, two
councils have been formed to monitor
Banking/Insurance and the capital mar-
ket separately. The council in Bank
Negara deals with banking and Insurance
and the Council in SC deals with the capi-
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The efforts to develop an Islamic capi-
tal market in Malaysia started as soon as
the Securities Commission (SC) was es-
tablished in 1993. In fact, the SC had ear-
marked the development of the Islamic
capital market as an important agenda
within the overall activities of the coun-
try’s capital market.

Towards this, the SC set up a unit called
the Islamic Capital Market Unit, to carry
out research and planning for the devel-
opment of the Islamic capital market in
Malaysia. The staff for this unit were cho-

the Unit that combined Islamic thinking
with modern financial market practition-
ers have enabled the SC to carry out
sound and systematic development activi-
ties of the Islamic capital market.

In this regard, the Council of the SC has
todate approved about 541 counters rep-
resenting around 70 per cent of the total
counters in the KLSE as counters ap-
proved according to Syariah guidelines.
The approved shares include ordinar y
shares, warrants and transferable sub-
scription rights.

“… the Council of the SC has todate approved about 541 counters

representing around 70 per cent of the total counters in the KLSE as

counters approved according to Syariah guidelines.”

sen from among researchers who are well
versed in the fields of Muamalat (Islamic
financial system and conventional capital
market practices).

Subsequently, a working committee
called the Islamic Instruments Study
Group was formed. This was succeeded
by an advisory board named Syariah Ad-
visory Council that was established in
1996 to advise the SC in matters concern-
ing Syariah financial instruments. The
Council has seven members :  three acad-
emicians who are Syariah experts, one ex-
Syariah  judge, two religious leaders
(mufti) and one Islamic corporate finance
figure. The setting up of the Council and

tal market.
Another positive development for the Is-

lamic capital market in Malaysia hap-
pened in 1999 when the KLSE launched
the Syariah Index (SI), which is an all-
share index comprising all approved
shares at the time.

As of today, the KLSE SI is made up of
274 main board shares. The component
is updated as and when the updated list
of the SC’s Syariah approved securities is
released. Apart from that, as of 30 Novem-
ber 1999, there were 13 unit trust funds

administered according to Is-
lamic principles with a net as-
set value of RM1.2 billion.
There were only 10 such
funds in 1997. Most of these
schemes have been intro-
duced since the early 1990s in
view of the growing demand
of Islamic investors.

In addition there is growing
interest and support from in-
stitutional investors such as
Tabung Haji that actively par-
ticipates in the Islamic capital
market, fur ther indicating
that the potential amount of
funds available for the Islamic
capital market is very signifi-
cant.

In the stockbroking indus-
try, several stockbrokers have
set up a dedicated unit to pro-
vide Islamic broking services
for their present and prospec-
tive Muslim clients with the
SC’s Syariah approved list be-

ing used as a main source of reference.
They also provide Islamic margin financ-
ing facilities based on approved concepts
such Al-Murabahah and Al-Bai’ Bithaman
Ajil.

The investment in approved securities
is not limited to Muslim investors only,
just like in Islamic banking and takaful
services. What matters most to investors
in general is the return on their invest-
ment and to Muslims, on top of the return,
is that they have invested in approved se-
curities. Meanwhile, the Islamic debt
market, despite a relatively recent devel-
opment in Malaysia, has proven to be a
successful venture.
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Introduction
A unit trust fund is defined as a collective

investment scheme that pools savings of
investors with similar investment objectives
in a special trust fund managed by profes-
sional managers. The differences between
the conventional compared to the Islamic
unit trust business can be learnt based on
the application of a few Syariah principles
that are in use in their business operations.

The basic principle that is in use for a unit
trust fund business is musyarakah which
refers to a joint-venture profit sharing busi-
ness. The contract exists between the part-
ners or the shareholders on the capital and
profit. However, there are many types of
musyarakah; in particular al-inan. This re-
fers to the sharing of capital between the
shareholders to deal with trading in view of
profits that would be subsequently shared
amongst them. The version of al-inan relat-
ing to a unit trust fund business is al-
musahamah or partnership in shares.

The Principles and Application
of Syariah Framework in

Islamic Unit Trust Fund Business
There are six essential elements in the

contract :

n Partners or the shareholders;

n Capital;

n Subject matter of the business;

n Profit;

n The offer; and

n The acceptance.

Each of these elements must meet its
necessary pre-requisites or terms. In any
Islamic unit trust fund, the partners are the
unit holders. The fund contributed to is the

By Mohd Nasir bin Hj. Mohd Yatim
SENIOR LECTURER, DEPARTMENT OF ACCOUNTING AND FINANCE
COLLEGE OF BUSINESS AND MANAGEMENT
UNIVERSITI TENAGA NASIONAL

The principles and
practices of
interest-free
unit trust fundS
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capital. The investment activities that are
being undertaken by the fund are the sub-
ject matter of the business. The profit is
represented by the dividends paid to each
of the unit holders whilst the application
to buy the unit is the offer and the accept-
ance is the authentication by the manager
on the sale of the unit by the fund.

Al-inan and Al-musahamah
In understanding the concept of al-

musahamah, take note of the differences
between al-inan and al-musahamah.
Firstly, the al-inan contract is between the
shareholders themselves. In the case of the
al-musahamah contract, it is between the
shareholders and the manager. In the lat-
ter case, the manager creates the shares
and the shareholders buy them.

Secondly, in an al-inan contract, the
shareholders themselves manage the busi-
ness. This is by way of choosing a few
amongst them to conduct the trading ac-
tivities on their behalf.

The profit is shared amongst all the share-
holders. In the case of al-musahamah, a
manager may or may not be a shareholder.
Thus, if he is not one of the shareholders
but manages the business and gets a man-
agement fee for the work done, he does not
share in the profits of the business.

Al-wadiah Yad Dhamanah
The next Syariah concept to be applied

in operating the Islamic unit trust fund
business is the concept of al-wadiah yad
dhamanah which refers to guaranteed safe
custody. In this situation, the custodian
guarantees the property in his custody.

The essential elements for this concept are
owner of property, custodian holder, prop-
erty, offer and acceptance. In order to un-
derstand the application of this concept in a
unit trust fund business, one needs to look
at its application prior to the creation of units.
In such a situation, the owners of the prop-
erty are the investors, the custodian holder
is the manager, the property is the money
paid by the investors to the manager and the
agreement will take place when the manager
receives payments for the investments.

One can trace the application of the con-
cept again but this time it is after the units
are created. In this situation, the owners
of the property are the unit holders and

the custodian is the trustee, whilst the
property is all the assets of the fund in the
form of unsold units, monies and other
forms of investments. In this instance, the
agreement is the payment by unit holders
and the depositing of investments by the
manager with the trustee.

Al-bai’
Another principle being applied in the

practice of a unit trust fund business is the
concept al-bai’ which refers to the transac-
tion of sale and purchase. Generally, there
are two types of sales dealt with in the pur-
chasing and redemption of units in a unit
trust fund business.

Such sales and purchases are between the
unit holders and the manager. The sales are
either a cash sale or al-bai’ bithaman ajil (a
deferred payment sale). In the normal pur-
chases and redemption of units, the cash
sale mechanism is preferred.

However, there are circumstances when
a potential unit holder transacts on a deferred
payment sale basis. In both kinds of sales,
the essential elements are the seller, pur-
chaser, commodity, price and the agreement.
The deferred payment sales are normally
used when the unit holders get financing fa-
cilities to purchase their units. It differs from
a cash sale only on the deferment of payment;
for example, in a credit sale. It is also crucial
to note that the deferred payment term is
only a mode of payment of the price.

In a unit trust fund business, the com-
modity is the unit trust and to ensure its
permissibility from the Syariah point of
view, the funds from the sale of the units
must be invested in permissible or halal
investments. The price of the unit in the
unit trust fund business is the manager’s
forward selling or buying price at the next
valuation point upon receipt of the request
of purchase or redemption while the valu-
ation point is at the close of business for
the day.

Al-wakalah
The contract or agreement is both the

offer and acceptance of purchase or the of-
fer and acceptance of redemption. In prac-
tice, the contract is executed at the valua-
tion point through adoption of the princi-
ple of al-wakalah. In any sale, the price
must be established at the time of the ex-

ecution of the contract of purchase or sale.
In other words, the price should be known
during the business hours of the unit trust
fund business.

Since the operators have adopted the
practice of using the price that could only
be fixed at the valuation point at the close
of business for each day, the transactions
of purchases and redemption will be invalid
if executed during business hours because
the prices are not known then. As such,
there should be a valuation point through
al-wakalah where the unit holders request
the manager to execute the purchases and
redemption on their behalf.

As such, the essential elements based on
al-wakalah are the principal, agent, object
of appointment and the agreement. In this
scenario, the principal is the unit holder,
the agent is the manager, and the object of
appointment as agent could be the pur-
chase or redemption of units. Thus, a spe-
cific form of contract needs to be executed
to ensure that the contract of purchase or
redemption is valid.

Conclusion
Islamic unit trust funds introduced as

alternative investment opportunities to
potential investors in the past few years
have been well received by their investors.
Somehow, looking at their prices since the
date of the launch, there are also Islamic
unit trust funds that are not performing so
well.

The continuing inability to place their
prices at a reasonable level would definitely
require the attention of those concerned
to ensure that the small investors would
benefit from their investments. Further-
more, there are small investors who are
indebted to financial institutions when they
initially invest in the unit trust funds.

Another point of concern is the need for
a concerted effort to look into the possi-
bility of changing the practices of using the
manager’s forward selling price to the daily
historical price. Alternatively, it would be
better if the operators could use the cur-
rent prevailing historical pricing.

Nevertheless, the success of offering an
alternative investment avenue has to be
highly appreciated. It does try every pos-
sible means and ways to improve the per-
formances of those funds.
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A New Creed :
Educate, Emulate
or eliminate?
By Dr. V. Kanapathy

A Digital Slogan
There is enough evidence supporting our

credentials as a vibrant economy. Malaysia
has become a world leader in physical infra-
structure development. It has, for example,
erected the world’s tallest Twin Towers, tall-
est flagpole, and even went on to develop the
first third-world Formula One racetrack for
people to watch fast cars going around.

Some have, however, questioned the
above choice of priorities. They contend that
the nation’s scarce resources should have
been spent on science and the knowledge-
based economy and intellectual infrastruc-
ture, rather than on grandiose buildings and
racing tracks. They say, we have failed to
realise that we urgently need to foster a
culture of innovation and R&D involving uni-
versities and business. Of course, while oil
prices remain high, the full force of com-
placency regarding the above will have less
impact. The “we can make money in other
ways” attitude possibly favoured physical

M A L AYS I A N  E C O N O M Y
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infrastructure investment.
Despite the above commercial excesses,

Malaysia took the opportunity of a lifetime
to show the world after the wonderful 1998
Commonwealth games that it has the ca-
pacity and the capability to organise,
smoothly, events even on a vast scale that
got Malaysians on the world stage. This
achievement gave the impression that we
are an exciting country looking forward to
a high-technology future.

The above developments have also given
us the idea that we can nurture winners in
other fields as well, e.g. the idea that a high-
tech future remains within the reach of
Malaysians. As a matter of fact, the nation
has already set out to seek a different iden-
tity to shed its old economy image — to
the new digital identity such as the Silicon
Valley in California or the Wireless Pocket
in Finland. Clearly, in the light of the above
achievements the phenomenon of having
its own ‘Silicon Valley’ is not ambitious or

preposterous. A place has been identified
and it has already been named CYBERJAYA
(jaya means success in the national lan-
guage).

However, a word of caution. While it is
true that this is an era where anything is
possible, the challenge of transforming into
a highly-switched on, IT-savvy nation
within a short span of time is however quite
different from, say, erecting a flagpole. We
need to do more than buy a mobile phone
or a laptop to become a new economy.

Success in converting from the old to the
new economy depends on several param-
eters. We have to embrace modern tech-
nology. We have to deregulate and we have
to create a critical mass of scientific excel-
lence. Top companies have to deliver prod-
ucts, promises and milestones; new com-
panies have to be started and financed in
order to strengthen the necessary critical
mass. An innovation culture also requires
access to venture capital, proper regulatory
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to achieve, their boards need to find some-
one who can.

Stock of Mathematicians
and Scientists

Our stock of mathematicians, scientists
and technologists are frighteningly small.
(See chart) Malaysia’s most durable re-
source in this regard is therefore human,
not material. Bricks and mortar do not
make a ‘Silicon Valley’. It is clicks and mor-
tar — the critical mass of creative and in-
novative minds that live in close proximity
to each other. Currently, Malaysia is not
blessed with this endowment. Possibly Is-
rael and Taiwan, and maybe Bangalore,
meet this criterion.

In the future, as in the past, countries
will be evaluated on their intellectual capi-
tal — “mathematicians and the availability
of scientists” as Jack Welch says. The new
economy would demand more of such tal-
ents. Investment will go where such talent
is available. For example, GE has commis-
sioned the largest research and develop-
ment centre outside the US in Bangalore,
India because “there are more than 2,000
PhDs in that city itself.”

If Malaysia is serious in taking advantage
of the enormous potentiality of technology
and its capacity to propel the nation for-
ward, it must first re-invent its economy.

 One area is education and training. For
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a country trying to be clever, we still do
not have a world class educational system.
(I said as far back as 1966 that we need to
create centres of excellence, if not nation-
ally at least regionally, see UMBC Eco-
nomic Review, Vol.2, No.1). Not much em-
phasis has been placed on the training of
teachers, especially science and mathemat-
ics teachers in primary schools. We do not
have, as mentioned earlier, the critical
mass of skills and institutions to create
world-class technologies and significant
world-class companies. Samsung of Korea
for example has around 1,000 PhDs and
the lights in its research laboratories are
on 24 hours. On the other hand, Sime
Darby, Malaysia’s Samsung, has less than
10 PhDs in its research laboratories. We
fail to realise, (or refuse to realise) in the
business environment ahead it will be tal-
ent that differentiates corporations.

Cooperation
Despite the paucity of resources and tal-

ent very little attempt has been made to en-
courage cooperation between the private
sector and the universities in the areas of
teaching, training, and research and devel-
opment. Universities should realise that
they are short of knowledgeable staff to
satisfy all their teaching requirements.
Some senior managers in the private sec-
tor may not know how to teach, but they

conditions and government support. All
these take time.

Many Malaysian companies believe that
all they need to do is to buy the latest tech-
nology and they will prosper. NO. It won’t
work if people simply keep doing business
the old way, with some technology added.
Most of these new technologies are devel-
oped overseas. They provide a platform to
build on, not a chair to sit in. Technology
innovation is evolving fast and it is becom-
ing more and more expensive. Malaysia
has yet to prove it has the commitment to
catch-up. Their ramifications are reflected
in the absence of internationally known

branded products and product loyalty. As
mentioned earlier, all these take time, ef-
fort and aggressive structural reform.

Corporate Restructuring
Let’s take, for example, corporate restruc-

turing. Companies are a system. CEOs must
focus on the whole system including strate-
gies, structures and processes, employee
rewards and entitlements, and cultural be-
haviour. Changing the fundamental struc-
ture of a business to take advantage of the
technology is simple to say but hard to do.
Those who succeed in doing so would ben-
efit by way of productivity improvements.

Jack Welch, CEO of General Electric
(GE), the world’s largest corporation be-
lieves his company can cut its selling and
administration costs by 28 to 48 percent
within 30 months. He went on to say, as
reported in The Australian (22 September
2000), if companies do not match the rate
of productivity improvement GE is going 0 2 4 6 8
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are very knowledgeable about company af-
fairs. It is therefore prudent for universities
to co-opt executives with talent and schol-
arship in their teaching and training pro-
grammes.

Neither is there any co-operative educa-
tional, training or research activity at the re-
gional level as found in the European Un-
ion. Some of these shackles need to be iden-
tified and removed to forge ahead and build
up a reputation as a nation rich in creative
talents. Because of past poor overall educa-
tion, training and research strate-
gies, Malaysia is now at risk of
becoming a major importer of
skills, intellectual knowledge, IT
infrastructure and computer appli-
cations. And this is not going to
be cheap. But it is inevitable.

Immigration Policies
As a matter of fact, circumstances are

such that Malaysia has to adopt an aggres-
sive immigration policy. As there is intense
competition for such talent, Malaysia
should make it easier for leading profes-
sionals, thinkers and workers to stay and
work in the country. They would add value
via their close relationship with our edu-
cational establishments, business and gov-
ernment as happened in the US. For ex-
ample, in the 48km radius of San Francisco
airport one can find today companies that
hold US$3 trillion in value between them.
Fifteen years ago the figure would have
been US$100 billion. Needless to say, much
of this progress can be attributed to the
involvement of immigrant IT specialists
and workers. Despite the great lead
America has over the rest of the world, the
US is even now “trying desperately to
change immigration laws to allow more
talent to come in.” America’s high-tech in-
dustries have outgrown the US supply of
skilled workers, and foreign high-tech
workers find America at their feet.

Emulating Sweden and
Switzerland

Insofar as emulation is concerned, let’s
take Sweden’s experience in manufactur-
ing and Switzerland’s in banking. They of-
fer ample guidance if Malaysia wants to be
seen as an old economy that is going to
benefit greatly from the New Economy.

M A L AYS I A N  E C O N O M Y
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Sweden’s population and natural re-
sources are roughly half that of Malaysia’s,
yet it is not short of world-class companies
such as Ericcson, Bang and Olufsen,
Electrolux, Saab and Volvo. This situation
can be explained by the fact that Sweden
invested heavily in science and technology
education and R&D. Further, though they
may not have had ‘Aristotles’ as prime min-
isters and CEOs, that nation’s government
and corporate leadership have found uni-
versal admiration for their sense of impar-

tiality, confidentiality, and service in the
public interest. As a matter of fact, a sur-
vey of OECD countries has found that a
dozen different values guide the Swedish
government, giving it the most codified
ethical infrastructure.

Concerning emulation it may also be
helpful for Malaysia to watch the Swiss.
Their experience can provide a key to our
future. Michael Milken, the former US
junk-bond king said :  “At the turn of the
century, Switzerland was in danger of be-
coming irrelevant, lacking employees with
the skill sets who understood the technol-
ogy of the time.” But, after the merger of
Swiss Banking Corporation and the Union
Bank of Switzerland, its banking industry
dominated in Europe and had acquired as
Milken said, “enormous human capital in
spreading out around the world. It is a
leader in world capital based in a very small
country in Europe.”

The Swiss banking experience could be
a model for Malaysia. Freedom from over-
bearing regulation, strong leadership and
the right attitude towards human capital
could help growth in the finance industry.

Conclusion
Success in the new economy demands

education excellence and capability develop-
ment. Foremost among the many parameters
for success in the new economy is the crea-
tion of a solid science base. We may have the

 “We should invest in quality education and

training to build our human capital, expand

our R&D facilities to generate ideas for the

future, encourage and communicate innovation

and take advantage of every opportunity

provided by the new technologies.”

○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○

natural resources, but we don’t have the req-
uisite brainpower, intellectual capital, indi-
viduality and adequate entrepreneurial skills.

We have to create an environment that
provides the freedom to innovate and encour-
age the spirit of success. Malaysia does not
appear to be ready to make major changes,
e.g. deregulation, large-scale bank mergers
and other broader reforms necessary to take
advantage of the knowledge economy. If we
are not prepared to make changes, foreign
companies may go to other places rather than

invest in Malaysia.
If we want to ensure long-term

sustainable growth, Malaysia can-
not afford to be complacent and
slow down the financial and corpo-
rate structural reforms. They are
also required to avoid another
1997-1998 crisis. The sustainability
in the current economic upturn is

still not very certain. Energy crisis, inflation
and global economic downturn are distinct
possibilities. It is therefore prudent to adopt
a more aggressive reform strategy as found
in Singapore and Hong Kong and be pre-
pared for any eventualities.

One final word. The global productivity
game is moving on and we are falling be-
hind. If Malaysia is to reap the full eco-
nomic rewards of the new economy, we
need a new agenda in addition to the struc-
tural reforms mentioned above. We should
invest in quality education and training to
build our human capital, expand our R&D
facilities to generate ideas for the future,
encourage and communicate innovation
and take advantage of every opportunity
provided by the new technologies.

We are late starters in the high-tech
game. We have to run fast to stand still.
Hopefully, we can gallop in the not too dis-
tant future and take a prominent place in
the new economy.

Note :  Dr. Kanapathy is a PhD from the Univer-
sity of London and is a fellow of Harvard Univer-
sity. He was the former Economic Adviser to
UMBC and one time Senior Economic Adviser
to the United Nations. He was also for several
years a member of the Council of Economic Ad-
visers, Malaysian Government and the Chairman
of its Manufacturing Sub-Committee. He fostered
the first Malaysian Think Tank of which Dr.
Mahathir Mohammed was the Chairman. He is
currently the Vice Chairman of Olympia College
and a director of UNI-IT Park, Johor and Lion
Services Corporation, Melbourne, Australia.
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 Financial reportin 
   the internet by m 
listed companies

In the last few years, the use of Internet and in particular, the World
Wide Web, has increased tremendously. Companies worldwide have
started to advertise themselves and provide information about their
business activities via websites. Results from previous studies show an
increasing number of companies published their financial information
on the Web. In this study, we explore the types and extent of informa-
tion disclosure on the Internet by Malaysian Public-Listed Companies.
As at 31 December 1999, a total of 218 companies linked their websites
to the KLSE website. Accordingly, we found only 25 (11.5 per cent) of
the companies disclosed their full annual reports on their websites.
Analysed data revealed that companies tend to disclose general infor-
mation such as their corporate profiles, corporate information, and
corporate structure on their websites.
Other non-financial information such as chairman’s statement, direc-
tors’ report, auditors’ report received a lower ranking. Analysis carried
out on supplementary financial information showed that financial
highlights are the most frequent information disclosed followed by
review of operations and interim reports. For financial statements, the
findings revealed that the profit and loss accounts is the most frequent
statement published on companies’ websites followed by the balance
sheet and cash-flow statements. Further assessment on financial
statement disclosure showed that the balance sheet, profit and loss
accounts, and cash-flow statements are related to listing status and
industry type. It appears that larger companies are more likely to
disclose financial statements on the Internet. The study also found that
the industrial products sector as well as finance and trust companies
are more likely to disclose their financial statements on the Internet
when compared to other types of companies.

By Noor Azizi Ismail and Assoc. Prof Dr. Mahamad Tayib
SCHOOL OF ACCOUNTING, UNIVERSITI UTARA MALAYSIA

F INANCIAL  REPORTING DISCLOSURE

B U S I N E S S / A C C O U N T I N G

Recent developments in
information technology
  (IT) have given an op-

tion to companies to disclose their
financial information vir tually,
through the Internet. The efforts
of the Malaysian government to
further establish IT as a medium
of communication has culminated
in the introduction of the Multi-
media Super Corridor (MSC).
This provides a wider access to
information for the Malaysian
companies in disclosing relevant
information to users, that is,
through the Internet.

 In recent years, the Internet has become
the most important information technology
for global communication. The World Wide
Web (WWW), one of the areas of the
Internet, has been widely used by compa-
nies worldwide for commercial purposes
through their websites. The WWW is
based on a technology called hypertext
which links key elements and allows us-
ers access to information online (Pike,
1995). As the web is a rich multimedia en-
vironment of text, graphics, images, sound,
and audio information, in addition to facili-
tating worldwide access to information, it
is now rapidly growing as an alternative
way of presenting information to the users
of financial repor ts (Jenkins, 1994;
Wallman, 1995; Lymer, 1997).

 The main users of financial information
consist of investors and potential investors,
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employees, creditors, suppliers, custom-
ers, governments and their agencies and
the public. Previously, financial information
was disclosed in official documents such
as interim and annual reports, announce-
ments to the Kuala Lumpur Stock Ex-
change (KLSE), and press releases. It
should provide users with adequate and
timely information for their purposes. In
this case, the Internet has the potential to
ease access to information for all user
groups and to increase the timeliness of
information as compared to traditional re-
ports.

 In Malaysia, disclosure of financial in-
formation is governed by the Companies
Act (1965), Financial Reporting Act (1997)
and the accounting pronouncements is-
sued by the Malaysian Accounting Stand-
ards Board (MASB). Other statutes that

also regulate the disclosure of financial
reporting include the KLSE, Securities
Commission (SC) and the Income Tax Act
(1967). Previous studies, however, show
that there is no standardisation and regu-
lation to publish financial information on
the Internet (Westarp, Ordelheidi &
Stubenrath, 1999). Many companies seem
not to recognise that financial information
published electronically is also subject to
many of the same regulatory controls as
those published in more traditional forms
(Hussey, Gulliford & Lymer, 1998).

 To the best of our knowledge, no such
study on Internet reporting has been car-
ried out in Malaysia. Hence, we took the
initiative to identify the type and extent of
information disclosed on the Internet by
Malaysian public-listed companies. The
findings will show the pattern of informa-

tion disclosed on the Internet by Malaysian
companies and how the information can be
used to compare with those of advanced
countries such as the UK and US. It may
also create awareness among the users or
other interested parties of the availability
of information disclosed on the Internet by
Malaysian public-listed companies.

Literature Review
A number of prior studies have been

under taken to explain the extent of
Internet reporting by companies in differ-
ent countries. Lymer (1997), for example,
surveyed the top 50 companies on the UK
Stock Exchange. Results as at June 1997
showed that 46 (92 per cent) of the compa-
nies had websites. Of these 46 companies,
30 (60 per cent) had accounts or reports
on the web but only 12 (24 per cent) had

“ … the Internet has the

potential to ease access to

information for all user

groups and to increase the

timeliness of information as

compared to traditional

reports.”
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full accounts. Analysis also showed that com-
panies under the retail and pharmaceutical
categories produced better financial report-
ing websites compared to banking and finan-
cial services, and insurance companies.

 Lymer and Tallberg (1997) then com-
pared the results of Lymer (1997) with 72
companies listed on the Helsinki Stock
Exchange. They found that 65 (90 per cent)
of the companies had websites. Further
analysis showed that eight (12 per cent)
companies published full financial state-
ments on the web. Fifty (77 per cent) com-
panies had some summarised information
of full income statements and balance
sheets but no notes to the accounts, and
seven (11 per cent) companies had no fi-
nancial statements.

 Flynn and Gowthorpe (1997) surveyed
the top 100 Fortune Global 500 companies.
They found that 89 (89 per cent) compa-
nies had websites. Further assessment of
the information included in the websites
showed that 60 out of 89 (71 per cent) com-
panies gave annual financial information on
their websites. They also found that the
nature of the information revealed on the
websites of the largest companies in the
world is highly disparate, in both content
and style of presentation. US companies
are found to be the most open and informa-
tive, whereas German and Japanese com-
panies provided the least information.

 Wildstrom (1997) surveyed US ‘high per-
formance’ companies on the Business Week
50 list. Results showed that 47 (94 per cent)
companies had websites. Of these 47 com-
panies, 39 (83 per cent) companies offered
some financial data but only 28 (60 per cent)
companies provided a complete annual re-
port. He also noted that high technology
companies were generally the best at using
the Internet in providing information

Marston and Leow (1998) surveyed the
FTSE-100 companies in the UK in 1996.
They found 63 (63 per cent) companies had
websites. However, only 45 companies dis-
closed their financial information on their
websites. Of these 45 companies, 34 (76
per cent) disclosed detailed annual reports,
and 11 (24 per cent) disclosed only parts
or summaries of their annual reports. Fur-
ther investigation on the relationship be-
tween company characteristics and
Internet disclosure showed a significant

relationship between company size and the
disclosure of financial information. Tests
of relationship between industrial type and
financial disclosure showed no significant
results. There was however, a significant
result when the classified companies were
tested according to whether they disclosed
summary or full information. They found
that financial companies tended to provide
summary information as compared to serv-
ice companies that tended to provide the
reverse.

 Deller, Strubenrath, and Weber (1998)
as quoted in Westarp, Ordelheidi &
Stubenrath (1999) analysed the websites
of the top 100 US, UK and German corpo-
rations. The study showed that 95 per cent
of the US, 85 per cent of the UK and 76 per
cent of the German corporations had
websites. The results concerning Internet
corporate reporting revealed that US com-
panies are more advanced in disclosing
their financial statements on the Internet
as compared to the UK and German com-
panies.

In a recent study, Petravick (1999) sur-
veyed the extent to which smaller compa-
nies used their websites for distribution of
financial information. He found that 45 of
the 86 (52.3 per cent) randomly selected
companies trading on NASDAQ published
financial information on their websites.
Eight (9.3 per cent) companies had a
website but did not publish financial infor-
mation and 33 (38.4 per cent) companies
had no websites. Eight types of financial
information published on the web corpo-
rate sites are annual reports, interim re-
ports, SEC filings, stock prices, analysis
and query tools, summaries of meetings
and presentations, international presenta-
tions, and proxy voting.

Research Methodology
This study examines the type and extent

of information disclosed by the Malaysian
public listed companies. A total of 750 com-

panies were listed on the KLSE as at 31
December 1999. Of these 750, 237 (31.6 per
cent) companies have their websites linked
to the KLSE homepage. These 237 compa-
nies were then used to identify the type of
information and the extent of financial
statement disclosure on the Internet. The
survey of the companies was carried out
using the Microsoft Internet Explorer 4.0
browser.

 For the purpose of this study, types of
information are classified into three catego-
ries, namely, non-financial information,
supplementary financial information, and
financial statements1. The first category
(non-financial information) comprises of
the corporate profile2, corporate informa-
tion3, corporate structure, notice of annual
general meeting and the chairman’s state-
ment. It also includes the directors’ report,
auditors’ report, audit committee, terms of
reference of the audit committee, statutory
declarations, analysis of shareholdings,
dividend announcements, list of properties,
proxy form, and statement of Year 2000
compliance. Supplementary financial infor-
mation consists of the review of operations,
financial highlights and the interim report.
Finally, the financial statement consists of
the balance sheet, profit and loss, and cash-
flow statement.

A minimum paid-up capital of RM50 mil-
lion comprising of ordinary shares of RM1
each is required for a company to be listed
on the KLSE main board. For the second
board listing, a minimum paid-up capital of
RM10 million but less than RM50 million
comprising of ordinary shares of RM1 each
is required.

KLSE has classified industry types into
12 sectors. For the purpose of this study,
we reduced the industry classifications to
six sectors to give more companies in each
category. The six sectors are Consumer
Products, Industrial Products, Construc-
tion/Properties/Infrastructure Project
Companies, Trading and Services, Finance/
Trusts and Hotel/Plantation/Mining.

F INANCIAL  REPORTING DISCLOSURE
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1 MASB 1, Presentation of Financial Statements, July
1999.

2 Corporate profile refers to the corporate back-
ground, vision, mission and objectives.

3 Corporate information refers to the board of direc-
tors, secretaries, registered office, principal bank-
ers, registrar, auditor, solicitor and stock exchange
listing.

“US companies are found to be

the most open and informative,

whereas German and Japanese

companies provided the least

information.”
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and third highest information disclosed is
corporate information and corporate struc-
ture. Among the least published informa-
tion are notice of AGM, list of properties,
statutory declarations, auditors’ report,
and terms of reference of audit committee.

Tables 4 and 5 present the summarised

Results
A survey carried out by the authors

found that a total of 237 companies have
their website linked to the KLSE
homepage. Of the 237 companies, only 218
(92 per cent) company websites can be
accessed. Tables 1 and 2 show the distri-

Listing statusT A B L E  1

bution of company websites according to
listing status and industry type.

Table 3 presents the summarised results
of non-financial information disclosed on
the companies’ websites. Corporate profile
is found to be the most frequent informa-
tion published on the Internet. The second

industry TypesT A B L E  2

 Freq. %

Main Board 135 62

Second Board 218 100

Freq. %

Consumer Products 28 12.8

Industrial Products 66 30.3

Trading & Services 53 24.3

Construction, Property and 30 13.8
Infrastructure Project Companies

Finance, Trusts and Close-end Funds 32 14.7

Others (Hotel, Mining & Plantation) 9 4.9

Total 218 100

T A B L E  3

Type of Information Freq. %

Corporate Profile 195 89
Corporate Information 113 52
Corporate Structure 81 37
Chairman’s Statement 56 26
Statement of Y2K Compliance 49 22
Dividend Announcement 45 21
Analysis of Shareholdings 41 19
Directors’ Report 37 17
Audit Committee 35 16
Notice of AGM 33 15
List of Properties 32 15
Statutory Declarations 30 14
Auditors’ Report 30 14
TOR of Audit Committee 29 13
Proxy Form 25 11

Summary results of
non-financial information disclosure

Summary results of supplementary
financial information disclosure : LISTING STATus

T A B L E  4

Type of Information                Main Board           Second Board                  Total
Freq. % Freq. % Freq. %

Review of Operations 45 82 10 18 55 100

Financial Highlights 66 87 10 13 76 100

Interim Reports 25 78 7 22 32 100

Summary results of supplementary
financial information disclosure : industry type

T A B L E  5

Type of Information           Consumer       Industrial       Trading &    Construction     Finance Others Total
          Products        Products        Services      & Properties      & Trusts

Freq. % Freq. % Freq. % Freq. % Freq. % Freq. % Freq. %

Review of Operations 4 7 12 22 14 25 9 16 13 24 3 6 55 100

Financial Highlights 5 6.5 14 18 19 25 15 20 18 24 5 6.5 76 100

Interim Reports — — 6 19 9 28 7 22 8 25 2 6 32 100

Summary results of
financial Statement disclosure :  LISTING STATus

T A B L E  6

Type of Information                Main Board           Second Board                  Total
Freq. % Freq. % Freq. %

Balance Sheet 52 82.5 11 17.5 6.3 100

Profit & Loss 61 85 11 15 72 100

Cash-flow 34 85 6 15 40 100

results of supplementary financial informa-
tion disclosed on the companies’ websites
according to listing status and industry
type. Results show that financial highlights
is the most frequent information disclosed,
followed by review of operations and in-
terim report respectively. Further analysis
using chi-square shows that listing status
and financial highlights, review of opera-

tions and interim report are related. Chi-
square test on industry type and supple-
mentary information revealed that indus-
try type and financial highlights, and in-
terim reports are related but review of op-
erations and industry type are not related.

 Tables 6 and 7 highlight the summa-
rised results of the components of finan-
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cial statements published on the compa-
nies’ websites according to listing status
and industry type. Results show that profit
and loss is the most frequent statement
published on a company website followed
by balance sheets and cash-flow statements
respectively. Further analysis using chi-
square test shows that listing status and
balance sheet, profit and loss, and cash flow

Summary results of
financial statement disclosure :  industry type

T A B L E  7

Type of Information           Consumer       Industrial       Trading &    Construction     Finance Others Total
          Products        Products        Services      & Properties      & Trusts

Freq. % Freq. % Freq. % Freq. % Freq. % Freq. % Freq. %

Balance Sheet 2 3 16 25 12 19 14 22 16 25 3 6 6 100
3

Profit & Loss 5 7 18 25 15 21 14 19 18 25 2 3 7 100
2

Cash-flow — — 8 20 8 20 12 30 10 25 2 5 4 100
0

Summary results of full financial
statement disclosure : LISTING STATus

T A B L E  8

Type of Information                Main Board           Second Board                  Total
Freq. % Freq. % Freq. %

Balance Sheet 27 82 6 18 33 100

Profit & Loss 30 83 6 17 36 100

Cash-flow 25 81 6 19 31 100

statements are related. Result also shows
that balance sheet, profit and loss, and cash
flow statements and industry type are re-
lated.

Analysis of frequency shows that only 25
(11.5 per cent) companies fully disclosed
their annual reports. Components of an an-
nual report such as balance sheet, profit and
loss, and cash-flow statements are then clas-
sified as partial (without or partial notes to
the accounts) and full (with full notes to the
accounts) to determine the extent of finan-
cial information disclosure on the Internet.
Tables 8 and 9 presents the summary re-
sults of the extent of financial statements
disclosed by the companies according to
listing status and industry type.

Further analysis using chi-square shows
that listing status and the extent of balance
sheet, profit and loss, and cash-flow state-

Summary results of full financial
statement disclosure :  industry type

T A B L E  9

Type of Information           Consumer       Industrial       Trading &    Construction     Finance Others Total
          Products        Products        Services      & Properties      & Trusts

Freq. % Freq. % Freq. % Freq. % Freq. % Freq. % Freq. %

Balance Sheet — — 7 21 7 21 8 24 9 27 2 7 3 100
3

Profit & Loss 1 3 7 19 8 22 9 25 9 25 2 6 3 100
6

Cash-flow — — 7 23 7 23 7 23 8 25 2 6 3 100
1

ment disclosure are not related. Results
also show that industry type and the ex-
tent of balance sheet, profit and loss, and
cash-flow statement disclosure are not re-
lated.

Discussion and Conclusion
 Findings from the study showed the

type of information and the extent of finan-
cial statements disclosure on the Internet
among KLSE public-listed companies.
Analysis of frequency showed that compa-
nies tend to disclose general information
such as the corporate profile, corporate in-
formation, and corporate structure on their
websites. Other non-information such as
the chairman’s statement, directors’ report
and auditors’ report received a lower per-
centage.

 For the supplementary financial infor-

mation, results show that the financial high-
lights is the most frequent information dis-
closed. It also appears that the financial
highlights, review of operations, interim
reports and listing status are related. Finan-
cial highlights and interim reports are also
found to be related to industry type but not
review of operations. Further assessment
shows that the main board companies are
more likely to disclose supplementary finan-
cial information than the second board com-
panies. The study also found that trading
and service companies as well as finance
and trust companies are more likely to dis-
close the financial highlights and interim
reports than other types of industry.

 For the financial statements, results
show that profit and loss is the most fre-
quent statement published on companies’
websites followed by balance sheet and
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Flynn, G. & Gowthorpe, C., (1997), “Volunteer-
ing Financial Data on the World Wide Web :  A
Study of Financial Reporting from a Stakeholder
Perspective”, paper presented at the First Finan-
cial Reporting and Business Communication
Conference, Cardiff, July.
Hussey, R., Gulliford, J. & Lymer, A., (1998),
“UK Corporate Financial Communications on
the Internet”, http://www.summa.org.uk/
SUMMA/corp/papers/hussey
Jenkins, E., (1994), “An Information Highway
in Need of Capital Improvements”, Journal of
Accountancy, May, pp. 77-82.
Lymer, A., (1997), “Corporate Reporting via the
Internet — a Survey of Current Usage in the
UK and Discussion of Issues”, First Financial
Reporting and Business Communication Con-
ference, Cardiff.
Lymer, A., & Tallberg, A.,(1997), “Corporate Re-
porting and the Internet — a Survey and Com-
mentary on the Use of the WWW in Corporate
Reporting in the UK and Finland”, Paper pre-
sented at EAA 97, Graz, Austria.
Marston, C. & Leow, C.Y., (1998), “Financial Re-
porting on the Internet by Leading UK Compa-
nies”, paper presented at the 21st Annual Con-
gress of the European Accounting Association,
Antwerp, April.

cash-flow statements. The findings show
that Malaysian companies are far behind
developed countries such as the US, UK
and Germany. Further assessment on the
financial statement disclosure shows that
balance sheets, profit and loss accounts,
and cash-flow statements are related to list-
ing status and industry type. It appears that
larger companies are more likely to dis-
close financial statements on the Internet.
The study also found that industrial prod-
uct companies as well as finance and trust
companies are more likely to disclose their
financial statements compared to other
types of companies. These findings are
contrary to the results found by Lymer
(1997) and Marston and Leow (1998).

 Overall, results from this study show
that the number of Malaysian companies
publishing financial information on the
Internet are still behind developed coun-
tries such as the UK and US. The percent-
age of companies who published full an-
nual reports (11.5 per cent) for example,
is far less than the one found in the UK by
Lymer, 1997 (24 per cent), and Marston
and Leow, 1998 (76 per cent), and in the
US by Wildstrom, 1997 (60 per cent). The
percentage however is almost at par with
listed companies in Finland (12 per cent).

 Although this study revealed a pattern
of information published on the Internet
by Malaysian companies, it also has a
number of limitations that need to be ad-
dressed. First, it focused only on the com-
panies having their websites directly linked
to the KLSE homepage. No efforts have
been taken to obtain the websites of com-
panies that do not link their websites di-
rectly to the KLSE. Secondly, only two vari-
ables, listing status and industry types are
used to explain the extent of financial state-
ment disclosure on the Internet. Other
variables such as company size, financial
leverage or size of auditors could also be
used. Another weakness is the classifica-
tion of industry types. In this study, we re-
duced the industry classification from 12
to six sectors, thereby giving more com-
panies in each category. A finer classifica-
tion could have been used. However, such
small samples having too many industry
sectors would have caused problems with
the statistical test. Finally, future research
might also include a comparison of com-

pulsorily disclosed information with volun-
tarily disclosed information.

Finally, we expect to see more Malaysian
companies publishing financial information
on the Web within the next few years, as
the growth of the Internet will continue at
a faster pace. The future of financial report-
ing on the Internet will not just be about
providing traditional information. We can

MASB Standard 1 (1999), “Presentation of Fi-
nancial Statements”, Malaysian Accounting
Standards Board, July.
Petravick, S. (1999), “Online Financial Report-
ing”, CPA Journal, Vo1. 119 Issue 2, pp. 32-36.
Pike, M.A. (1995), Special Edition, “Using the
Internet”, 2nd Ed., Que Corporation, USA.
Wallman, S. (1997), “The Future of Accounting
and Financial Reporting, Part IV : “Access” Ac-
counting”, Accounting Horizon, Vol. 11, No. 2,
pp. 103-116.
________(1996), “The Future of Accounting and
Financial Reporting, Part II :  The Colourized
Approach”, Accounting Horizons, pp. 138-148.
________(1995), “The Future of Accounting and
Disclosure in an Evolving World :  The Need
for Dramatic Change”, Accounting Horizons, pp.
81-91.
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(1999), “Internet-Based Corporate Reporting —
Filling the Standardisation Gap”, proceedings
of the 32nd Hawaii International Conference on
System Sciences.
Wildstrom, S. H. (1997), “Surfing for Annual
Reports”, Business Week, April, p. 10.

expect that future Internet disclosures will
more likely provide certain advantages
over traditional annual reports, by improv-
ing timeliness, allowing a degree of
interactivity and publication of more up-
dated financial data on a more frequent
basis. Further, research pertaining to the
financial disclosure on the Internet among
KLSE companies is, therefore, needed.
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ASIAN MONETARY FUND —
WHERE ARE WE HEADing?

A column to provide accountants with a macro
snapshot on the major economic and financial
developments and to alert accountants on leading
edge issues that are crucial to their operations.

B Y  R O B E RT  K H A W  A N D  J A N E T  L E O N G
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Origination of the AMF Proposal
During the Asian crisis, several quarters viewed the reform

measures of the International Monetary Fund (IMF) as too ex-
cessive. The IMF funding became increasingly unpopular in the
region due to its strict conditions such as budget cuts, closing
troubled financial institutions, writing-off bad debts and liberalis-
ing markets to foreign competition.

Interestingly, Morris Goldstein, a former IMF staffer, noted that
the IMF experts had erred in micro-managing the Asian econo-
mies in 1997-98 in becoming “excessive in
both scope and detail …. which deflected
(its) attention away from its main task :  res-
cuing and reforming the financial institu-
tions of the crisis nations.” (Time Asia,
“The IMF in Asia”, 6 November 2000)

Not surprisingly, a number of the Asian
governments, which felt that the IMF was
incapable of providing the effective solu-
tions to their economies, looked toward
Japan to lead in managing and resolving the crisis. In September
1997, Eisuke Sakakibara (former Vice Minister of Finance of Ja-
pan) proposed the creation of an Asian Monetary Fund (AMF) to
help troubled East Asian economies and check the regional fi-
nancial contagion.

Concept of the AMF
The idea of the AMF is similar to the one that underlies the

IMF. The AMF that was mooted then was envisioned as a multi-
purpose fund that would assist the Asian economies in defend-
ing their currencies against speculators, provide emergency
balance of payments financing and make available long-term
funding for economic adjustment purposes. Its proposed capi-
talisation was US$100 billion (half of which was to come from
Japan, and the remaining from Hong Kong, China and Singa-
pore).

The AMF had the intention of providing funds speedily without
the onerous requirements of the IMF. This means that the AMF
would take into account political and socio-economic differences
in each country before conditions for lending are introduced.

E C O N O M I C S
P U L S E  O F  T H E  E C O N O M I E S

Opposition to the AMF Proposal
However, the AMF was quickly spurned by the G-7 countries

due to fears that it could undermine the IMF’s role as interna-
tional lender of last resort and lead to a split between Asia and
North America. There were also concerns about the risk of hav-
ing a fund with softer conditionalities.

Following the strong opposition, especially from the US, the
Japanese government withdrew the AMF proposal in November
1997. Japan then provided substantial bilateral support through
the Miyazawa Initiative, in collaboration with the IMF.

Differing Views on the AMF
Although the AMF proposal was withdrawn, this issue stayed

alive, especially after the IMF’s prescriptions to the crisis were
seen by some quarters as too slow to take effect and made condi-
tions worse. Of late, the idea of the AMF has been better received,

albeit much work needs to be done.

Proponents of the AMF
In the Harvard Asia Quarterly (March

1999), proponents articulated two argu-
ments in support of the AMF. They rea-
soned that a regional monetary fund could
provide additional funds, bolstering the
IMF’s role as a lender of last resort. Moreo-
ver, such a fund could dispense macro and

micro-economic recommendations more suitable for the Asian
economies.

However, the latter function is often overlooked, but is extremely
important. To enhance the prospect of resolving a crisis, a re-
gional monetary fund should promote macro-economic reform
to regain investor confidence and micro-economic reform to pro-
mote economic growth. Both reforms are crucial to the long-term
health of the economy.

The AMF concept appears to be gaining more support from
various multilateral lending agencies and leading financial experts.
For example, in the Asian Development Outlook 1999, the Asian
Development Bank (ADB) said that “the AMF could act as a re-
gional complement to the IMF the way ADB complements the
work of the World Bank.” There is a “need for regional institu-
tions to dampen financial contagion”, it added, given the increas-
ing instability of global financial markets.

Even the IMF appeared to have modified its stance on the AMF.
IMF’s new managing director Horst Koehler welcomed the Chiang
Mai Initiative where South-east Asia, Japan, China, and South
Korea (Asean+3) agreed at an ADB meeting on 6 May 2000 to

“The obvious question is not

why an Asian Monetary Fund

should be established. The

obvious question is why not?”

Tan Sri Dr. Noordin Sopiee
Chairman & CEO of ISIS Malaysia
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widen the network of currency swap agreements to safeguard
against speculative flows that ignited crisis. Ministers said the
move would be a first step towards establishing a “well co-
ordinated economic and financial monitoring system in East Asia.”

Koehler was open to the idea of a regional monetary fund, saying
that the IMF and AMF could co-exist. The idea of an AMF is “not in
opposition to the IMF,” he said.
Koehler supported regional in-
tegration as a political approach
to cope with globalisation.

Meanwhile, Sakakibara con-
tinued to advocate the AMF
concept, arguing that Asian
countries need to put in place
defence mechanisms such as
the AMF to protect them-
selves. They needed a regional
monetary fund to “inject liquid-
ity during times of crisis, com-
plement the IMF .... and fore-
stall future crises,” he stressed.

Former Taiwan President
Lee Teng-hui also proposed the
setting up of the AMF to pro-
mote economic co-operation in
Asia. Lee had urged that the re-
gional countries should con-
tinue to reform their economic
structures and supported the
suggestion that some new fi-
nancial assistance mechanism
in the form of an AMF should
be set up between South-east
Asian countries and other
Asian countries.

Similarly, in late 1999,
Andrew Rose, a visiting scholar
of the Federal Reserve Bank of
San Francisco, argued that the
AMF may do a better job of sur-
veillance than the IMF because
of a focused mandate and
greater regional expertise, or
it may help simply by introduc-
ing some healthy competition.

Opponents of
the AMF

However, there are those
who remain sceptical about the
AMF. For example, The
Harvard Asia Quarterly argued
that the historical record of
Asian institutions suggests that
an AMF will undermine eco-

nomic reforms. The Asian way of building institutions that em-
phasises informality, consensus-building and non-confrontational
bargaining styles (pioneered by Asean in the 1960s and 1970s,
and adopted by APEC in the early 1990s) is viewed as a less effec-
tive mechanism to foster economic reform or respond to crises.

Concerns have also been expressed that the AMF would avoid
conflict with the Asian govern-
ments and offer aid that could
reduce the IMF’s ability to
pressure economies into
adopting painful but neces-
sar y market-based reforms
such as corporate and bank re-
structuring, and lowering bar-
riers to world trade and invest-
ment.

Apart from the structural
weakness, it is argued that the
AMF also has political weak-
ness. Opponents to the AMF
pointed out that the strength of
Japan’s leadership of the AMF
is questionable. Also, the Japa-
nese economy has been weak
for almost a decade and is cur-
rently debt-ridden, which
might affect its ability to pro-
vide the strong leadership that
is needed.

 Problems may also arise if
the AMF were to co-exist with
the IMF such as the possibil-
ity of differing macroeconomic
policy prescriptions (for exam-
ple, whether to tighten or
loosen monetary stance in the
face of economic crisis). This
may force governments to
choose whether to alienate in-
ternational lenders, investors
and trading par tners or re-
gional ones. Competing policy
prescriptions may divide inves-
tors, undermining confidence
in both institutions.

Others have regarded the
AMF as a possible threat to glo-
bal economic stability. If the
Asian countries experimented
with the AMF first, and some-
how have to turn to the IMF
subsequently, it may cause a
crisis to spread more widely
and hence require greater in-
ternational support.

Asian Economies :  Major Economic Indicators

1999 2000 e 2001 f

Gross Domestic Product (%)

Japan 0.2 1.4 1.8
China 7.1 7.5 7.3
Hong Kong SAR 2.9 8.0 4.8
South Korea 10.7 8.8 6.5
Taiwan 5.7 6.5 6.0
Brunei 2.5 3.0 3.0
Indonesia 0.3 4.0 5.0
Malaysia 5.8 7.5 7.0
Philippines 3.3 4.0 4.5
Singapore 5.4 7.9 5.9
Thailand 4.2 5.0 5.0
Vietnam 4.2 4.5 5.4

Inflation Rate (%)

Japan -0.3 -0.2 0.5
China -1.4 0.5 1.2
Hong Kong SAR -4.0 -2.5 2.0
South Korea 0.8 2.2 3.0
Taiwan 0.2 1.6 2.3
Brunei 1.0 1.0 n.a.
Indonesia 20.8 3.2 5.2
Malaysia 2.8 1.8 2.2
Philippines 6.7 5.0 5.9
Singapore 0.1 1.4 2.1
Thailand 0.3 1.7 2.6
Vietnam 4.2 0.5 5.6

Current Account Balance (% of GDP)

Japan 2.5 2.6 2.6
China 1.6 1.6 1.3
Hong Kong SAR 5.9 6.9 6.8
South Korea 6.1 2.3 0.4
Taiwan 2.5 2.1 2.2
Brunei n.a. n.a. n.a.
Indonesia 3.7 3.7 1.3
Malaysia 15.9 10.6 8.2
Philippines 9.4 8.0 3.8
Singapore 25.0 23.6 22.8
Thailand 9.1 7.2 5.9
Vietnam 4.4 2.5 0.5
e – Estimate;  f – Forecast;  n.a. – not available.
Source :  IMF, World Economic Outlook, September 2000, Asian Develop-
ment Bank Outlook for 2000.
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Asian Economic Prospects
Asian economic growth is expected to

rise strongly to an average of 7.1 per cent
this year (6.4 per cent in 2001), the Asian
Development Bank (ADB) said. But it cau-
tioned many Asian countries risked losing
out seriously in the medium-term unless
they could latch on to the new information-
based economy by adopting investment,
telecommunications, education and re-
search policies designed to develop infor-
mation technology.

In the shorter run, ADB also warned that
some risks remained for its optimistic
growth scenario, including a further rise
in the oil price, a hard landing of the US
economy, weak recovery in Europe and Ja-
pan, a possible outflow of capital due to ris-
ing interest rates elsewhere in the world
and incomplete structural reform in Asia.
It noted Asia was more vulnerable to high-
energy costs because it relied more heav-
ily on manufacturing for its growth and be-
cause of the knock-on effect of rising oil
prices on demand for its exports.

Financial Times, 19 September 2000
& The Star, 28 November 2000

Accuracy of Economic Forecasts
Economic forecasts from the two most

respected international organisations —
the International Monetary Fund and Or-
ganisation for Economic Co-operation and
Development — have been consistently
less accurate through the 1990s than the
pooled results of private forecasters
(through UK-based Consensus Econom-
ics), Prof. Roy Bachelor’s study revealed.
The better performance of the private fore-
casters comes despite the fact that govern-
ments, whose data are used in the IMF and
OECD forecasts, had information advan-
tages over the private sector.

Financial Times, 24 September 2000

China and World Trade
Organisation (WTO)

Trade officials said talks have made lit-
tle progress since they resumed in early
September 2000 and that hopes of reach-
ing final agreement on China’s terms of
entry by end-2000, while not dead, are re-
ceding. Although China has reached bilat-

P U L S E  O F  T H E  E C O N O M I E S
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Malaysia’s Perception of the AMF
Malaysia holds the view that upfront large financial support through the AMF could

have stopped the contagion effect of the economic crisis, given that the crisis was
initially a currency crisis and countries faced liquidity problems. The damage caused
by the economic crisis could have been contained if the AMF had been established
earlier, i.e. in September 1997.

Malaysia, a strong proponent of the AMF concept, continues to support Japan’s
initiative for a regional funding facility. At the Asean-Japan Relations Symposium in
late September 2000, Datuk Seri Abdullah Ahmad Badawi said that the AMF would,
in fact, complement and enhance the role of the IMF in the region. He said the AMF
could closely collaborate with the ADB, thereby creating an Asian-focused twin insti-
tution supporting the IMF and the World Bank in their efforts to maintain regional
financial and economic stability. He added that the 1997 financial crisis had shown
how important it was for regional problems to be resolved regionally.

Both the Manila Framework signed by APEC countries in late 1997 to craft a re-
gional response to the Asian financial crisis and the Chiang Mai Initiative have set
the stage for greater regional monetary co-operation. However, in an interview with
the Financial Times newspaper on 5 October 2000, Dato Seri Dr. Mahathir Mohamad
believed that the US has been quietly exerting pressure on the Asian countries to
limit the scope of their efforts at co-operation in the economic and monetary sphere.

He also stressed that the ar-
rangements under discussion
are not as ambitious as some
had hoped. “The idea of an
Asian Monetary Fund has not
really taken off. We are talk-
ing about swap arrangements
now, but that has not been fi-
nalised either. So we get the
sense that some people are
being forced to drag their
feet,” Dr. Mahathir noted.

Asia’s Next Move
Although Koehler is generally supportive of the AMF, he said that its formation was

still several years away. “There needs to be confidence in the soundness of Asian states’
economies before the region can embark on a monetary fund”, he added. He reckoned
that hardwork lies ahead in promoting trust among potential member states of the AMF.

Meanwhile, the developed countries have perceived that the regional institutions
such as Asean and APEC have been generally ineffective in responding to crises,
judging from their handling of the Asian financial crisis. To counter this negative
perception, the Asian countries would need to accelerate their economic and finan-
cial co-operation, so as to develop a common stance in international affairs. There is
also a need to strengthen the regional political and economic unity, regardless of the
different stages of development among their economies. Beyond that, corporate re-
form should also gather pace.

Sooner or later, Asia should develop an effective formal institution such as the
AMF that is able to provide an early warning and early action system to countries in
the region. As for the developed nations, it is high time that they lend their support
for the AMF, if they are serious in helping to promote global economic and financial
stability and prosperity. They would need to see that a strong, stable and expanding
Asia will benefit not just the Asian countries, but also the entire global community.

Note :  Robert Khaw is the Senior Manager and Janet Leong is the Assistant Manager in the
Technical Department, MIA. The views in this write-up are the authors’ and do not necessarily
represent those of the Institute.

SNIPPETS  
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eral market access agreements with almost
all its main trading partners, many of its
commitments require adherence to WTO
fair trade rules.

Problem areas include trading rights for
foreign enterprises, licensing procedures,
state trading, standards and intellectual
property protection where China still lacks
legislation on trademarks and copyright.
WTO members are also concerned about
the lack of independent procedures for ju-
dicial review.

Meanwhile, China said it will stick by com-
mitments made in bilateral talks, but claims
trading partners are making unreasonable
demands for it to go further than WTO rules
normally require for developing countries.

Financial Times, 26 September 2000

Bilateral Trade Gains Currency
Singapore and Australia would begin ne-

gotiating a free trade agreement (FTA)
within next year. Australia also held prelimi-
nary discussions with the US over a sepa-
rate bilateral discussion. Singapore’s accord
with Australia came soon after it had signed
a comprehensive FTA with New Zealand. It
is also still pursuing, at various levels, FTAs
with Japan, Mexico, Canada, Chile and In-
dia. The bilateral agreements are regarded
by some trade specialists as being a symp-
tom of the slow pace of APEC’s liberalisa-
tion efforts and as potentially damaging to
the multilateral trading system.

Financial Times, 16 November 2000

Need for World
Development Agency

Jeffrey Sachs, director of the centre for
international development at Harvard Uni-
versity, argued that there is a need for “a
World Development Agency that would use
grant funding to help spur technological
solutions to the problems of the poor, and
would provide grants to deliver urgently
needed healthcare and education ....
Globalisation underpinned by global eth-
ics is the best hope for the poor. An IMF
focused on global financial markets and a
World Development Agency devoted to the
poorest peoples could yet make a valuable
contribution to the world.”

Financial Times, 26 September 2000

E-banking — Lessons from
the Nordic Experience

A JP Morgan’s study has shown that :

n A reliable and cost-effective payment sys-
tem is central to take-up. Scandinavian
banks have made it cheaper to pay bills
online than at a branch.

n Multichannel banks can be ef fective
competitors against focused new en-
trants if they offer comparable services
at a reasonable price.

n Many of the best customers go online
but are becoming less loyal due to the
simplicity of comparison shopping.

n Mainstream customers can be won to
Internet brokerage services, in part to
retain them but also to sell them other
investment products.

n Mutual funds are a natural product to sell
online and are selling successfully.

n Personal lending works well online, but
when it comes to mortgages, consum-
ers research but rarely buy online.

n Most Scandinavian banks consider life
insurance and pensions too complex to
be sold online.

Financial Times, 31 October 2000

“Big Five” Firms Welcome
New SEC Plans

US regulators (Securities and Exchange
Commission) and the “Big Five” accountancy
firms have opened the way to ending their
long-running dispute over the alleged conflicts
of interest in the audit profession. Crucially,
certain information technology consulting
work will be allowed to continue at audit cli-
ents provided a company’s management in-
forms its audit committee. In addition, com-
panies will be forced to disclose in their finan-
cial statements fees paid to auditors and con-
sultants. This rule will lead to a new source of
information about the relationships between
firms and clients (see also Akauntan Nasional,
October 2000 issue, p. 35).

Financial Times, 16 November 2000

Andersen Alters Name to
Accenture

Andersen Consulting will call itself
Accenture with effect from 1 January 2001.

○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○

The name change was forced by an arbi-
trator’s ruling in August 2000 allowing the
consulting concern to break free from its
global parent, Andersen Worldwide, and its
sister company Arthur Andersen, the ac-
counting and auditing form.

Asian Wall Street Journal, 30 October 2000

Say Good-bye to Tax Holidays
To avoid a race to the bottom in the com-

petition for investors, Southeast Asian na-
tions should phase out their tax break
schemes, argued Edwin van der Bruggen
of the Assumption ABAC University in
Bangkok. This would be compatible with
international trends and the reasons to
curb these tax holidays or phase them out
altogether include the following :

n Generally, tax incentives do not really at-
tract foreign direct investment, as a re-
cent survey of multinational enterprises
conducted by Hong Kong’s Lingnan Uni-
versity revealed : taxation of profits, in-
cluding withholding taxes ranked eighth
among the factors the companies consid-
ered in deciding where to invest. Ranked
most important was political stability, fol-
lowed by size of local market, proximity
to markets, macroeconomic environ-
ment, transparency of legal framework,
quality of infrastructure and communi-
cations, and the availability and quality
of labour, including education.

n International initiatives against tax compe-
tition are gathering momentum. For ex-
ample, the Organisation for Economic Co-
operation and Development and the Eu-
ropean Union have launched a war against
“harmful preferential tax regimes” within
and outside their member countries.

n Tax incentives affect domestic tax revenues,
since complicated approval procedures re-
quire specially trained government employ-
ees. Furthermore, such regimes create
possibilities for tax avoidance or evasion in
transactions between domestic enterprises
and enterprises with tax incentives.

Asian Wall Street Journal, 20 November 2000

Note : The above snippets were compiled by
Robert Khaw, Senior Manager, Technical De-
partment, MIA.
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Budget 2001 presented recently by
Finance Minister, Tun Daim
Zainuddin, is seen as a continua-

tion of the previous one, keeping on track
Malaysia’s quest to become a developed
nation in line with Vision 2020. Its strategy
is aimed at stimulating the
nation’s economic growth,
enhancing our national
competitiveness and con-
tinuing our agenda as a car-
ing society. More focus is
put on developing our K-
economy while at the same
time proceeding with the
nation’s ongoing socio-eco-
nomic development.

Many among the busi-
ness community were dis-
appointed as the speculated
corporate tax cut did not
materialise. Nevertheless
specific tax incentives were
announced and the “Pre-
Packaged Incentives”
scheme will continue to be
provided to attract both do-
mestic and foreign invest-
ment.

While a lower tax regime
will certainly help attract
foreign direct investments
(FDIs), it will not be enough
by itself. Reason :  Whatever
tax breaks Malaysia gives, others can do
just as well, if not better. As such, Malay-
sia may have to offer some more substan-
tial incentives.

Says a tax consultant, “If we are really
serious about using tax incentives to give
us the competitive edge, then we need to
do something bold and innovative, not just
tinker with age-old stuff like pioneer sta-
tus, investment tax allowance and re-invest-

ment allowance.” For instance, Malaysia
could change the entire basis of taxation
for FDIs by reducing the corporate tax to
zero but taxing them on repatriation. But
he says the idea and its qualifying criteria
need further refinements.

Undoubtedly, competition for investment
capital remains as keen as ever, especially
with the lifting of sanctions in the Balkans.

Given that we are competing intensely with
other emerging economies to attract FDIs,
there seems to be a conspicuous absence
of concerted measures in the Budget an-
nouncements.

On the whole, Budget 2001, within its
constraints, has unveiled a bag of goodies
for the rakyat whilst laying the foundation
for the growth of the K-economy. Even
though the much speculated tax cuts did

not materialise, indirect benefits are given
through increases in tax rebates and other
various incentives.

Despite suggestions from various bod-
ies, the restriction on tax deductions in
respect of bonus payments, as well as serv-
ice tax on inter-company management
services remains in force. However, a
number of measures were announced to

assist in the reduction of the
cost of doing business in
Malaysia.

According to the tax con-
sultant, much emphasis has
rightly been placed on pre-
paring the country for the K-
economy by laying the nec-
essary foundations. Like it
or not, we have to accept its
inevitability. To survive in
this new borderless world,
new skills and dynamic e-en-
trepreneurship will be re-
quired. While tax incentives
act as catalysts and are al-
ways welcome attractions, it
must be noted that tax
breaks alone cannot create
and develop e-entrepreneur-
ship. Rather, the govern-
ment must create a condu-
cive environment for the
new breed of entrepreneurs
to flourish.

One of the Budget propos-
als is tax deduction for in-
vestment in venture compa-

nies. The tax consultant says the idea is
right, adding however, that the point is
missed when the condition for deduction
is that the investment must be held until
listing. He points out that if the venture
company succeeds and becomes listed, the
investor is no longer concerned with tax
deductions, but rather whether the gain on
post-listing disposal will be taxed. For
every venture that is successfully listed,

BUDGET 2001 :  TAKING
THE LONG-TERM VIEW
By Tareq Ismaun

Budget 2001 :  focus on k-economy
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many fail — it is in such instances that the
investor is concerned with tax deduction
for the investment. Thus he argues that to
get the desired results, these basic princi-
ples should be clearly established and that
the implementation is not made onerous.

Certain measures and incentives were
announced to attract knowledge workers
to the country.

The proposal to award per-
manent resident status to
spouses and children in or-
der to lure Malaysian knowl-
edge workers back to the
country is very appealing.
However, only individuals
identified by a special com-
mittee to have the required
expertise will qualify. The
extent to which this initiative
will succeed depends very
much on the transparency of
the criteria and the ef fi-
ciency of the evaluation proc-
ess.

The ability to bring back a
couple of cars tax-free may
have some appeal to attract
knowledge workers back to
the country. However, the
tax consultant says that the
exemption for remittance of
income will have minimum
influence since in most
cases, returning individuals
are likely to be non-resident
for tax purposes in the year
of their return.  As non-resi-
dents, whatever income they
remit to Malaysia is tax-free
anyway.

Several measures have
also been taken to increase
the level of computer lit-
eracy, including the ability to
make withdrawals from the
Employees Provident Fund
(EPF) for the purchase of
personal computers, tax in-
centives to encourage em-
ployers to provide personal
computers to employees and
computer loans to govern-
ment employees.

The shift of focus in tan-

dem with the K-economy vision reflects a
clear emphasis on private sector expendi-
ture. The government believes that the
private sector has become reasonably
strong, to the extent that they need not
increase public spending substantially to
maintain the growth momentum. The per-
centage of total federal government ex-

penditure allocated to development spend-
ing has fallen slightly to 29.6 per cent from
31 per cent previously. Within development
spending, there is an apparent shift to so-
cial services expenditure, especially the
education and health sub-sectors. Thus,
the government appears to take a long-
term view to improve labour force competi-

tiveness. On the whole,
consolidated public sector
spending is not substan-
tial, thus giving rise to a
smaller deficit of RM5 bil-
lion or 1.6 per cent of pro-
jected nominal GNP in
contrast to a deficit of five
per cent of nominal GNP
in the previous year. Even
though there is still a defi-
cit, this year’s budget is
definitely less expansion-
ar y than Budget 2000.
Analysts say it may be too
optimistic to depend on
the private sector to drive
growth in 2001 with pub-
lic spending playing a sup-
por ting role. If all the
planned privatized infra-
structure projects do not
take off in a big way swiftly
and net FDI inflows re-
main weak, the private sec-
tor may be a little unpre-
pared to take over the role
of the main driver of eco-
nomic growth.

While the tone of the
Budget is not wholly pes-
simistic, analysts believe
the government has taken
into account the possibility
of slower growth in the US
in the shorter term. This
is reflected in the lower
projected GDP growth for
2001 at seven per cent
compared to the estimated
7.55 for this year. The
manufacturing sector is
projected to grow at a
slower 12 per cent rate in
2001 versus 17 per cent
this year.

Says the tax consultant,

1999 2000* 2001**

MAJOR ECONOMIC INDICATORS

Gross Domestic Product (growth %) 5.8 7.5 7.0

Per Capita Income
(at current prices, RM) 12,305 12,883 13,708

Consumer Price Index (growth %) 2.8 1.9 N/A

Unemployment rate (%) 3.0 2.9 N/A

Gross National Savings  (as  % of GNP) 41.05 37.25 35.5

Current Account (RM billion) 47.90 29.75 24.77

• Merchandise (RM billion) 86.54 74.33 72.46

• Services (RM billion) (32.13) (37.11) (39.78)

• Transfers (RM billion) (6.50) (7.47) (7.91)

Surplus/(Deficit) as  % of GNP 17.14 9.93 7.60

Total exports (growth %) 12.1 15.0 8.7

Total imports (growth %) 9.1 25.2 11.1

Manufacturing (growth %) 13.5 17.0 12.0

Mining and quarrying (growth  %) (3.1) 0.6 1.7

Construction (growth %) (5.6) 3.1 5.5

Services (growth %) 3.3 4.9 5.2

Agriculture, livestock, forestry and
Fishing (growth %) 3.8 0.5 1.8

International reserves (RM billion) 117.24 125.40 N/A

Revenue (RM billion) 58.68 63.5 69.61

Direct taxes (RM billion) 27.25 29.81 33.80

Indirect taxes (RM billion) 18.10 18.70 19.88

Non-tax revenue (RM billion) 13.33 14.99 15.93

Source: Economic Report 2000/2001, Ministry of Finance, Malaysia.
* Estimate;  ** Forecast;  N/A Not Available.
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“Despite our reasonably healthy domestic
economy, prospects for 2001 will hinge sub-
stantially on global economic develop-
ments which are showing signs of moder-
ating especially in the light of the recent
oil price hikes, currency upheavals and
volatile corrections in US equities.

In particular, uncertainty of external
demand remains a risk factor to our export
growth next year and projections may
therefore moderate accordingly with softer
demand from the US and general
slowdown in the global semi-conductor
market.” Lower income growth will lead to
lower private consumption.

Budget 2001 also did not include the

expected reduction in the EPF contribution
by employees.

For private consumption to grow another
9.8 per cent in 2001, the ratio of private con-
sumption to disposable income has to rise
from 0.64 in 1999 to 0.73 in 2001. Unless
the consumers, for some reasons are
highly bullish of their future prospects and
there are immense wealth effects (may not
be given the existing stock market condi-
tion), this forecast may be too high. Says
an analyst,” With this in mind, if overall
private expenditure fails to deliver and ex-
port slows down to 7.3 per cent as expected
by the Ministry of Finance, real GDP
growth will certainly be below the fore-
casted seven per cent, unless public invest-
ment comes in stronger than expected.”

40

Any expectations of sustaining the fore-
cast real GDP growth could also be de-
railed if the price of crude petroleum con-
tinues to rise. As net exporters of crude,
this could be seen as a windfall. But the
price increases can be a double-edged
sword. Whilst the bigger revenue from
crude exports could be used to boost the
domestic economy, petrol is an essential
commodity that has been heavily subsi-
dised by the government to contain infla-
tion.

Higher inflation leads to lower purchas-
ing power. Transportation costs have in-
creased and are expected to rise further
in the immediate future. If the rise in crude

price does not abate, it will become very
costly for the government to maintain the
pump price which is still below market.
Further increases in the price of petrol
could thus fuel price increases in goods
and services, and the chain effect would
create severe inflationary pressure on the
economy.

Overall, the expectation is for exports to
lead growth in 2001 with a continuous im-
provement in domestic demand. Even ac-
counting for the most imminent slowdown
in the US economy, provided expor t
growth remains at least between seven per
cent and eight per cent, the domestic
economy may still achieve real GDP
growth of 4.5 per cent to five per cent. On
the supply side, this is of course supported

Pillars for sustainable growth

by manufacturing growth and greater con-
struction spending, assuming that most of
the planned infrastructure projects carry
through.

To those who see Budget 2001 is at best
neutral, they recognise that increased
spending on education and health is posi-
tive. However, they do not feel comfortable
with the substantial reduction in the allo-
cation of economic development expendi-
ture or infrastructure spending. Still, they
admit that it allows the government some
leeway to increase fiscal expenditure if ex-
port growth slows down to below seven per
cent. And they stress that barring a world-
wide recession (a possible scenario if the

US went into recession or the Middle East
problem escalates into a full-blown war),
minimum real GDP growth of about 4.5 per
cent to five per cent should not be a prob-
lem.

Despite some disappointment over
Budget 2001, largely due to over-expecta-
tions earlier, analysts believe the measures
are good for the long-term. The Budget is
another pragmatic move by the govern-
ment to instill public confidence in its bid
to maintain sustained economic develop-
ment. Simultaneously, it is gearing the na-
tion to be more resilient in the context of
the borderless world by recognising the
importance of the K-economy while mould-
ing the local companies in vital sectors in
a free trade area in the coming years.
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By Dr Mohamed Ariff
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR, MALAYSIAN INSTITUTE OF ECONOMIC RESEARCH

E C O N O M I C S
P U L S E  O F  T H E  E C O N O M I E S

The importance of foreign direct in-
vestment (FDI) to the Malaysian
economy can scarcely be exagger-

ated. It is hard to imagine Malaysia matur-
ing into a newly industrialised economy
without the participation of multinational
corporations (MNCs) in the
country’s industrialisation
process. Strictly speak-
ing, domestic invest-
ment is no substitute
to FDI, which brings
with it not only capital
but also new technology
and new markets, not to
mention the new skills
and new mindsets. Malay-
sia has been transformed
from a primary pro-

ducing and expor ting
countr y into a thriving
modern economy where
manufacturers now account
for over 80 per cent of total
exports, thanks largely
to the role of MNCs.
Malaysia could not
have emerged as the
20th largest exporter in
the world, despite its small
size, had it not been for FDI.

To be sure, the easy initial phase of in-
dustrialisation based on labour-intensive
manufacturing is over. Now Malaysia has
to brace itself for the more difficult and
challenging tasks ahead. It is now quite ob-
vious that Malaysia has oversold itself as
an offshore base for low value-added la-

bour-intensive assembly activities, as the
economy is now precariously dependent on
far too many foreign workers. The transi-
tion from labour-intensive manufacturing

to a technology-intensive one cannot take
place smoothly in the absence of new FDI
inflows. Malaysia needs a new breed of FDI
to close the digital divide or the knowledge
gap. Imaginative projects like the Multime-

dia Super Corridor (MSC), which can cata-
pult Malaysia into the long-term growth tra-
jectory, cannot take-off successfully with-
out strong FDI injections.

It is worrisome that FDI inflows into Ma-
laysia have been falling rapidly in recent
years. FDI applications declined by 18.4
per cent in 1997, followed by another 12.2
per cent contraction in 1998. In 1999, FDI
applications were down 28.4 per cent. This
is seemingly a regional trend, as several

countries in the neighbour-
hood are also experien-

cing similar declines.
But, it does appear
that Malaysia pales

somewhat in compari-
son among the recipients

in the region. For instance,
Malaysia now ranks fifth

after Singapore, Indone-
sia, Thailand and Philip-
pines for Japanese in-

vestments.
According to the re-

cent MIDA figures, in the
first half of this year, FDI ap-

provals declined by 68
per cent, although

FDI applications
increased by 35

per cent year-on-
year. Earlier MIDA

figures for the first five
months of this year showed a decline in
both applications and approvals of FDI. It
is now clear that MIDA has revised its FDI
figures (Jan-May 2000) raising FDI appli-
cations by a hefty two fold from RM2.5 bil-
lion to RM5.3billion and adjusting FDI ap-
provals only marginally from RM1.8 billion
to RM2.2 billion. FDI approvals in the first

LURING FOREIGN
DIRECT INVESTMENTS
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seven months (January-July) of this year
showed a year-on-year decline of 43.4 per
cent which compares poorly with a 24.7 per
cent increase in applications.

Intriguingly, the higher application figures
have not been translated into approvals. One
may hope to see higher approval figures in
the next few months, given the small time
lag between applications and approvals. What
matters really, in the final analysis, is neither
applications nor approvals but actual imple-
mentation or realised investments. Data on
the latter is hard to come by. It is pertinent
to note that not all approved investments are
implemented. It is in this sense that the ap-
plications and approvals grossly overstate ac-
tual investments.

The downslide in FDI has not triggered
an alarm bell yet, simply because the cur-
rent decline in FDI inflows does not pose
any serious threat to the economy in the
near term. The economy can still grow at
around 8 per cent this year, thanks to the
excess production capacity caused by the
recent recession. Production can expand,
if domestic and external demand continue
to rise, so long as there is some unused
capacity. Further expansion will be se-
verely constrained the moment the
economy arrives at full capacity, unless
new capacity is created in time through
additional investments.

Sluggish FDI inflows now may affect the
country’s economic performance in the
near term. Increased domestic investment
may take up the slack but cannot adequately
compensate, as they represent a different
kettle of fish. The upshot of all this may
cause a dent in the country’s growth poten-
tial. This concern is compounded by the fact
that capital-output ratio has increased from
3:1 to 5:1 which suggests that we need a lot
more capital to produce a given output now
than previously.

Apparently, Malaysia has become rela-
tively less attractive for FDI. It is not diffi-
cult to advance theoretical or hypothetical
explanations. For starters, perceptions
about capital controls may have a lot to do
with it. Policy consistency, coherence, con-
tinuity and predictability had been the hall-
marks of Malaysia’s success in attracting
FDI in the past. The imposition of capital
and exchange controls seem to have al-
tered these perceptions about Malaysia, if

anecdotal evidence is any guide. The con-
trols may have been seen as policy revers-
als that do not jive with the openness of
the Malaysian economy. The absence of a
clear time frame for capital and exchange
controls may have led many not to view
them purely as “stop-gap measures.”

Under valued ringgit may also have
much to do with the lethargic FDI inflows.
At the current undervalued exchange rate,
imports of machinery and equipment for
setting up plants would cost more and by
the time the products come on stream the
ringgit may have appreciated. All this
would render the final products interna-
tionally uncompetitive. Under such circum-
stances, it will not be surprising if foreign
companies would rather delay the imple-
mentation of approved projects pending a
revaluation or de-pegging of the ringgit.

Undervalued ringgit, however, does pro-
vide an incentive for reinvestments by
MNCs, as it makes the profit repatriation al-
ternative an unattractive option at the cur-
rent exchange rate. Not surprisingly, there-
fore, the bulk of the increase in FDI in re-
cent times is accounted for by reinvestments
rather than “new” investments.

Non-economic factors may also have in-
fluenced foreign investor confidence. Bad
press, cynicism, criticisms and allegations
of sorts in foreign media on the recent hap-
penings in Malaysia cannot be summarily
dismissed as irrelevant. Ner vousness
caused by negative perceptions about hu-
man rights, governance, transparency, ju-
dicial integrity and the like cannot be treated
lightly either. Moral hazard and the slow
pace of corporate restructuring and reforms
also represent yet another source of uneasi-
ness among potential foreign investors.

Malaysia certainly has much more to
offer foreign investors than some of its
neighbours in terms of excellent infrastruc-
ture, efficient administration, disciplined
workforce, etc. Malaysian investment in-
centives also look better. Thus, for exam-

ple, Malaysia gives, among other things,
5-10 years of Investment Allowance, which
is totally absent in Indonesia, Philippines
and Thailand. It is important to understand
that incentives are not the main reason
behind investment decisions. Incentives
represent no more than an icing on the
cake. Incentives are seen only as compen-
sations for disincentives. It is better to re-
move the latter than to have them compen-
sated by tax incentives. While Indonesia,
Philippines, and Thailand offer 100 per cent
foreign equity in all sorts of manufactur-
ing activities (except engineering in Indo-
nesia and Philippines), foreign equity in
Malaysia is still limited to 30 per cent for
supporting industries, marketing, engi-
neering and recycle categories.

All indications are that attracting FDI is
going to be a lot more difficult from now
on than in the past. Foreign investors have
more options now than before, as more and
more countries open up their economies
to foreign equity participation. Liberalisa-
tion in China and India, in particular, is
likely to cause FDI to bypass Southeast
Asia. There is a real danger of FDI gravi-
tating from Southeast Asia towards North-
east Asia, now that Korea is actively seek-
ing foreign equity. One must not lose sight
of the fact that a lot of FDI was diverted
into China after the Chinese yuan was de-
valued in 1994. Another round of FDI di-
version into China can take place once
China is admitted into the WTO.

Malaysia’s impressive FDI track record
is certainly an advantage. Not many can ri-
val Malaysia. Nonetheless, FDI investments
would tend to flow into countries which are
perceived as more “friendly.” Facts may dif-
fer from perceptions. But, often times invest-
ment decisions are influenced by percep-
tions. Negative perceptions cannot be
washed away. Experience has shown that
reputation, which takes years to build, can
degenerate very quickly. Hence the need
to give primacy to the maintenance of in-
vestor confidence at all times.

Note : This article, reprinted with permission,
appeared in The MIER Monthly Monitor, Octo-
ber 2000. The MIER, incorporated on 30 Decem-
ber 1985, is an independent, non-profit organi-
sation devoted to economic, financial and busi-
ness research that would serve as a think-tank
for the government and the private sector.

“Malaysia now ranks
fifth after Singapore,
Indonesia, Thailand
and Philippines for

Japanese investments.”
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Don’t Fear Risk, Ma 

M O N E Y  T R E E
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F I N A N C I A L  P L A N N I N G  F O R  YO U  A N D  YO U R S

By Rajen Devadason

Iwas at a conference in mid-October
where one of the key speakers admit-
ted that leading his organisation was

much like being seated in a Formula One
racing car. He said he felt he was, “… rid-
ing a thunderstorm; hanging on for dear
life, just trying to steer!”

Malaysians who invested in our own eq-
uity arena often feel the same way. The
volatility experienced by anyone
who’s sunk money into the
Kuala Lumpur Stock
Exchange is

Physicists love the word ‘entropy’. It refers to the tendency
every natural system has to move from a state of order to
that of maximum chaos. Entropy explains why astronomers
believe the universe appears to be heading toward a final
‘heat death’, countless billions of years from now. Entropy can
also be used to rationalise why your clients’ accounts some-
times refuse to balance; and why your teenager’s bedroom
might look like a concussion grenade just went off in it.

Not surprisingly, entropy also works in our financial lives.

This regular feature represents Akauntan Nasional’s (AN)
serious bid to educate all Malaysians of the need for wise
adherence to sensible financial planning principles and
strategies. Each accountant is a centre of influence — in
your of fice, to your colleagues and clients; and in your
home, to your family. Money Tree is thus designed to help
you learn and then teach — in steps — all that is impor-
tant in crafting a life of financial abundance, bounty and
contentment.

— to put it mildly — on the high side. As an
accountant, you are likely to be attuned to
one reason for that rollercoaster mimicking
— the tremendous range in the quality of
investment fundamentals exhibited by the
750-plus companies listed on the KLSE. We
can literally take our pick from the stock
market’s good, bad and the shock-inducing
ugly inhabitants.

Couple that with the highly developed
mob mentality exhibited by hardcore stock

investors the world over, and we begin to
come to grips with why equities are often
equated with a four-letter word — RISK.

In case all this talk about risk is making
you queasy, let me make one thing clear.
Taking risks and gambling are not neces-
sarily the same thing. My favourite defini-
tion of gambling is “creating a risk where
there wasn’t one before, in the hope of beat-
ing the odds.”

If you put down money on the outcome
of a roulette wheel spin, that would be gam-

bling. But what if you were to deposit
all your excess funds into bank

accounts? Well, although
the devoted bank-

DON’T GAMBLE!
TAKE INFORMED

INVESTMENT RISKS.
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to balance because, usually, the more risk
you take, the greater the profit or reward
you can expect.

Investment risk, as opposed to gambling
risk, is not inherently bad or good. Just
never forget that reward and risk go in tan-
dem, like the ghosts of Yoda and Obi-Wan
Kenobi in a Star Wars episode.

Therefore, logically, a person’s invest-
ment risk profile indicates how much port-
folio volatility he can comfortably stomach.
Yet also understand that an appetite for, or
aversion to, investment risk need not be
mirrored in other areas of life. A person
who can handle high investment risk might
insist on driving at 80 km/h on the high-
way, and his sister who is investment risk
averse might love bungee jumping. There
is no single profile that is better or worse
than another. The key is simply knowing
yourself well enough to commit to long
haul investing that will ultimately yield a
bountiful harvest.

Robert Sheard, an English literature PhD,
turned best-selling US investment writer,
makes an important point in his book The
Unemotional Investor (Fireside/Simon &
Schuster 1998): There’s nothing wrong with
opting for a slightly lower risk and a more
conservative approach if it lets you sleep at
night. Investing isn’t just about making the
most money possible, it is about making the
best return possible within your personal
tolerance for risk and volatility.

Okay, but how do you discover your tol-

erance for risk and volatility? Well, there
are various quizzes available. The three I
am most familiar with come from Stand-
ard Chartered Bank, SBB Unit Trust Man-
agement and KL MUTUAL. Standard Char-
tered’s proprietary profiling methodology
is available from the bank’s in-house finan-
cial consultants (queries can be made at
tel :  03-238 1000). SBB’s quiz is found on
page 65 of Nathan Balakrishnan and Geoff
Stecyk’s excellent book Wi$e Move$ to
Retirement. (See quiz on page 48).

If you’ve taken the trouble to complete
this exercise, you would have put your fin-
ger on the pulse of your thinking and be-
havioural patterns concerning investment
risk. You should then focus on your pri-
mary financial goals and their respective
timeframes for accomplishment.

Consider Elizabeth, 40; a widow who
hopes to send her only son to the US for
his (four-year) degree in six years. Eliza-
beth also plans to retire from her tax con-
sultancy business at 60.

This is how a portion of Elizabeth’s writ-
ten financial goal sheet should look like :

Goal Timeframe

1 Fund son’s stint in
Harvard University 6-10 years

2 Fund a comfortable
retirement 20-? years

Look at the asset allocation charts, not-
ing that Elizabeth scored 20 points in our
quiz. This suggests that her risk profile is
moderate, bordering on conservative. The
start of the timeframe for Elizabeth to fin-
ish raising enough money to send her son
is six years away. The appropriate series
of pie charts is ‘four-seven years’ (Chart
3). Elizabeth’s retirement is 20 years away,
which means that for this second goal, she
should be looking at the ‘Above 10 years’
series (Chart 5).

Elizabeth should carry out a comprehen-
sive financial plan that contains, at least,
three components.

n Establish an emergency buffer account
of ready cash amounting to at least six
months’ expenses. (If Elizabeth were an
employee in a stable job situation, three
months’ expenses might be sufficient.

saver is likely to end up in better shape than
a high-stakes casino gambler, inflation will
nonetheless erode the buying power of his
savings.

So, if residing at either end of the risk
spectrum leads to probable ruin, what is
an honest hardworking Malaysian to do?
The answer is obvious :  Take the middle
path. To understand why that is so, let’s
see how a moderately ‘risky’ asset might
behave.

C H A R T  1 How a ‘Risky’ Asset Behaves

RM2,000

R
ew

ar
d/

G
ro

w
th

Time

12% annualised
growth line

Oscillating return
of a ‘risky’ investment

Chart 1 shows the likely oscillation of an
initial RM2,000 investment around a steady
growth line. This pattern is one that a fairly
risky equity investment might exhibit. What
does this mean? According to Financial
Freedom 2 — Through Malaysian Equities
and Unit Trusts (p. 157; KL MUTUAL 2000),
you will immediately realise that the more
an investment asset bounces around in
value, the riskier it inherently is. That ‘risk’
takes on stark importance if you realise that
some time in the future you might need to
liquidate your portfolio in a hurry to, maybe,
pay for an emergency bypass operation for
your father, or, less importantly, to buy into
that ‘cannot miss’ property launch.

But riskiness per se is not a bad thing.
As with most things in life, the books tend

nage It!
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How do you react to unexpected bad
financial news?
a. Never overreact
b. Rarely overreact
c. Always overreact

You are faced with a choice between
(a) greater job security with a small pay
rise and (b) with a high pay rise but less
job security. Which would you select?
a. Probably higher pay rise
b. Not sure
c. Probably greater job security

Would you borrow money or go on
margin trading to make an investment that
might double your money?
a. Yes
b. Maybe
c. No

If you have invested in a stock that rose
30 per cent within six months after you
bought it, you would :
a. Do nothing or buy more shares
b. Sell some shares
c. Sell all your shares

Do you believe in luck in making your
investment decisions?
a. Yes
b. Sometimes
c. No

If you could increase your chances of
improving your returns by taking more
risk, you would be :
a. Willing to take a lot more risk with all

your money
b. Willing to take some risk with some of

your money
c. Unwilling to take much more risk

How much are you spending on credit
card bills, car payments and either on rent
or mortgage payments (monthly total)?

What is your current household income
(after tax)?

What percentage of your household in-
come (after tax) is spent each month pay-

2

The quiz reproduced here, is the one I take my clients through :  KL MUTUAL’s, taken from
Appendix A 14 of Financial Freedom — Your Guide to Lifetime Financial Planning (pp. 302-
304; KL MUTUAL 1998). I hope you make time to find a quiet nook to work on this :

INVESTOR RISK PROFILE
MY TOTAL SCORE IS                POINTS.

Are you done? Then check your score :
12-18 points Conservative
19-29 points Moderate
30-36 points Aggressive

 F I N A N C I A L  P L A N N I N G  F O R  YO U  A N D  YO U R S

M O N E Y  T R E E
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1 ing off credit card bills, car payments and
either on rent or mortgage payments?
a. More than 50 per cent
b. Between 25  and 50 per cent
c. Less than 25 per cent

In case of an emergency, you would
have available savings to pay for :
a. Less than 3 months’ living expenses
b. 3-12 months’ living expenses
c. More than 12 months’ living expenses

Would you invest in a stock based on a
friend’s tip?
a. Yes
b. Maybe
c. No

Which one of the following statements
best describes your feelings about invest-
ment risk?
a. I prefer to select an aggressive mix of

investments — some that have a low
degree of risk, but with emphasis on
others that have a higher degree of risk
that may yield greater returns

b. I prefer to select a balanced mix of in-
vestments — some that have a low de-
gree of risk, others that have a higher
degree of risk that may yield greater
returns

c. I prefer to select a mix of investments
with emphasis on those with a low de-
gree of risk and a small portion in oth-
ers that have a higher degree of risk
that may yield greater returns

Which ONE of the following describes
your expected future earnings over the
next five years? (Assume inflation will av-
erage four per cent.)
a. I expect my earnings to increase and

outpace inflation
b. I expect my earnings to be maintained
c. I expect my earnings to decrease

12. Would you invest in individual stocks
or equity (stock-based) unit trusts?
a. Yes
b. Maybe
c. No

8

9

10

11

Answer each of the following 12 questions. Take as long as you like, there is no time
limit. For the multiple-choice questions, try and choose the answer that is closest to
your circumstances.

SCORING For all questions,
a = 3 points
b = 2 points
c = 1 point

12

But since she’s her own boss, the greater
risk that a business owner faces should
be reflected in a larger buffer position.
This money can be kept in an easily ac-
cessible savings account and perhaps
several one-month ‘rolling’ fixed deposit
accounts, or a series of laddered FDs.

n She should determine how much she
could afford today to commit toward sav-
ing and investing for her son’s education.
This sum is above and beyond what is
already accruing toward that end in her
Employees’ Provident Fund (EPF) Ac-
count 2.

n She should do the same for her long-
term retirement needs, again in addition
to what she will be able to withdraw from
her EPF at 55 and subsequently earn on
that sum through viable investments
during the ensuing five years.

Let’s just look at the specific asset allo-
cation suggested for Elizabeth’s son’s edu-
cation fund. The appropriate breakdown,
for a person with a moderate risk profile
and a ‘four-seven year’ timeframe is :

30% — Negligible Risk (FDs)

30% — Low Risk (Income Funds)

20% — Medium Risk (Growth and In-
come Funds, and Income Stocks)

20% — High Risk (Growth Funds and
Growth Stocks)

Elizabeth finds, after allocating money
to her emergency buffer and her personal
retirement plan, that she has RM50,000 for
her son’s education. That is nowhere near
the amount she will need to completely pay
for four years’ tuition, board and flights for
Harvard between 2006 and 2010; but it’s
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Elizabeth’s suggested portfolio, as of today,
should comprise :

RM15,000 — Negligible Risk (FDs)

RM15,000 — Low Risk (Income Funds)

RM10,000 — Medium Risk (Growth
and Income Funds, and
Income Stocks)

RM10,000 — High Risk (Growth Funds
and Growth Stocks)

all Elizabeth has at the moment. Rather
than procrastinate, she opts to make that
modest start and to add to her investments
on a regular basis. Elizabeth realises that
as the years roll by, and the departure of
her son draws nearer, she will need to re-
adjust her asset allocation to that of a
shorter timeframe with lower risk and,
hence, reduced short-term price volatility.

Based on her risk profile and time frame,
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Note :  The writer, a financial planning consult-
ant and trainer, is co-author of the best seller
Financial Freedom — Your Guide to Lifetime Fi-
nancial Planning and its just released sequel Fi-
nancial Freedom 2 — Through Malaysian Equi-
ties and Unit Trusts, (publisher :  KL MUTUAL).
He welcomes questions and comments on any
aspect of personal finance in Malaysia. Feel free
to ‘snail mail’ c/o Akauntan Nasional or e-mail
rajendevadason@yahoo.co.uk.

C H A R T  2 Investment Horizon 1-3 years

Do yourself a favour and carry out a simi-
lar exercise for your own financial goals.
(An interactive version of this quiz, which
will instantaneously show you the appro-
priate pie char t, is available at
www.klmutual.com.my).

Asset Allocation Models
Consider your Financial Planning Time

Horizon for each of your major financial
goals to see what is suggested for people
with conservative, moderate and aggres-
sive risk profiles.

The suggested instruments are :

High Risk: Growth Funds and Growth
Stocks;

Medium Risk : Growth and Income
Funds, and Income (high dividend yield-
ing) Stocks;

Low Risk: Income Funds (e.g. bond-based
unit trusts);

Negligible Risk: Fixed Deposit Accounts
in Malaysian commercial banks or finance
companies.

The allocation percentages given here
should be used as a guide. If you can’t sleep
because the intense volatility of the
Malaysian equity investment scene results
in sudden shifts in valuation, reduce your
equity exposure and increase your invest-
ments in lower risk instruments.

As long as you use your personally iden-
tified investment risk profile coupled with
the ‘sleep test’ as a two-part barometric
valve, you will be able to control the ‘pres-
sure’ that the external investment world
exerts on you. Over time, and through
careful personal tinkering, that enhanced
control should enable you to steer your
uniquely precious life — your personal
‘thunderstorm’ — safely and opulently past
the finish line.

C H A R T  3 Investment Horizon 4-7 years

C H A R T  4 Investment Horizon 8-10 years

C H A R T  5 Investment Horizon more than 10 years
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20% 20%
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Electronic Commerce 

With the growth of international trade and investment and the emer-

gence of multinational corporations in Malaysia after the crisis, the

utilisation of resources has become more efficient. This has led to

progress and increasing prosperity for many nations. As the econo-

mies of nations become more tightly intertwined and interdepend-

ent, the economic health of these same nations becomes more

dependent on external forces.

The emergence of technologies has contributed to a lot of improve-

ment especially in the area of business. In line with the rapid growth

of technologies used in business especially in the era of 2000,

Electronic Commerce has played a very vital role in the economy of

the country. Many companies in the world especially in Malaysia

have started to implement electronic commerce in conducting busi-

ness to increase the efficiency of their transactions.

T E C H N O L O G Y
E - C O M M E R C E
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Introduction
The use of all mediums of electronic cash

has increased significantly. Many compa-
nies in the world have started to implement
electronic commerce in conducting busi-
ness to increase the efficiency of transac-
tions.

It is also agreed that customers, espe-
cially high-valued individuals and corpo-
rate customers who are ‘time poor’ but
technology literate want greater flexibility
in managing their financial needs. Custom-
ers need more time and flexibility and busi-
nesses need to grow together with the de-
velopment of technologies.

The contribution of E-commerce activi-
ties is supposed to give rise to new eco-
nomic development opportunities. The Na-
tional Electronic Commerce Council
(NECC) in its report “Strategic Directions
and Success Strategies of Electronic Com-
merce in Malaysia” also supported that E-
commerce activities on the internet and
other networks are expected to be a preva-
lent and dominant form of economic activ-
ity in the emerging digital economy.

In other words, E-commerce also con-
tributes to the economic growth of busi-
ness in the country and indirectly encour-
ages and helps the country focus on capa-
bility building in order to participate mean-
ingfully in the international digital knowl-
edge economy. Moreover, more than a new
type of transaction, online commerce is
changing the fundamental buyer and seller
relationship and the evolution of Elec-
tronic-commerce coincides with the eleva-

By Low Lock Teng &
Mazlina Matzain
LECTURERS
FACULTY OF MANAGEMENT
MULTIMEDIA UNIVERSITY

and Yang Wei Ken
SENIOR EXECUTIVE
CORPORATE FINANCE DIVISION
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tion of business relationships.
Malaysia, as one of the developing coun-

tries in Asia has taken the initiative to in-
vest in the development of technologies
and new thinking. E-commerce has be-
come a major agenda in Malaysia and this
is shown by the initiative of the govern-
ment to build the Multimedia Super Corri-
dor (MSC) in Cyberjaya. Furthermore, the
involvement of small and medium-sized
companies especially in the Information
Technology field in Malaysia has been en-
couraged by the Government by awarding
them MSC status if these companies fulfill
certain requirements.

The Multimedia Development Corpora-

tion (MDC) has invested RM40 billion
from 1997 over a period of five years. The
MSC which has a world-class infrastruc-
ture and facilities will likely attract local and
foreign investment from around the world.

In addition, the use of E-commerce will
increase the customers’ choice and
strengthen the link between the produc-
ers and the customers as the regional cen-
tre for IT and multimedia development in
Malaysia. The growth of E-commerce will
definitely encourage and contribute to the
growth of businesses in this millennium.

Companies located in the MSC will get
better advantages and benefits due to Ma-
laysia’s competitive strength in the region.
MDC is a stop centre and acts as a catalyst
in promoting the growth of the multime-
dia and IT industries in Malaysia. In addi-
tion to encouraging the growth of E-com-
merce activities, there is still the need to
improve the physical infrastructure for E-
commerce to be implemented effectively
throughout the country.

Public education and awareness of IT

and multimedia technologies should be the
ongoing concern and agenda to increase
the rate of IT literacy in Malaysia.

Definition of E-commerce
People and organisations interpret E-

commerce in various ways. The Inter-
Agency Task Force on Electronic Com-
merce (IATFEC) defines E-commerce as
a business transaction conducted over pub-
lic and private computer networks. It is
based on the electronic processing and
transmission of data, text, sound and video.

E-commerce includes transactions
within a global information economy such
as electronic trading of goods and services,

on-line delivery of digital content, elec-
tronic fund transfers, electronic share trad-
ing, electronic bills of lading, commercial
auctions, collaborative design and engi-
neering, on-line sourcing, public procure-
ment, direct consumer marketing and af-
ter sales services. It involves the applica-
tion of multimedia technologies in automa-
tion and re-design of transactions and
workflow aimed at increasing business
competitiveness.

Electronic Commerce Australia (ECA)
defines E-commerce as the process of con-
ducting all forms of business activity be-
tween entities using appropriate electronic
methodologies and procedures in order to
achieve the organisation’s objectives.

KPMG has defined E-commerce broadly
as the application of the Internet and re-
lated technologies to conduct business
between and across organisations.

E-commerce technologies and mediums
include all forms of electronic trading i.e.
electronic payment systems, electronic
data interchange (EDI), electronic bank-

ing, electronic mail, online services, elec-
tronic catalogues, all forms of messaging,
multimedia communications, and video
conferencing between enterprises.

The Various Types of
E-commerce Technology

Available in Malaysia

Electronic Payment Systems
Harnevie (1997) identified five types of

payment systems actively used in Malaysia :

n A smartcard-based small cash replace-
ment;

n Electronic government payments;

n Utilities and other recurring bill pay-
ments;

n An Islamic alternative to credit card pay-
ments; and

n Multimedia Payment Systems.

A smartcard-based small cash
replacement

E. Turban and D. McElroy (1998) de-
fined the smartcard as a credit-card-size
plastic card embedded with computer
chips that not only stores data but can proc-
ess it as well. They differentiated it into two
types of cards, the first type is called the
memory card and the second one is called
the ‘intelligent’ smart card.

The Smartcard is one of the mediums
that can be used to replace money. It has
been used for decades to store some
amount of money. The public started us-
ing smartcards to pay for telephone bills,
transportation (LRT, commuter, tolls). In
higher institutions, smartcards have been
used as identification cards which serve
as e-money besides containing informa-
tion such as a person’s health status, fi-
nancial information and other matters.
The objective of using the smartcard is to
make small payments easy, minimize cash
being carried by the users and also to nur-
ture a ‘paperless’ society in any form of
transaction.

Electronic Government Payments
Internet Payment Systems is one mode

of electronic transaction that can be imple-
mented to reduce the cost of the transac-
tion, save time and increase efficiency of
the transaction. For instance, customers
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“The Inter-Agency Task Force on Electronic Commerce

(IATFEC) defines E-commerce as a business transaction

conducted over public and private computer networks.

It is based on the electronic processing and transmission

of data, text, sound and video.”
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can reduce transportation costs if they can
complete the transaction at one time and
one place only.

Shon T. H. and Swatman M. C. (1998)
define Internet Payment System as “Any
conventional or new system which enables
financial transactions to be made securely
from one organisation or individual to an-
other over the internet.”

The government of Malaysia has imple-
mented Internet Payment Systems by in-
troducing electronic government, utility
and recurring bills and multimedia pay-
ment systems. Electronic Government is
also part of the MSC programme. Almost
24 Ministries, 640 agencies and
890,000 employees are involved in
using electronic government. Pay-
ments performed electronically in-
clude electronic procurements, tax
payments, tax refunds, fine pay-
ments, registration fees, application
fees, licensing fees and permission
fees. (Prime Minister’s Office, 2000).

Utility and recurring bills
In Malaysia, there are millions of

transactions and other recurring
transactions to be processed each
month. They include all types of util-
ity bills (phone, electricity, water and
others). Previously, the majority of
transactions involved cash. The cus-
tomer would pay utility bills either at Kedai
Telekom or the Post Office. Since E-com-
merce the advent of some of the banks
have offered this service with a minimal
service charge. For example, Maybank has
introduced a facility whereby you can pay
your bills through the phone using your
savings account in Maybank.

An Islamic alternative to credit card
payments

Besides using the traditional credit card,
Malaysia is also aiming to offer the most
developed Islamic financial product in the
world. The product to be offered by the
bank aims to fulfil the requirements of Is-
lamic Banking and its target market —
Muslim customers. The Islamic financial
product will aim to protect the rules and
regulations of Islam and at the same time
attract more Muslim customers to become
involved in Islamic Banking.

E - C O M M E R C E

T E C H N O L O G Y

Multimedia Payment Systems
This is a payment system that is

optimised for multimedia trade-to-cater for
the domestic payment system, the export
of multimedia products/services as well as
infrastructure needed for Malaysia to po-
sition herself as a multimedia hub and mul-
timedia fund haven.

Issues of Fraud in Malaysia
Since Malaysia is in its infancy stage of

E-commerce, there is an urgent need for
us to understand the issues and potential
impact of E-commerce, and to formulate
appropriate responses at national and in-

ternational level. Some of the public policy
issues that need to be considered include :

n Building an international framework.

n Formulating rules for commercial trans-
actions.

n Establishing a new system of intellectual
property rights.

n Ensuring security.

n Protecting personal data and privacy.

n Dealing with illegal and harmful content.

n Addressing consumer-related problems.

n Providing support for the participation
of small and medium sized industries
(SMIs).

n Ensuring interoperability.

n Educating human resources.

We have looked at some of the dominant
trends of E-commerce in business as we
entered the new millennium. The task for
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every businessman is to work out how to
respond to the business challenges by ex-
ploiting E-commerce in IT. While the Web
can empower the consumers with informa-
tion, it also leaves the unwary exposed to
new variations on fraud and abuse.

Online ser vices and access to the
Internet provide consumers with a wide
world of information, and sellers with a new
way to promote their products or services.
‘Cybershopping’, ‘banking online’ and
other conveniences will spur an increasing
number of consumers to do business by
computer. But crooks also recognise the
potential of cyberspace.

The same scams that have been
conducted by mail or phone can now
be found on the Internet, and new
technologies are resulting in new
ways to commit crimes against con-
sumers.

Millions are victims of online
fraud/misuse from the global
internet daily. The ten most common
frauds online worldwide include
online auctions, business and gen-
eral merchandise, internet access
services, computer equipment and
software, work-at-home packages,
advance fee loans, magazine solici-
tations, adult services, travel and va-
cation offers and pyramid schemes/
illegitimate multi-level marketing.

The implication of E-commerce on taxa-
tion evasion is an interesting issue around
the world. With E-commerce, trading of
goods and services is done through the
Internet and private networks and it is dif-
ficult to determine the source of income.

Where there is no physical presence, the
traditional concepts of permanent estab-
lishment and residency may have to be re-
defined. Since the concepts are interna-
tional tax treaty concepts, co-operation
amongst tax authorities is necessary to
resolve these issues. The question of prof-
its attributable and expenses to be allo-
cated has to be determined before tax li-
ability can be established.

With E-commerce, a new form of record
keeping has to be evolved to ensure that
tax authorities can keep track of all trans-
actions and taxpayer identities so as not to
erode the revenue base. The tax authori-
ties should be empowered to gain access
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to information of all transactions conducted
through E-commerce. Under the existing
tax environment, tax evasion and avoid-
ance are issues faced by tax authorities.
Because of the nature, volume and speed
of E-commerce transactions, tax authori-
ties will face an even greater challenge to
deal with such occurrences.

The issue of online auditing is another
part which comes in when E-commerce is
exploited and its usage abused freely. Ac-
countants have a pivotal role in exploiting
IT and E-commerce. They are familiar with
computers and they are often responsible
for E-commerce. But, they must be wary
and inventive. Wary, because the
new ‘E-commerce age’ is not about
further refining the computerisation
of administrative tasks.

Some of the real success cases in-
clude motor component manufactur-
ers linking their manufacturing proc-
esses directly to the car-makers’ pro-
duction control systems to provide
components ‘just-in-time’. This saves
time and cost. Likewise, accountants
must be inventive because exploiting
E-commerce is not just about trans-
forming the whole business. It is also
about linking fundamental research,
market research, manufacturing,
marketing, customer support and all
of the other key processes of a suc-
cessful business, and then potentially mak-
ing links to suppliers, customer relation-
ships and business partners.

Turning to the accounting information
systems themselves, in the majority of
cases, mainstream accounting systems
should be purchased as packages, ideally
as part of a wider business software and
ideally, as part of a business re-engineer-
ing exercise. The general trend now is to-
wards a Client-Ser ver type of solution
rather than solutions for a mainframe.
Packages are usually excellent and minor
modifications are needed. However, there
may be accounting information systems re-
quirements which cannot be met with a
package. For example, an International
Business Reporting System may be re-
quired to bring together data from a
number of operational/statutory systems
around the world, and to strip out the ef-
fects of different local currencies and in-

tra-group trading to present the Group re-
sults as though achieved through a single
global entity.

Public education must be a major com-

ponent of any effort to curb Internet fraud.
Consumers need to know how to check out
the offers they see and the companies that
make them. They need to learn how to
identify the warning signs of fraud in this
new medium, how to protect their privacy
and how to pay safely. E-commerce is the
great frontier for business.

While it does have the possibility of
fraud, so does any other kind of business
transaction. With consumer education,
government enforcement actions, and in-
dustry consumer protection initiatives, E-
commerce can be a safe and incredibly con-
venient method for conducting business.

Conclusion
The advancements in digital information,

communication technologies and the ever-
increasing popularity of E-commerce have
brought about dramatic and revolutionary
changes in practically every field, includ-

ing accounting. Business-to-business E-
commerce worldwide is expected to grow
to US$7 trillion in the next four years.

The Asian market is expected to account
for 14 per cent of this market segment. E-
commerce can enable Malaysian compa-
nies to become global players. To harness
the Internet economy, Malaysia should fo-
cus on developing and investing in Internet
infrastructure and business-to-business E-
commerce.

The issue of knowledge workers should
therefore be emphasised more, especially
in the aspect of human resources. The
question here is whether accountants in

Malaysia are ready to meet the chal-
lenges and anticipate the different
needs in industry. Accountants have
been criticised for refusing, being re-
luctant, or being too slow to adapt to
the more sophisticated E-commerce
environment. As a result, more atten-
tion is needed to focus on the aspect
of accounting information systems,
ar tificial intelligence, forensic ac-
counting and many other aspects
which deal with Internet businesses.
Accountants should change their at-
titude towards E-commerce issues in
Malaysia while preserving good tra-
ditional values at all times. Change
the packaging with the same concept.
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The crucial variable in
transforming knowledge
into value is ‘creativity’.

Can it be taught? No.
But it can be dramatically
unleashed. This is achieved
through the medium of ac-
quiring hands-on, easy-to-
learn strategies for boosting
idea generation.

Ever y individual is
innately creative, but most people have
no idea how to recognise and direct their
creativity towards productivity.

There is a whole range of practical
techniques in the domain of ‘creativity &
innovation’. Every one of them :

n is designed for immediate application

n is targeted at the diverse human intel-
ligences

n is capable of converting ideas into revenue

Not one of them is taught in schools or
corporations. But all of us need to learn
them as soon as possible if we are to
emerge as winners in this new Age of
Competitive Intelligence.

Ideas built the pyramids of Egypt, the
gardens of Japan, the cathedrals of Eu-
rope. The megacorporations of Disney,
Microsoft, and Sony were propelled into
existence by the high-octane component
of ideas.

NO IDEAS, NO FUTURE
Never before in the history of the human
race has there been a period such as now,
where ideas have been recognised as the
prime component of Intellectual Capital,
the new currency of commerce.

BRAIN FORCE
HAS REPLACED
BRUTE FORCE

The world needs to be
reconfigured continually
if humanity is to meet the
mounting challenges of
the marketplace. Any or-
ganisation that opts to re-
main the same has only
one future — stagnation,
leading to annihilation.

No longer is ‘doing nothing’ an analogy
for ‘playing safe’. In fact, it is the volun-
tary evaporation of one’s identity.

In order to keep generating new
ideas, we need to learn how to possess
different perspectives. The answer lies in
learning the practical tools of ‘creativity’.

In order to charge your chromosomes
with ingredients for mastering uncertainty,
you need to plan your total future as young
as possible. Target your genetic energy, and
aim to be not managers, but leaders!

Know also that leaders without
creativity are as useful as cars without
fuel, or people without food.

Today’s winners emerge ONLY from
within creative organisations. They are dis-
tinguished by their superiority in being more
productive, profitable, effective, efficient, and
agile. Their capacity for thinking in new ways
about old problems empowers them to out-
perform their competition. In fact, in the fi-
nal analysis, they have no competition!

The vital catalyst for the creation of
wealth, excitement, and fun, is … crea-
tivity. How creative are YOU?

Remember, education can never be
as expensive as ignorance!
Can you afford NOT to do anything about it?

WHY THE NEED FOR
CREATIVITY?
Dilip Mukerjea
AUTHOR, “SUPERBRAIN, BRAINFINITY & BRAINDANCING”

This article is an extract from Dilip Mukerjea’s forthcoming book :
“Surfing the Intellect.” What is the difference between

a manager and a leader? An-
swer :  EVERYTHING. The

lights are on, but nobody is home. Most or-
ganisations suffer from lack of leadership.
A leader is a person that inspires you to take
a journey to a destination you wouldn’t go
to by yourself. A manager maintains status
quo. A leader charts a course and constantly
looks over the horizon.

Rapid changes in technology, competi-
tion, deregulation, fragmentation of mar-
kets and increasing diversity of the
workforce are forcing companies to adapt
quickly to new circumstances. Change in
the business environment was at one time,
orderly and incremental. It is indiscrimi-
nate and much more dramatic now. Peter
Drucker puts it bluntly by saying : “Every
organisation has to prepare for the aban-
donment of everything it does.” This situ-
ation calls for more than managers. It re-
quires leaders. The two are by no means
synonymous. Following is a table compar-
ing and contrasting the main differences
of both the manager and the leader :

Leadershi 
By Gregory P. Smith

MANAGER
• Planning and budgeting
• Organising and staffing
• Follows orders
• Controlling and solves problems
• Maintains control and order
• Protects status quo
• Writes memorandums
• Follows rules and regulations
• Technical orientation

The Traits of an
Innovative Leader

Leaders do not become leaders because
of a title or job description. They only be-
come leaders when their people accept
them as leaders. Many people believe man-
agers can automatically become good lead-
ers. Others believe that people are born
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natural leaders. These two statements can’t
be further from the truth. While the most
influential leaders seem to have a charis-
matic talent, almost anyone can learn how
to become a better leader. It takes work, trial
and error, and most importantly —commit-
ment. There are eight main traits leaders
seem to share :

They have a mission. Good leaders have
a defining mission in
their life. This mis-
sion is called many
things … a purpose,
an obsession or a call-
ing. Whatever it is
called is unimportant.
But what is important
is that this mission,
above all other traits,
separates managers
from leaders. The
movie “Saving Private
Ryan” clearly demon-
strated this point. The
Captain (Tom Hanks)
was able to unite his
men and create pur-
pose toward their horrific mission to
find and rescue Private Ryan.

criticism and naysayers, it was one of
the best games ever. When the games
ended, Billy Payne said, “I am a nonde-
script, regular old person who had an
idea.”

They trust their employees. With the di-
minishing influence of the traditional
command-and-control structure, re-
sponsibility is pushed down through

the ranks to rely on the
ideas and energies of all
workers. This delegation
of authority requires that
employees have a voice
in the decision-making
process which takes
away some of the manag-
er’s power and control.

     They keep their heads
in a crisis. Leaders take a
position and defend it
when things go awry. Be-
ing graceful and brave
under fire is the surest
way to build credibility.

   They encourage risk-
taking. If a company does

not examine new ways of doing things,
if it does not push out its boundaries, if
it never makes mistakes — it may be-
come roadkill. Herb Kelleher, CEO of
Southwest Airlines, has a nonconform-
ist leadership philosophy. Herb feels
everyone is a leader and he empowers
people to make decisions. To fight bu-
reaucratic rules and regulations, he
pushes decision-making authority to the
lowest possible level. As Herb says it,
“We tell our people that we value incon-
sistency.”

They are experts. Good leaders are inti-
mately familiar with their company’s
products and services. Nothing replaces
experience on the front-line. All execu-
tives, managers and supervisors should
spend time on the front-line finding out
what is happening and what is in the way
of keeping the workforce from doing its

p Needed More Than Ever

LEADER
• Charts a course providing direction
• Provides guidance and counsel
• People follow their example
• Motivates and inspires
• Creates an environment for change
• Builds relationships and trust
• Trains and teaches
• Questions rules and regulations
• Strategic orientation

2
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The Captain (Tom Hanks) in
the blockbuster movie “Saving
Private Ryan.”

best. Again, it is a question of establish-
ing credibility. People know immedi-
ately when a superior is ‘winging it’ and
they stop listening.

They know what is essential. Leaders
have a remarkable ability to zero in on
what is important. They can simplify
complex problems elegantly without
taking the easy way out.

They are teachers and mentors. In this
rapidly changing environment, organi-
sations must create a learning environ-
ment. The senior people must be teach-
ing and training those who may soon
replace them. We are not necessarily
talking about formal classroom train-
ing. We need leaders talking to people
in the hallway, in the restaurant …  eve-
rywhere. Everyone should be mentoring
someone.

Free by fax :  If you would like a free lead-
ership assessment, please fax your letter-
head with your name with the words “In-
novative Assessment” to 770-760-0581.

Note :  Gregory P. Smith lives in Conyers, Geor-
gia. He helps organisations solve problems and
build more productive work environments. For
further information, please call (770) 860-9464
or send e-mail to greg@chartcourse.com. You
can find more information and business tips at
http://www.chartcourse.com
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Herb Kelleher, CEO of Southwest Airlines

They create a vision. A clear picture of a
future goal will help its achievement.
Good leaders have big ideas and dare
others to be great. Billy Payne ignited a
vision in the hearts and minds of the
people of Georgia and the world. His
vision caught fire and brought the Cen-
tennial Olympics to Atlanta. Despite

5



November/December 2000Akauntan Nasional

Too Full to Create
How to Empty Your Cup to
Make Room for Creativity
By Dr. Kweethai Neill

A Zen Buddhist monk asks his
   student to pour tea into a cup.
  “Don’t stop till I tell you.” The

student continues to pour and the tea over-
flows from the teacup that is already filled.
The student continues as instructed but fi-
nally remarks to his teacher that he can
no longer fill the cup because it is already
full. At that point the Zen monk tells his
student to stop. The lesson is that a full cup
cannot be filled. The lesson is that we need
to empty our minds and our hearts to make
room for creativity.

Creativity is a process of bringing to life
ideas, thoughts and dreams. Creativity
allows us to be the best that we
can be. Creativity involves our
minds, our hearts, and our
souls. Outcomes of creative en-
ergies do not always take the
form of big tasks and impressive
ideas. Creativity manifests itself
in many ways, big and small. To
be creative is to imagine, to invent
or to simply wonder. What will it
take for us to be creative? We are
creative when we can look at the
same thing and see something
different. Creativity can happen
in the kitchen when we are preparing a
meal. Creativity is found in skillful resolu-
tions to conflict among partners in relation-
ships or partners in business. Creativity
happens when we can stop thinking about
ourselves and do something to help another
human being. Einstein once said that crea-
tivity happens to him when he is chewing
on an apple.

Robert Fulghum asserts that the most
important things he learned about life were

not in the mountains in graduate school but
in the sandbox in kindergarten. The world
would be a better place if people would :

• Share Everything.

• Play fair.

• Put things back
where they found them.

• Clean up their own mess.

• Don’t take things that aren’t theirs.

• Say sorry when they hurt somebody.

• Wash their hands before they eat.

• Flush.

• Agree that warm cookies and cold milk
are good for them.
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• Live a balanced life-learn some, and
think some and draw and paint some.

• Take a nap every afternoon.

• Watch out for traffic, hold hands, and stick
together when they go out in the world.

• Be aware of wonder (All I Really Need
to Know I Learned in Kindergarten).

Children wonder without being taught.
Have you ever seen a child enter a room
dressed as Superman declaring, “Tah dah.
Look here I am. I am Superman!” The child
imagines he can do anything just like Su-
perman. That perception is real to the
child. A child will ask so many “why?” ques-
tions till he/she gets an answer she is satis-

fied with. How many times have
we said, “Oh I see!” without actu-
ally seeing. We say we do because
we are afraid to ask “why?” or
“why not?” We are afraid of mak-
ing fools of ourselves. Somehow
when we grow up, we become less
and less bold or have less and less
courage to try new things. What
happened to the “what if” questions
we asked when we were kids? How
did we lose this innocent courage of
childhood wonder? When William
Wordsworth wrote, “My heart leaps
up, when I behold a rainbow in the
sky…” he went on to say, “ The Child
is father of the Man.” It is a shame for
us to lose our sense of childhood won-
der when we grow up. So what will it
take for us to retain our ability to won-
der? What will it take for us to reclaim
our power to be creative? How can we
be adults and still play like children?

As with the filled teacup, grown-ups
carry too much baggage, emotional,
physical and spiritual to allow for crea-
tivity to flow. To be bold and creative we
need to be able to cope with day-to-day
stresses that fill up our creative cup. Eric

Maisel, a psychologist suggests that to be
an everyday creative person one has to
begin by making space and time. It is im-
portant to be human, that is to be realistic
and accept failures and mistakes as learn-
ing experiences. To be human also means
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Shut the door in your office and do this for
five minutes especially when you are stuck
in trying to be creative, and you will be
surprised at what the outcomes can be.
Place your feet on your desk and focus on
a blank mind for five minutes.

“Rome was not built in a day” so says the
idiom. Creativity takes time. Edison failed
at least a thousand times before he found
the right metal for the filament in his light
bulb. Our mistakes are often our best teach-
ers. It is only important that we keep try-
ing. Clearing our emotional and physical
clutter helps empty our creative cup to make
us ready for the challenge of new ideas.
Making space intellectually and cognitively
is just as important as taking time.

Creative time out is a vital tool. Take time
to think :  it is the source of power. Take time
to play :  it is the secret of perpetual youth.
Take time to read :  it is the fountain of wis-
dom. Take time to pray :  it is the greatest
power on earth. Take time to love and be
loved :  it is a God given privilege. Take time
to be compassionate :  it is the road to happi-
ness. Take time to laugh :  it is the music of
the soul. Take time to give :  it is too short a
day to be selfish. Take time to work :  it is the
price of success. Take time to do charity :  it
is the key to creativity. True power is when
the need to give is greater than the need to
take. Covey advocates that we adopt a men-
tality of abundance. The more we give the
more space we will make to receive.

So, let us who seek creativity, seek to
think, to learn, to play, to love, to care, to
share, and to be compassionate.

Note :  Kweethai Neill is a passionate leader in
health education, nutrition, research, and culi-
nary arts. She is known nationally and interna-
tionally for her innovative and enthusiastic pres-
entations on food, nutrition, health, and creative
leadership. Her creative research designs won
two awards for outstanding research at Kent State
University, US. Neill is President of K. Neill &
Associates Inc., a consulting firm for creative
leadership and quality improvement. She de-
signed the Re-Imaging Model2000K.Neill for con-
tinuous Quality Improvement. She teaches in the
Department of Health and Kinesiology at Sam
Houston State University in Texas and has served
in think-teams for the US government to develop
creative strategies for health education and re-
search agendas for national nutrition programs.
She also serves as nutrition consultant to the
American School Health Association and holds
a Bachelor of Science with Honours from Kings
College, London University in Food Science and
Management, a Master of Science in Nutrition
and a Doctor of Philosophy in Health Education
from Kent State University. Neill is a Certified
Health Education Specialist (CHES).
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that one accepts others as they are.
Everyday creative people have a positive

self-concept. They feel good about them-
selves without being too full of themselves.
They are not in the habit of judging others
harshly nor do they need to put others
down to feel good. Creative people are self-
driven and not influenced by the opinion
of others. They act by conscious choice.
They are sincere and honest. They are not
afraid to express how they feel to others.
They love wholeheartedly. Creative people
are not afraid of new experiences and they
are always prepared for and welcome the
challenge of uncertainty.

The biggest block to creativity is day-to-
day stresses. When one is constantly bom-
barded by demands from work, family,
friends and relatives, it is difficult to find the
peace of mind to think about new ideas or
creative solutions to problems. How can we
empty our cupfuls of stresses so that we can
welcome the challenge of creativity?

FIVE KEYS TO PROMOTE THE
FLOW OF CREATIVITY

KEY ONE  Change how you think
a) Visualise your success
b) Give yourself positive affirmations
c) Don’t worry about the past
d) Forgive yourself your mistakes
e) Forgive others their mistakes
f) Live for now
g) Replace negative thoughts with positive

ones
h) Be flexible
i) Accept what you cannot change

KEY TWO  Manage Your Time
a) Know your priorities
b) Cut out trivia
c) Minimise paper work
d) Trust others and delegate
e) Know the difference between urgent

and important tasks
f) Know how to say “NO” when necessary
g) When you are stuck, take time out

KEY THREE  Eat Well
a) Eat to enjoy
b) Eat in moderate quantities
c) Eat a variety of foods
d) Eat lots of fresh fruit and vegetables
e) Avoid foods that are high in fat and sugar
f) Eat lots of whole grain foods
g) Avoid highly processed foods
h) Avoid foods high in sodium

i) Avoid caffeine
j) Avoid excessive use of alcohol
k) Do not use drugs
l) Do not smoke

KEY FOUR  Exercise Regularly (many great
ideas occur during focused physical activity)

a) Engage in physical activity everyday
b) Find an activity that is enjoyable to you

e.g. walk, run swim, ride a bicycle
c) Walk whenever you can, e.g. park your car

as far away from your office as possible
d) Exercise till you sweat at least 20 minutes

three times a week
e) Practice deep breathing exercises

KEY FIVE  Practice Relaxation techniques
It is important to take time to relax. When you
are stuck with a problem, walk away and prac-
tice relaxation. The brain will continue to proc-
ess the problem while you relax.
a) Take a long soak in a bathtub; use fra-

grant bath salts or bubble bath.
b) Turn off the lights in your room, light a

fragrant candle or incense, close your
eyes and smell the aroma.

c) Lie down on the floor, listen to peace-
ful music.

d) Try imagery.

Here is an example of an imagery exer-
cise :

Relax … close your eyes … let all your wor-
ries and thoughts drift away. You are breath-
ing in slowly to the count of 10 … slowly ex-
hale to the count of 10 … relax.

Now you will use your creative powers to
visualise … you will day dream … you will
make pictures in your mind … let your wor-
ries and problems drift away … imagine your
worries to be clouds in the sky …  imagine
them drifting away one … two … three …
and four … and … five … etc …

Relax. breathe in … breathe out … Relax
… Imagine yourself someplace you love …
or where you would like to be … a calm place
… a peaceful place … a cool breeze is blow-
ing … breathe in deeply … exhale slowly …

Imagine you are sitting in a garden of beau-
tiful flowers … take a deep breath …  you
smell the flowers … try harder …  you can
… smell the flowers … you can hear the birds
sing … imagine the colors of the flowers …
White, pink, yellow … Take a deep breadth
… exhale to the count of ten …

You can continue this exercise for as
long as you like. Try doing imagery at least
once a day. It can take a short five minutes.
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Creative Corporate Go 

When I was first approached
by the Malaysian Institute
of Corporate Governance

(MICG) to conduct a workshop on “Crea-
tive Corporate Governance”, I hardly knew
anything at all about corporate governance.
Fortunately, I am a firm believer that crea-
tivity can be applied to almost any topic.
All I needed to do was to understand the
broad perspective of corporate governance
and then identify areas where creativity can
be applied.

More than 60 company directors, CEOs
and senior managers, including several
from the public sector attended the half day
workshop on Creative Corporate Govern-
ance on 23 September this year jointly or-
ganised by MICG and the Malaysian Insti-
tute of Management (MIM). Participants
were initially sceptical. Could we really
apply creativity to such a serious topic as
corporate governance?

The session was dynamic with lots of
questions and comments from the partici-
pants. The end result was that they left con-
vinced that creativity could indeed be ap-
plied to corporate governance. Let me now
share with you some of the things that were
presented and discussed at the workshop.

What is Corporate Governance
“Corporate governance is … holding the

balance between economic and social goals
and between individual and communal
goals. The governance framework is there
to encourage the efficient use of resources
and equally to require accountability for the
stewardship of those resources. The aim is
to align as nearly as possible the interests of
individuals, corporations and society. The
incentive to corporations is to achieve their
corporate aims and to attract investment.
The incentive for states is to strengthen their
economies and discourage fraud and mis-
management.” 1

Why Corporate Governance?
In their book, Power and Accountability,

Monks and Minow have noted that “Corpo-
rations determine far more than any other
institution the air we breathe, the quality of
the water we drink, even where we live. Yet
they are not accountable to anyone.”

Knowledge has surpassed machines and
the stored value of money itself, as the driv-
ing force behind the world economy. In the
recent past, companies learned they could
create better products more efficiently with
the full mental participation of their em-
ployees. Today, investors are learning that
participation by shareholders also adds
value. Venture capitalists who are willing
to invest ideas, as well as money, are out-
performing the market.

“The world economy is on the threshold of
unprecedented development and integration,
but this trend will not come to full fruition
unless global investors receive equitable
treatment, minority shareholders are assured
of more transparency in financial reporting,
and barriers to ef fective proxy voting are
removed. I believe that we will achieve sig-
nificant progress on these issues toward the
ultimate goal of global shareholder democ-
racy. This will serve the economic aims of
all parties —countries and companies and
investors,”2

Applying Creativity to
Corporate Governance

I will not elaborate on what are the pre-
requisites for good corporate governance
since as accountants you would have a rea-
sonably good idea on such practices. Due
to the confines of space, I will share with
you just three areas where creativity can
be applied to Corporate Governance. They
are as below:

• Tabling of Reports at Board Meetings.

• Annual Reports.

• Corporate Creativity Culture.

Tabling of Reports at
Board Meetings

Directors are very busy people. There-
fore, the thicker the report, the less likeli-
hood that it will be read. You need to apply
creativity to make your report interesting,
easy to read, simple to understand yet able
to reflect the true situation of your com-
pany. Sounds impossible? Not really.

The answer lies in the use of graphics,
colours and diagrams. A good analogy can
be made with the cockpit of a plane or the
dashboard of a car. All the critical informa-
tion is available at a glance. The fuel gauge
could represent expenditure versus time
and the budgeted amount. The tempera-
ture indicator could be used to represent
actual income versus targeted level. The
speedometer could provide the business
growth rate. Get the picture? I leave it to
your imagination to figure out the rest for
yourself.

Annual Reports
According to reports, over 90 per cent

of company annual reports get thrown
away without even being opened. A lot of
resources including time and money are
being used to compile these reports. Isn’t
this a great waste of money and resources?
Nevertheless, it is a statutory requirement.

The Annual Report can be used to a great
advantage as a highly effective marketing
tool. The envelope could be designed to
entice the recipient to open it. An excel-
lent example of this is the Readers’ Digest
magazine. The Annual Report cover should

By Dr. Yew Kam Keong
PRESIDENT & CEO, MINDBLOOM SDN. BHD.

1 Sir Adrian Cadbury, 20 September 1999. Pref-
ace to the World Bank publication, Corporate
Governance :  A Framework for Implementa-
tion.

2 Peter Clapman, co-chair of the ICGN and Sen-
ior Vice President and Chief Counsel, invest-
ments, for TIAA-CREF*, a major institutional
shareholder.
TIAA-CREF* :  Teachers Insurance and An-
nuity Association & College Retirement Eq-
uities Fund. With more than $290 billion in
assets under management, TIAA-CREF is a
leading financial services organisation, a
major institutional investor, and the world’s
largest retirement system.
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l ikewise
be designed
attractively. You
could effectively pro-
mote your company’s
unique services or products
on the cover itself. After all, your
shareholders are your best potential cus-
tomers!

There is a need to revamp the contents.
Don’t follow the stereotype format of the
Chairman’s message, followed by some
basic information about your company’s
business and then the statutory require-
ments mandated by the KLSE and the Reg-
istrar of Companies.

The statutory requirements about your
company’s performance could be pre-
sented in an easy to understand cockpit or
dashboard format as described earlier. The
rest of the report could be effectively used
to position your company into the minds
of your shareholders. Treat them like your
VIP clients. Invite them to a tour of your
company’s premises and round it up with
a high-tea. Give them discount coupons to
purchase your products and services.

Corporate Creativity Culture
Your company’s route to Creative Cor-

porate Governance starts with the compo-
sition of your board members. Good cor-
porate governance demands that you have
independent directors for at least half of
your board members. This is where you
could have a diversity of talents. Dynamic
CEOs with good track record, from non-
competing companies are a great choice.
You should have one member chosen for
being visionary, creative and innovative.

At the company operational level, you
need to institute a creative corporate culture
to transform your company into a thinking
organisation at all levels. For this, you could
refer to my best-selling book : You Are Crea-
tive — Let Your Creativity Bloom where I
provided 10 innovative guidelines.

Conclusion
The above are just

three of the areas of Creative
Corporate Governance that I

covered during my workshop. It is
not possible for me to explain to you the
entire contents of my workshop in this
short article. I could do an in-house work-
shop for your company if you think it use-
ful.

The intention of this article is not to get
you to agree with me but to provoke your
interest to explore the application of Crea-
tivity in Corporate Governance. Remem-
ber, creativity and innovation are no longer
options in this K-economy and in this era
of globalisation. It is a necessity for sur-
vival, sustained growth and prosperity.

Note :  The author Dr. Yew Kam Keong (YKK) is an
international speaker, trainer and consultant on
creativity. He conducts creativity workshops for
local and multinational corporations in Malaysia and
other countries. He is also the best-selling author
of the book :  You’re Creative — Let Your Creativity
Bloom. Website :  www.mindbloom.com, e-mail :
ykk@mindbloom.com
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 Glorious Glaciers
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T R AV E L  A N D  L E I S U R E
N E W  Z E A L A N D

T o New Zealanders it is
known as ‘The Coast’ —
a strip of land on the west
coast of the South Island,

bordered by the Southern Alps to the east
and the Tasman Sea on the west. This
sparsely populated area, 600 kilometres in
length and never more than 50 kilometres
wide, overwhelms visitors with mountains,
glaciers, tranquil lakes, rushing rivers, lush
native rainforest, wildlife and a magnificent
coastline.

Living here has always been for the hardy,
gold and coal miners, deer cullers, farmers
and fishermen. The pioneering spirit still

prevails in this rugged and wet area that is
surrounded by awe-inspiring scenery. The
mountains are ever-present and none more
magnificent than ‘Mount Cook’ or Aorangi
in Maori meaning cloud piercer. At 3,764
metres it is the tallest mountain in New Zea-
land. Although not as high as Mount
Kinabalu it is a serious challenge even to
the most experienced mountaineer.

An astonishing 15 metres of snowy pre-
cipitation annually gives rise to 140 gla-
ciers. Of these only two, the Franz Joseph
and Fox Glaciers penetrate the lower tem-
perate rainforests. There is nowhere else
at this latitude where glaciers come within

300 feet above sea level. The Maori myth
on how the Franz Joseph Glacier was cre-
ated is exquisitely encapsulated in its Maori
name — Ka Roimata O Hinehukatere — ‘the
tears of the avalanche girl’. Hinehukatere
enjoyed climbing and one day persuaded
her lover, Tawe, to join her. Near the peaks
of the mountain Tawe fell to his death.
Hinehukatere cried and cried and her tears
at such a high altitude froze to form the
glacier.

I arrived in the small township of Franz
Joseph, population 400, on a wet afternoon.
Not surprising as Franz Joseph has an an-
nual rainfall of 4,700 millimetres (Malay-

By Peter Anderson

It may not be an activity for the

fainthearted, but an experience

one will never forget.

Franz Joseph Glacier
from the main raod.
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Spahgnum Moss hangs in the
trees on the West Coast, one of
the wettest areas in the world.
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sia 2,000mm) over 180 days
with a record of 838 millimetres
in one day. Further inland re-
ceives 10,000 millimetres per year, one of
the highest rainfalls on earth.

Franz Joseph is situated in the north of
a designated World Heritage Area that cov-
ers 2.6 million hectares and is known to
the Maori as Te Wahipounamu, the place
of greenstone. Practically the whole area
is temperate rainforest with rimu, matai
and kahikatea towering above the smaller
trees, lichens, pungas and ferns. The flow-
ering rata and kamahi add another dimen-
sion to the summer greens.

Wild orchids and clematis flower along
bush tracks and the sphagnum moss gives
a supernatural atmosphere to the forest.
Forty kilometres south of Franz Joseph is
the township of Fox, population 300, close
to the Fox Glacier. The Fox Glacier is dif-
ferent to Franz Joseph so if you have time,
it is worthwhile to visit them both. The gla-
ciers are the main attraction in this part of
New Zealand. To climb onto the glacier,
whether it is in the winter or summer is an
experience that will not easily be forgotten.

There are several companies that will
guide you onto the glaciers. It is too danger-
ous to attempt by yourself — and they will
supply you with boots, socks and jackets as
well as the bus ride from the town. A half-
day trip to the lower icefall is very reason-
able at NZ$37. The bus departs at 9:15am
and 2:00pm subject to weather conditions.

Franz Joseph Glacier Guides offer you
the experience of a lifetime — a guided
glacier trip to surprise and enthral. Even
though the view from the carpark is just

like a postcard, the less than one-hour walk
to the face will show you nature evolving
on an immense scale. Huge chunks of ice
and rocks are in constant motion and the
sound of crashing rocks in the valleys is
awesome. You will trek through spectacu-
lar ice fall terrain which is normally only
seen by experienced mountaineers. Very
different and very achievable by anyone
who is reasonably fit. Steps are cut into the
glacier every morning, the steep areas are
roped for easier access and with compe-

tent guides even the inexperi-
enced climber will be able to
manage this adventure. In
fact, even if you have never
walked on ice, the guides will
teach you the Franz Joseph
Shuffle and you will be able to
conquer the icefall with rela-
tive ease. The enormity of the
glacier is difficult to describe,
the front face towers 110 feet
high, the height of an 11-sto-
rey building.

On the glacier the scenery
changes, some parts are flat
and tidy as though the clean-
ers have been through while
other parts are strewn with
huge chunks of ice littering
the surface. The surface of the
ice is very responsive to daily
climatic variations. Sunshine
will leave the glacier surface
crisp and textured, rain blue
and translucent, constant
melting produces supernatu-
ral caves and creations, and all
around dripping water forms
into riverlets.

The Waiho River drains the
glacier and the river’s Maori
name means smoking water.

Many attribute this to the colour of the
water caused by the milky suspension of
ground rock that is typical of glacier-fed
rivers. Actually the name is derived by the
mist that often forms over the river when
the warm air is abruptly chilled on contact
with the ice-cold water. Constantly chang-
ing crevasses are one of the dangers that
makes access on or near the glacier una-
vailable unless accompanied by a guide.

An easier way onto the glacier is by heli-
copter. These flights offer breathtaking



November/December 2000Akauntan Nasional60

scenery as you soar amongst Australasia’s
highest mountains before you can take the
opportunity to frolic in the snow. These
flights are ideal for those with time con-
straints but remember that all flights are
dependent on the weather. The glaciers
move faster at the top so landing at 6,000
feet, the scenery is very different.

Here the ice breaks into gigantic blocks
the size of buildings. It is a totally bizarre
landscape especially to non-mountaineers.
If it becomes cloudy, an eerie feeling pre-
vails, as everything is white. The first time
this happened to me I was momentarily
paralysed, the cloud swooped down and for
a moment I thought
I was on another
planet. After what
seemed like ages
but was only a few
minutes, the cloud
lifted and normality
prevailed. The
weather can change
very quickly in this
area so good pilots
and guides are es-
sential.

There are numer-
ous choices to be
made when visiting
the glaciers. You can
trek to the glacier
front then climb up
onto the glacier, fly
over the glaciers or
take a helicopter up
onto the glacier and
walk around the gla-
cier before flying back to the airport.

There are various bush walks around
Franz Joseph; it is a five-kilometre walk or
drive from the township to the glacier
carpark. From here, there are short walks,
from five minutes to the longer eight-hour
return trek to Alex Knob where there are
superb views of the coastline, glacier and
mountains.

Before embarking on the walks, it is ad-
visable to get updated track conditions
from one of the Visitors’ Centres at Franz
Joseph or Fox.

The Visitors’ Centres are a must for all
visitors to this area. The Department of
Conservation maintains them and the staff

N E W  Z E A L A N D

T R AV E L

are very knowledgeable about all aspects
of the flora and fauna of the area. It gives
everyone an insight into the formation and
history of glaciers and general enlighten-
ment of the region.

What New Zealand lacks in four-footed
animals, it makes up for it in bird life. The
mischievous kea (mountain parrot), fan-
tails, tomtits, the melodious bellbird, the
inquisitive weka, kereru (native pigeon)
and the gracious kotoku (white heron) are
some of the birds that can be heard and
seen.

The opportunity to visit the only nesting
colony of the kotoku in New Zealand

should not be missed. Take a scenic jetboat
ride to the Okarito Lagoon Sanctuary
through magnificent scenery, with spec-
tacular views of Mount Cook and Tasman.
A short 500 metre boardwalk through natu-
ral lowland kahikatea forest leads you to
the viewing hide where you can view up to
50 pairs of kotoku.

A one and a half-hour walk around Lake
Matheson, six kilometres from Fox, will
reveal the flora and fauna of this area. On
a clear still day the renowned ‘picture-post-
card’ reflections of Mount Cook and Mount
Tasman are quite stunning. If you follow
the road to Glimpses Beach, there is a
place where there is a magnificent view of

Fox Glacier and Mount Cook across the
meadows.

The areas around Franz Joseph and Fox
offer more than just viewing glaciers : You
can enjoy horse riding, trout and salmon
fishing, golf, jet boating, ski planes, hunt-
ing, white water rafting, kayaking and a seal
colony. After visiting the glaciers, the drive
to Queenstown and Mount Cook will show
a variety of scenery that is unmatched. Rug-
ged coast lines, temperate rainforests, lakes
surrounded by snow-capped mountains,
tussock covered hills and in the autumn (fall
to Americans) a golden landscape that is
beyond description.

Getting there :  Air New Zealand has
daily flights to Christchurch from
Kuala Lumpur via Singapore. From
Christchurch take the TranzAlpine
train, one of the most spectacular train
journeys in the world, to Greymouth.
The TranzAlpine connects with the
InterCity coach at Greymouth Station
to Franz Joseph and Fox Glaciers.
Rental cars are available from
Christchurch and Greymouth for
those wishing to drive. The drive
across the Southern Alps through the
Canterbury ‘High Country’ is spec-
tacular.

Lake Matheson and Mount
Cook, New Zealand’s highest

peak at 12,349 feet.
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N acra 2000 was co-organised by the
Kuala Lumpur Stock Exchange
(KLSE), Malaysian Association of

Certified Public Accountants (MACPA),
Malaysian Institute of Management (MIM)
and the Malaysian Institute of Accountants
(MIA). It was a grand night of excitement
and trepidation for those who at-
tended this function. Despite com-
ing straight from their respective
offices, the ladies managed to find
time to slink into their ‘baju glamor’,
especially for this occasion.

You can call it the Grammys of the
Malaysian corporate world judging
from the who’s who of Directors,
CEOs, MDs and senior management
staff of Malaysian public- listed com-
panies who arrived in their smart
suits, albeit a little late, thanks to the
monsoon downpour. Many reporters
and media representatives assigned
to cover the event were forced to
abandon their journey to the hotel
when they got caught in the massive
traffic snarl that evening. Even the
Guest of Honour for the evening,
Minister of Domestic Trade and
Consumer Affairs, YBhg Tan Sri
Dato’ Haji Muhyiddin bin Haji Mohd
Yassin was not spared from the traf-
fic, but managed to arrive relatively
on time. It was deja vu for some who
recalled the same scenario the pre-
vious year, prompting them to con-
clude that it is customary for the
Nacra event to receive the blessings
of rain from the Almighty.

While waiting for the guest of honour to
arrive, I took the opportunity to mingle
with the guests. Making small talk seemed
to take away the boredom of waiting. I sup-
pose, things are always like this when it
rains. I inched my way to a group of peo-

ple I recognised, to chat and exchange
news. The men in their de rigueur suits and
ties, and the ladies in their Dior suits and
Versace gowns were a sight to behold. One
after another enthused about their busi-
ness ventures and how honoured they
would be if they won the awards, some in

fluent English, others less articulately.
Nevertheless, the essence of their corpo-
rate awareness shone through.

I was jolted out of my reverie when a rep-
resentative from one of the listed compa-
nies started soliloquising in Kelantanese-
tinged Malay. However, language wasn’t

the sole factor that made him stand out. It
was his grit and determination that caught
my attention. A colleague of mine from the
MIM, our co-organiser, was obviously
equally impressed when he turned to me
and said, “He is a ‘champion’ in the mak-
ing. Throughout his trials and tribulations,

he has displayed tremendous tenac-
ity. I think there’s a very good story
in this company.” I fully agreed.

A homegrown automotive parts
manufacturer — with eloquence.
“Kita tanam modal kerana orang
cerita empat bulan dapat pulang mo-
dal (We sunk capital into this busi-
ness because people said that costs
could be recouped in four months),”
said the representative, who is also
the shareholder of the company. But
that prediction proved grossly exag-
gerated. Started in 1988, it was only
in 1992 that the business “nampak
sedikit cahaya (showed some prom-
ise).” Before that, he said, “Kami
mahu menangis, tiada air mata
(Even if we cried, there would be no
tears).” Today, a decade down the
line, the company is an unqualified
success story. Workers now number
almost a thousand; a far cry from the
30 or 40 who started out with him.
In the fledgling years, the company
shipped six containers a month.
These days, more than a thousand
containers leave its factories each
month bound for local and foreign
destinations.

The company’s success story, however,
didn’t reflect its overall strength to be cho-
sen as one of the finalists in the Nacra 2000
that evening. The annual event, which is
organised to promote the highest stand-
ards in the presentation and reporting of
financial and other information of corpo-

Lively NACRA
By Iszudin Mohd Amin

THE DATE :  8 NOVEMBER 2000
THE PLACE : PALACE OF THE GOLDEN HORSES’ BALLROOM

THE SETTING : THE NATIONAL ANNUAL CORPORATE REPORT AWARDS (NACRA) 2000 PRESENTATION CEREMONY
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rate organisations, is based on different
evaluation, criteria and judgment.

As far as Nacra is concerned, in order to
qualify, a company needs to take into ac-
count certain requirements, which include
the following :

A clear and meaningful statement of
the organisation’s mission and vi-
sion, ethical values, its corporate
plan, objectives and strategies for
achieving those objectives.

A statement of the organisation’s
history, its profile and the products/
services it provides.

Performance indicators and sum-
mary of results covering at least
three years’ performance to provide
an indication of changes in results.

Progress towards achievement of
the organisation’s objectives.

Significant developments/events and
their impact on the organisation.

Also important are :

A summary of key shareholders’ in-
formation, including shareholders’
statistics, share price, earnings per
share and dividends per share;

Availability of at least three years’
financial highlights and historical
summaries;

3. Compliance with all applicable ac-
counting standards;

Unqualified auditors’ report;

Promptness of publication, particu-
lars of properties, details on audit
committees; and

No sanctions by regulatory bodies.

In a nutshell, Nacra was organised to
select the best annual reports produced by
listed companies based on these qualities.
In picking the cream of the crop, the se-
lection committee used both quantitative
and qualitative criteria (see Table 1).

When the Master of Ceremonies an-
nounced the arrival of the Honourable
Minister at 8.45pm, the guests made their
way to their tables, which faced the gaily-
decorated stage. The highlights of the

evening commenced with an almost per-
fect turn-out of guests draped in their fin-
est. Present among the illustrious guests
were the Registrar of Companies, YBhg
Datuk Idrus Harun, YBhg Dato’ Mohaiyani
Shamsudin and YM Raja Arshad.

The evening, where the atmosphere was
jovial and merry, began with the opening
speech by the Institute’s President Abdul
Samad Haji Alias. Representing the Organ-
ising Chairman Lam Kee Soon who could
not be present, he highlighted the impor-
tance of the event and how it would ben-
efit companies which adhere to quality re-
porting and greater transparency. He re-
minded that, “The global economies are
leaning towards market orientation where
companies are less protected by traditional
and prescriptive legal rules and regula-
tions. Malaysia is no exception and the shift
to a full-disclosure regime is to be com-
pleted by the year 2001. As such, compa-
nies must protect themselves from the on-
slaught of globalisation through a presen-
tation of excellent financial and corporate
information disclosure.”

As the annual report is literally a window
to the overall health of an organisation, it
is of paramount importance that ‘true’ facts
of the company be presented for assess-
ment by the stakeholders. He added, “…
will lead them into better standards of cor-
porate governance.”

On the same note, Tan Sri Muhyiddin in
his speech, stressed on the importance of
the annual report as an “important docu-

ment that can be used to gauge the overall
credibility of an organisation in terms of
its financial standing, its objectives and its
future prospects.” As the annual report can
be a medium to demonstrate the level of
corporate governance in an organisation,
he called on company directors and those
directly involved in the preparation of the
annual reports to adhere to high standards
of disclosure.

Tan Sri Muhyiddin also commended the
NACRA organisers for playing an impor-
tant role in instilling the spirit of competi-
tiveness among public listed companies in
vying for the awards which in turn had re-
sulted in a dramatic improvement in the
standard of annual reports.

The evening gained momentum when
Tan Sri Muhyiddin launched a dramatic
multimedia presentation prepared by the
MIA’s IT Department. Transfixed by the
sights and sounds of the presentation, the
guests raved about the spectacular pres-
entation afterwards. The self-coined term
‘moviola’ set out the many accomplish-
ments of Nacra from its early days, firmly
entrenching the organisers as the moving
force behind Nacra’s success story.

As dinner began, the evening took an-
other turn; live entertainment from up and
coming Sarawakian vocal powerhouse
Deja Moss. Despite nursing the flu, she
demonstrated her vocal prowess complete
with lithe dance steps. She kept the audi-
ence entertained with her lively rendition
of both international and local favourites,
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T A B L E  1

Tan Sri Muhyiddin (centre) launches the mutimedia presentation, flanked by (from left)
MIA staff Sazalina Kamarudin, CEO of MIM Dr. Tarcisius Chin, MIA President Abdul
Samad, KLSE Committee member Abdul Kadir Hj. Md. Kassim and Yeoh Kee Pin

3
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thrilling them fur-
ther with a track
from her newly re-
leased self-titled
debut album.

The evening’s ex-
citement reached
feverish pitch when
Yeoh Kee Pin, rep-
resenting the Adju-
dication Commit-
tee, climbed up to
the stage to an-
nounce the win-
ners. Before an-
nouncing the re-
sults, Yeoh, who is a
council member of
the Malaysian Asso-
ciation of Certified
Public Accountants
(MACPA), recapped
the adjudication
process. Most im-
portantly, he high-
lighted the need for
“good annual re-
ports to convince po-
tential investors”
that the money-spin-
ner is there. He later
invited Tan Sri
Muhyiddin and
Samad to the stage
to present the
awards to the final-
ists.

At this juncture,
the hall which was
almost at its full ca-
pacity, reverberated with the vibrant
rhythm of ‘Desert Rose’, the title track from
Sting’s latest album Desert Rose. The
catchy melody further stirred the feeling
of anxiety and excitement and one could
almost hear the thumping heartbeats of the
hopefuls. Then , we heard it (in typical
Grammy style complete with drumbeat)
“… and the winner is Kumpulan Guthrie.
Amidst shrieks of excitement from the win-
ners’ table accompanied by resounding ap-
plause from the audience, Tina Turner’s
‘Simply the Best’ filled the 1,000 capacity
room as Kumpulan Guthrie’s Finance Man-
ager, Tong Poh Keow, sprinted on-stage to

Kuala Lumpur
Stock Exchange.

M e a n w h i l e ,
Golden Pharos
Berhad received
top honours for the
Best Annual Report
in Environmental
Repor ting which
was introduced for
the first time this
year. Aimed at en-
hancing environ-
mental awareness
and recognising ef-
for ts towards its
preser vation, this
new award evalu-
ates a company’s
e n v i r o n m e n t a l
management, per-
formance and, re-
search and develop-
ment initiatives.
This year, for its ef-
fort, Island and Pe-
ninsular Berhad
grabbed the Best
Designed Annual
Report, relinquish-
ing its award last
year in the Industry
Excellence Awards
Properties and Ho-
tel category to Sime
UEP Proper ties
Berhad.

This year, the In-
dustry Excellence
Awards for compa-

nies in the main board categor y saw
Perusahaan Otomobil Nasional Berhad tak-
ing top honours in the Consumer Products
category. Last year’s winner in this category,
UMW Holdings Berhad received a Certifi-
cate of Merit for its effort this time. Once
again Petronas Gas Berhad proved to be the
best in the Industrial Products category
making it three years in a row. Among last
year’s winners who successfully retained
their awards this year are Telekom Malay-
sia Berhad in the Trading and Services cat-
egory, Public Bank in the Finance category
and Puncak Niaga Holdings Berhad in the
Construction and Infrastructure Project

receive the coveted award and trophy for
the Most Outstanding Annual Report of the
Year

From the 761 entries received,
Kumpulan Guthrie Berhad emerged victo-
rious for the third consecutive year, clinch-
ing the overall excellence award for the
Most Outstanding Annual Report of the
Year. Not one to be contended easily,
Kumpulan Guthrie Berhad also walked
away with the Presentation award for the
Best Annual Report in Bahasa Malaysia
and the Industry Excellence Award in the
Plantation and Mining Category for com-
panies listed on the main board of the

Abdul Samad presenting a memento to YBhg Tan Sri Muhyiddin

The winner for the most outstanding annual report of the year — Kumpulan Guthrie with
YBhg Tan Sri Muhyiddin and Abdul Samad
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NACRA: FACT FILE

 n NACRA was introduced in 1990 with
the objective of promoting greater
and more effective communication
by organisations through the publi-
cation of timely, informative, factual
and reader-friendly annual reports.

n NACRA is jointly sponsored by the
Kuala Lumpur Stock Exchange,
Malaysian Institute of Management,
Malaysian Institute of Accountants
and Malaysia Association of Certi-
fied Public Accountants.

n NACRA 2000 has a new category on
‘Environmental Repor ting’. This
award seeks to emphasise the need
for reporting of environment issues,
which are of strategic value and im-
portance to the public in general and
to the parties associated with it.

n NACRA past winners for the most
outstanding annual report :
1990 :  Public Bank Bhd.
1991-1996 :  AMMB Holdings Bhd.
1997 :  Public Bank Bhd.
1998-2000 :   Kumpulan Guthrie Bhd.

Companies category. A total of 17 Certifi-
cates of Merit were given to a wide range of
companies that included Land and General
Berhad, Tenaga Nasional Berhad, HICOM
Holdings Berhad, Arab-Malaysian Finance
Berhad and Projek Penyelenggaraan
Lebuhraya Berhad.

Just what is it that differentiates the win-
ners from the other contenders? Tan Sri
Azman Hashim, for six-time winner Arab-
Malaysian Finance Bhd, said there was no
magic formula to its success other than
“just basic good corporate reporting.”
Echoing Arab Malaysian’s emphasis on
good corporate reporting was Telekom
Malaysia’s Khir bin Abdul Rahman who
said that the company is extremely proud
to be among the winners and that its an-
nual report is also available in CD format.
Kumpulan Guthrie Berhad’s Group Chief
Executive, Tan Sri Dato’ Khalid Ibrahim
said, “NACRA has played an important role
in fostering good corporate repor ting
which has resulted in a general improve-
ment in annual reports.”
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NACRA 2000 AWARD WINNERS

OVERALL EXCELLENCE AWARD

Most Outstanding Annual Report of the Year
Kumpulan Guthrie Berhad

PRESENTATION AWARDS

Best Annual Report in Bahasa Malaysia
Kumpulan Guthrie Berhad

Best Designed Annual Report
Island & Peninsular Berhad

Best Annual Report in Environmental Reporting
Golden Pharos Berhad

INDUSTRY EXCELLENCE AWARDS

Main Board
Consumer Products Perusahaan Otomobil Nasional Berhad
Industrial Products Petronas Gas Berhad
Trading & Services Telekom Malaysia Berhad
Finance Public Bank Berhad
Properties & Hotels Sime UEP Properties Berhad
Construction & Infrastructure
Project Companies Puncak Niaga Holdings Berhad
Plantations & Mining Kumpulan Guthrie Berhad

Second Board
Industrial Products Tien Wah Press Holdings Berhad
Trading & Services Computer Systems Advisers (M) Berhad

Certificates of Merit
AMMB Holdings Berhad; Arab-Malaysian Finance Berhad; Chemical Company of
Malaysia Berhad; Fraser & Neave Holdings Berhad; Gamuda Berhad; Golden Hope
Plantations Berhad; Guthrie Ropel Berhad; HICOM Holdings Berhad; Highlands &
Lowlands Berhad; Land & General Berhad; Nationwide Express Courier Services
Berhad; Projek Penyelenggaraan Lebuhraya Berhad; Public Finance Berhad; Sapura
Motors Berhad; Sime Darby Berhad; Tenaga Nasional Berhad; UMW Holdings Berhad.

Abdul Samad, Dato’ Mohaiyani, Tan Sri Muhyiddin, Abdul Kadir, Raja Arshad, Jen (B)
Tan Sri Dato’ Zain Hashim
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Over 200 accountants and senior ex-
ecutives converged in the beauti-
ful city of Kota Kinabalu or KK, as

it is fondly known, to attend the
Regional Accountants’ Conference
(RAC 2000). For two days, these
professionals were absorbed in a
series of talks on the emerging chal-
lenges of the digital frontier. Held
for the first time in Sabah, the par-
ticipants were enchanted by the
tranquil beauty of the state, aptly
known as the Land Below the Wind.
Among the distinguished speakers
at the Conference were Baron
Frederik van Tuyll van Serooskerken
and Dr. Ghazali Atan. Sabah Deputy
Chief Minister cum Minister of In-
dustrial Development, YB Datuk
Tham Nyip Shen, who declared
open the Conference with the tra-

ditional three strikes on the gong, spoke
on the need for Malaysians to equip them-
selves with the knowledge to meet the chal-

E-Volution :  Emerging Challenges
in the Digital Frontier

REGIONAL ACCOUNTANTS’ CONFERENCE (RAC) 2000, 14-15 NOVEMBER
All stories compiled by :  Nirmala Ramoo

lenges of the digital frontier
A casual get-together was organised the

day before the Conference for the del-
egates, speakers, sponsors, exhibi-
tors and committee members.
Dressed to the theme of the night,
‘balik kampung’, some sporting in-
dividuals came very casually in ‘kain
pelikat’ and sandals. The food was
excellent as the guests helped them-
selves to a sumptuous spread of
Malaysian and uniquely Sabahan
delicacies.

On the evening of the first day of
the Conference, the Sabah Branch
celebrated the 33rd anniversary of
the Institute with a special dinner,
which was attended by 420 mem-
bers, delegates, speakers and
guests. It was a feast for the palate
and the soul as everyone enjoyed

Main Conference in the Grand Ballroom of Shangri-La’s Tanjung Aru Resort

Alexandra Thien introduces speaker, Ong Hock Siew
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Conference Organising Chairman,
Michael Tong addressing the delegates

Traditional Sabahan welcome for the
Guest of Honour, YB Datuk Musa Aman

Council Member, Abdul Rahim Hamid
in his ‘kampung style’ with city
member, Simon Lau Delegates from the Peninsular went for the delights

Plenary session in progress

the food and entertainment comprising
cultural dances, comedy sketches, singing
and performances by volunteers. Among
the activities for the night was the hand-
over ceremony of the Branch Chairman-
ship by Michael Tong to newly appointed
Chairwoman Alexandra Thien. On hand to
witness the hand-over was guest of hon-
our YB Datuk Musa Aman, Minister in the
Chief Minister’s Department.

Sabah Branch is pleased with the posi-
tive comments from the participants of the
RAC 2000 who said that KK was a welcome
change and the experience most enjoyable,
especially the warm Sabahan hospitality.
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One for the album – YB Datuk Haji Abdul Aziz Haji Husain
flanked by Abdul Rahim (left) and YB Peter Nansian

REGIONAL ACCOUNTANTS’ CONFERENCE 2000/  SARAWAK

I N S T I T U T E  N E W S

Some 320 members and guests at-
tended the Sarawak Branch annual
dinner held in Kuching in October.

Sarawak State Secretary YB Datuk Haji
Abdul Aziz Haji Husain was the guest of
honour. Also present were former Sarawak
Branch Chairman YB Peter Nansian and
MIA Council Member Abdul Rahim Abdul
Hamid who represented MIA President
Abdul Samad Alias.

In his speech, Datuk Haji Abdul Aziz said
the Government was taking the necessary
steps to encourage the use of IT among the

Sarawak Branch Annual Dinner

Michael Tong handing over office to
Alexandra Thien

Left to Right :  Peter Thien, Alexandra Thien, Abdul Rahim Hamid and YB
Datuk Musa Aman enjoying the night’s entertainment

masses to create a K-Community. He also
urged MIA to help improve accounting
methods through IT. Meanwhile, Abdul
Rahim who read out the speech on behalf
of Abdul Samad assured the audience that
MIA was looking ahead to address the
compelling concerns for greater transpar-
ency in the profession.

During the dinner, YB Peter Nansian pre-
sented souvenirs to the 1999/2000 commit-
tee members in appreciation of their support
and contribution to the Branch. Also hon-
oured at the dinner was the MIA Dart Team,

which put up a commendable effort to win
the Dart 2000 Inter-Professional Games.
They received their prizes from Dinner Or-
ganising Chairman Si Kiang Seng.

The evening’s highlights included a
lucky draw. For once, members and guests
preferred not be the winners as the per-
son holding the lucky ticket was required
to answer questions before claiming his/
her prize. It was an amusing sight as the
lucky ticket was passed so quickly around
the table as each one tried to avoid being
the one to answer the questions.

MIA Dart Captain Teo Kin Kai (centre) being congratulated
by Si Kiang Seng
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New International IT Guidance Focuses on
Maximising IT Investments

I
n a digital world, the effective manage-
ment of information, information sys-
tems and communications is of critical

importance to the success and survival of an
organisation. Three new guidelines issued
by the International Federation of Account-
ants’ (IFAC’s) IT Committee are designed
to help executives meet this challenge.

Titles of the new guidelines are :
n Acquiring Information Technology
n The Implementation of Information

Technology Solutions
n IT Delivery and Support

Additional titles in the series are :
n Managing Security of Information

n Managing IT Planning for Business
Impact

These guidelines, which represent the
best practices worldwide, are designed to
promote executive understanding of key is-
sues affecting the management of informa-
tion and communications.

IFAC IT Committee Chairman, Everett
Johnson said : “Many organisations recog-
nise the potential benefits that technology
can yield. However, executives need to
have an appreciation for and a basic under-
standing of the risks and constraints of IT
in order to provide effective direction and
adequate controls. The IT Committee’s

○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○
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SIC Issues a Draft Interpretation

S
IC recently published a Draft Inter-
pretation to clarify accounting is-
sues under International Account-

ing Standards. The Draft Interpretation is
available both in hard copy format and also
on IASC’s website, www.iasc.org.uk. Com-
ments should be submitted in writing by
20 December 2000. The Draft Interpreta-
tion is :

n SIC-D27 :  Transactions in the Le-
gal Form of a Lease and Leaseback
This Draft Interpretation addresses

whether a transaction that takes the legal
form of a lease of assets from an enterprise
and a lease of the same assets back to the
same enterprise is a lease under IAS 17. In
the example arrangement, the SIC agreed
that the series of transactions are linked
together and should be accounted for as
one transaction. The substance of the par-
ticular transaction is that a lease does not
exist under IAS 17.

The SIC also considered how an enter-
prise should account for the fee it receives
and whether the separate investment ac-
count and the sublease payment obliga-
tions represent assets and liabilities of the
enterprise. Factors such as whether there

is continuing involvement in the form of
activities necessary to retain the fee, the
terms of guarantee arrangements, and the
risk of repayment of the fee are considered
in determining the appropriate accounting
treatment for the fee. The definitions of an
asset and liability are applied in determin-
ing whether assets and liabilities exist.

In the example arrangement, the SIC
concluded that the substance of the obli-
gation assumed by the enterprise is a guar-
antee of the sublease payment obligations
rather than a direct obligation to pay sub-
lease payments, and since the enterprise
acts similar to that of an agent and does
not control the assets, the separate invest-
ment account and sublease payment obli-
gations do not meet the definitions of an
asset and liability respectively. The fee is
recognised as income when execution of
the agreements is finalised, because
amongst other reasons, the possibility of
payments under the guarantee obligation
is remote and the use of the underlying
asset by the enterprise during the term of
the lease is not considered a significant act
in terms of earning the fee.

Commenting on the new Draft Interpre-
tation, Paul Cherry, Chairman of the Stand-

ing Interpretations Committee said, “This
Draft Interpretation addresses a particular
case of evaluating the substance and form
of a transaction. The SIC evaluated a com-
plex fact pattern involving several parties
and a transaction in the legal form of a lease
of assets and a lease of the same assets
back to the same enterprise. The Interpre-
tation requires a careful analysis of a fact
pattern in its entirety and illustrates that
not every transaction having the legal form
of a lease is considered a lease for account-
ing purposes under IAS 17.”

Paul Cherry added, “The Draft Interpre-
tation considers a particular arrangement.
While a careful reading of the facts of that
arrangement is required for a full under-
standing of the approach, the Interpreta-
tion concludes that in that particular ar-
rangement, the series of transactions
should be accounted for as one transaction
and that the substance of the arrangement
is that a lease under IAS 17 does not exist.
The Interpretation also provides guidance
on how an enterprise should account for a
fee it receives and whether other aspects
of the transaction give rise to assets and
liabilities of the enterprise.”

guidelines meet this important need.”

For more information about the guide-
lines, visit the IFAC online bookstore at
www.ifac.org/store and click on the tech-
nology area. The guidelines may be pur-
chased separately or as a series. Individual
prices are US$22 (US$1= RM3.80) for the
online version and US$25 for print copies.
All five guidelines are also available as part
of an online IT subscription service for a
fee of US$45. A printed bound copy of the
five guidelines is US$50.

Additional IT guidance available through
the IFAC website includes a paper on internet
tax and an IT checklist for executives.
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A
ccountants looking for guidance on
how to effectively operate in the
 global marketplace will benefit

from the International Federation of Ac-
countants’ (IFAC) publication of its annual
standards and guidance. The full text of all
IFAC pronouncements as of July 1, 2000 is
available in a series of handbooks and for
the first time, as part of an online subscrip-
tion service.

Guidance includes the following :

n International Auditing Standards and
Practice Statements

n International Management Account-
ing Practice Statements

n Code of Ethics

n International Education Guidelines

n International Information Technology
Guidelines

n International Public Sector Accounting
Standards

This year’s handbook series and online
subscription feature the following new
guidance :

Latest International Standards for Accountants Now Available
n Four new international standards on au-

diting on assurance services, external
confirmations, going concerns and com-
munications of audit matters with those
charged with governance.

n Three new information technology
guidelines on the acquisition of IT, im-
plementation of IT solutions and IT serv-
ice delivery and support.

n The first eight International Public Sec-
tor Accounting Standards, which are ap-
plicable to all levels of government.

n A summary of a new guide entitled “Set-
ting Strategic Directions in Small and
Medium Enterprises: A Guide for Pro-
fessional Accounting Advisors.”

The fee for the full online subscription to
IFAC standards and guidance is US$200.
(Discounts are available to students, edu-
cators and individuals from developing
countries.) The subscription entitles indi-
viduals to access and download all pro-
nouncements in the areas mentioned above
for the period of one year, which begins on

the date of purchase. Full online subscrib-
ers will also receive announcements on all
new guidance issued during their subscrip-
tion period. To subscribe online, visit the
IFAC bookstore at www.ifac.org/store.

Individuals also have the option of obtain-
ing a print subscription to all guidance in ef-
fect July 1, 2000 for a fee of US$150. (Dis-
counts to students, educators and individu-
als from developing countries also apply.)
Final guidance issued after July 1, 2000 may
be purchased on an individual basis (gener-
ally $25 per standard). However, print cop-
ies of all exposure drafts will be sent free of
charge to subscribers through June 30, 2001.

Individuals who choose not to purchase
the full series of handbooks or online sub-
scription, may purchase an individual tech-
nical section subscription for a reduced fee
and receive only the pronouncements (in-
cluding exposure drafts) available in the
specific technical area requested. Public
sector accounting standards are available
free of charge. In most cases, both print
and online technical section subscriptions
are available.

○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○

T
he International Federation of Ac-
countants (IFAC) is seeking com-
ments on a proposed new Interna-

tional Auditing Statement (IAPS) entitled
“The Audit of International Commercial
Banks.” The new statement has been de-
veloped by IFAC’s International Auditing
Practices Committee (IAPC) to provide
practical assistance to auditors and to pro-
mote good practice in applying Interna-
tional Standards on Auditing (ISAs) to the
audit of banks.

The proposed statement focuses on the
various stages of the audit of a bank with
emphasis on those matters which are ei-
ther peculiar to or of particular importance
in such an audit. Also included for illustra-

tive purposes are appendices that contain
examples of :

n Typical internal control procedures and
substantive audit procedures for two of
the major operating areas of a bank —
lending and treasury operations;

n Financial ratios commonly used in the
analysis of a bank’s financial condition
and performance;

n Risks and issues in securities operations,
private banking and asset management;
and

n Typical warning signs of fraud in bank-
ing operations.

”Banks play a vital role in economic life

and the continued strength and stability of
the banking system is a matter of general
public concern. The separate roles of bank
supervisors and external auditors are impor-
tant in this regard. This new guidance sets
out the auditor’s role with respect to bank
audits and considers the special reporting
relationships between auditors and bank
supervisory and other regulatory authori-
ties,” said Dietz Mertin, IAPC chairman.

The exposure draft may be downloaded
from IFAC’s website at www.ifac.org. Com-
ments are due by January 31, 2001. They may
be e-mailed to EDComments@ifac.org or
mailed to the attention of the Technical Di-
rector at the IFAC Secretariat in New York.

IFAC Invites Comments on
New Statement on Audits of Commercial Banks

○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○



November/December 2000Akauntan Nasional

RECOMMENDED PRACTICE GUIDE

AUDITORS’ REPORTS — COMPANIES ACT, 1965
COMMENTARY

The requirements of an audit of bodies incorporated under the
Companies Act, 1965 (hereby referred to as the Act) are set out
in Part (VI) of the Act, and the power and duties of auditors as to
report on accounts are set out in Section 174 of the Act.

Section 174(l) of the Act requires the auditors to report to the
members of the company on the accounts required to be laid be-
fore the company in a general meeting. The contents of the audi-
tor’s report are set out in Section 174(2) of the Act.

Foreign Companies
Foreign companies, although not incorporated under the Act,

are required to keep accounting and other records in Malaysia
that are sufficient to explain the transactions and financial posi-
tion of the foreign company that relate to its operations in Malay-
sia. The records must be audited by a person approved under
Section 8 of the Act.

Reference :  Section 336A, Companies Act, 1965

Auditors
An individual is allowed to undertake audits pursuant to the Act,

only if he has been granted approval by the Minister of Finance.
Reference :  Section 8, Companies Act, 1965

An approved company auditor is defined in Section 4 of the Act
and provisions for audits under the name of a firm and a partner-
ship are set out in Section 9(4) and 9(7) respectively.

As such, all reports required to be signed by an auditor pursuant
to the Act must be by an approved company auditor in Malaysia.

Reporting Framework
Audits of companies are governed by the following :

i) Provisions of the Act;

ii) Conditions laid down by the Minister of Finance in the issu-
ance of the audit licence;

iii) Promulgations of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (MIA)
such as the Approved Standards on Auditing and the By-Laws
(On Professional Conduct and Ethics); and

iv) Applicable approved accounting standards issued pursuant to
the Financial Reporting Act, 1997.

Accounts
The Act defines ‘accounts’ as consisting of profit and loss accounts,

balance sheets and includes notes or statements required by the Act
(other than auditors’ reports or directors’ reports) and attached or
intended to be read with profit and loss accounts or balance sheets.

Reference :  Section 4, Companies Act, 1965
Financial statements, are defined in the Malaysian Accounting

Standards Board (MASB) Standard 1 on ‘Presentation of Finan-
cial Statements’ as including the following components :

Reference :  MASB 1, Paragraph 8
i) Balance sheet;
ii) Income statement;

iii) A statement showing either :
b) all changes in equity; or
c) changes in equity other than those arising from capital

transactions with owners and distribution to owners.

iv) Cash flow statement; and

v) Accounting policies and explanatory notes.

These are the same components defined as the term ‘accounts’
in the Act. Although the definition in the Act does not include
‘Cash Flow Statement’ as a statement required by the Act, the
Ninth Schedule of the Act requires that a ‘Statement of Changes
in Financial Position’ be annexed to every profit and loss account
and balance sheet.
Reference :  MASB 1, Paragraph 90; MASB 5, Cash Flow Statement

As both definitions in MASB and the Act refer to the same com-
ponents, the reference to accounts and financial statements are
synonymous.

An auditor’s report is issued in conjunction with the require-
ments of the Act and other legislations, where appropriate, such
as the Housing Developers (Control and Licensing) Act, 1966,
Co-operative Societies Act, 1963, Banking and Financial Institu-
tions Act, 1989, and the Insurance Act, 1996. Under such circum-
stances, members should consider whether non-compliance with
these legislations would materially affect the financial statements.

‘Consideration of Laws and Regulations in an Audit of Financial
Statements’ requires that the audit should be planned in order to
enable the auditor to determine the effects of non-compliance (if
any), and the material amounts and disclosures required in the fi-
nancial statements. The auditor may be required to disclose these
non-compliance to the relevant authorities. The duty of confidenti-
ality can be overridden by legislation or the courts of law. How-
ever, consideration must be given to the auditor’s responsibility to
public interest. In all such cases, legal advice should be obtained.

Reference :  AI 250
In addition, there are occasions when an auditor may be called

upon to express an opinion on financial statements or certain ele-
ments of a set of financial statements prepared for other purposes.

This Guide serves as a guidance for the preparation of audit
reports pursuant to Section 174 of the Act.

The basic principles and procedures set out shall apply and be
adapted where necessary to cases where an auditor expresses an
opinion on certain elements of a set of financial statements pre-
pared for purposes other than the annual requirements.

Registers refer to those required to be kept under the Act and
these exclude other records and journals which are commonly
referred to as registers.

 Reference :  Section 11, Companies Act, 1965

The New Form of Audit Report
Whilst Section 174(2) of the Act sets down the requirements for
the contents of the auditor’s report, it does not set out the pre-
scribed form.

C O M PA N I E S  AC T, 1 9 6 5
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The most significant changes in the new form is in the require-
ment to describe the management’s and auditor’s responsibili-
ties, the nature of the audit and the work that the auditor has
performed. These clarifications will alleviate users’ misconcep-
tion on the role and responsibility of the auditor, and the extent of
assurance that an audit work provides. The following are basic
elements of the auditor’s report, some of which is already part of
the current requirements for auditor’s report :
Reference :  AI 700 — The Auditor’s Report on Financial Statements

i) Title — Report of the Auditors.

ii) Addressee — Members (shareholders) of the Company.

iii) Introduction — Role and responsibility of the Directors and
the Auditor.
a) This identifies the financial statements being audited in-

cluding the date of and period covered. Financial state-
ments are frequently accompanied by supplementary in-
formation and a Chairman’s statement in the Annual Re-
port. These are not specifically required to be audited or
reported upon and the auditor’s report on the financial
statements should indicate this clearly. The usual manner
is to identify the statements included in the auditor’s re-
port by referring to the pages of these financial statements
being reported on. However, members attention is drawn
to the requirements of AI 720 in arriving at their opinion,
which requires that there should be no material inconsist-
encies or material misstatement of facts;

Reference :  AI 720 — Other Information in Documents
Containing Auditing Financial Statements

b) It states that the preparation of the financial statements
are the responsibility of the company’s directors; and

c) It states that the responsibility of the auditor is to express
an opinion on the financial statements.

iv) Scope
It covers all the requirements set out in the approved stand-
ards on auditing issued by MIA. A statement that the audit
was planned and performed to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement should also be included.
It should also describe the audit as including :
a) Examining, on a test basis, evidence to support the finan-

cial statements amounts and disclosures;
b) Assessing the accounting principles used in the prepara-

tion of the financial statements;
c) Assessing the significant estimates made by management

in the preparation of the financial statements; and
d) Evaluating the overall financial statements presentation.

The report should include a statement by the auditor that
the audit provides a reasonable basis for the opinion above.

v) Reporting
This sets out the reporting responsibility of the auditor and
the requirements pursuant to Section 174(2) of the Act (the
Audit Opinion).

vi) Name(s) and Signature(s) of Signing Auditor(s)
Auditor’s signature, name and licence number.

vii) Name and Address of Auditing Firm
Audit firm’s name, number and address should be stated. It is
also the practice for some companies to provide a separate
listing of the companies auditors and their addresses. Where
the address is shown as an attachment, it need not be dis-
closed in the audit report.

viii)Date of the Report
All reports must be dated and should not be earlier than the
date the financial statements are approved by the Board of
Directors and the relevant statutory declarations as required
by the Act.

Reference :  AI 560 — Subsequent Events
AI 580 — Management Representations

Audit Opinion
Audit reports must be clear and concise. An unqualified report

must not contain any reservation or important explanation which
may be construed as a qualification and cast doubts on the reli-
ability of the audited financial statements and be written in an
affirmative language.

An unqualified opinion is given when the auditor is satisfied in
all material respects with the matters required to be reported upon.

Accounting Requirement
Accounting and other records are required to be kept by the

company pursuant to Section 167(1) of the Act to enable true and
fair accounts to be prepared from time to time and to be kept in
such manner as to enable them to be properly audited.

True and fair is not defined. It is generally accepted that ac-
counts which are prepared in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, which includes the consistent application
of accounting policies, applicable approved accounting standards
and the requirements of the Ninth Schedule; and the provisions
of the Act, which provide adequate disclosure of information rel-
evant to the proper understanding of the financial statements that
would give a true and fair view.

The Companies Act, 1965, amended by the Companies (Amend-
ment) Act, 1998 includes a provision to require a company to ap-
ply approved accounting standards in the preparation of accounts.
It also provides that where any conflict or inconsistency arises
between the provisions of an applicable approved accounting
standard and a provision in the Ninth Schedule in their respec-
tive applications to the accounts or consolidated accounts of a
company, the provision of the applicable approved accounting
standards shall prevail.

Reference :  Section 166A — Compliance with Approved
Accounting Standards

There are, however, occasions where compliance with an appli-
cable approved accounting standard may be misleading or would
not give a true and fair view. Under such circumstances the direc-
tors are not required to comply with the applicable approved ac-
counting standards.

Reference :  Section 166A(4), Companies Act, 1965
However, the directors have to :

i) disclose by way of a notes to the accounts their reason for not
preparing the accounts or consolidated accounts in accord-
ance with the approved accounting standard; and
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ii) give particulars in the notes of the quantified financial effect
in the accounts or consolidated accounts if the relevant ap-
proved accounting standard was complied with.

The Act requires the profit and loss account and balance sheet
to be audited before they are laid before the company at its an-
nual general meeting.

Reference :  Section 169(1),(3),(4), Companies Act, 1965
Section 174(1) of the Act requires an auditor to report to the

members on the accounts required to be laid before the company
in a general meeting. Accounts include the statement of changes
in financial position and as such, this statement should also be
audited.

Reporting Responsibilities
The reporting responsibility pursuant to Section 174(2) of the

Act, requires the auditor to state the following matters in his re-
port to members of the company :

a) Whether the accounts and, if the company is a holding com-
pany for which consolidated accounts are prepared, the con-
solidated accounts are in his opinion properly drawn up :
i) so as to give a true and fair view of the matters required

by Section 169 of the Act to be dealt with in the accounts
and, if there are consolidated accounts, in the consolidated
accounts;

ii) in accordance with the provisions of this Act so as to give
a true and fair view of the company’s affairs; and

iii) in accordance with the applicable approved accounting
standards; and

aa) if in his opinion the accounts, and where applicable the con-
solidated accounts, have not been drawn up in accordance with
a particular applicable approved accounting standard :
i) whether in his opinion the accounts or consolidated ac-

counts, as the case may be, would, if drawn up in accord-
ance with the approved accounting standard, have given a
true and fair view of the matters required by Section 169
to be dealt with in the accounts or consolidated accounts;

ii) if in his opinion the accounts or consolidated accounts, as
the case may be, would not, if so drawn up, have given a
true and fair view of those matters; his reasons for hold-
ing that opinion;

iii) if the directors have given the particulars of the quanti-
fied financial effect under Section 166A(5), his opinion con-
cerning the particulars; and

iv) in a case to which neither subparagraph (ii) nor (iii) ap-
plies, particulars of the quantified financial effect on the
accounts or consolidated accounts of the failure to so draw
up the accounts or consolidated accounts, as the case may
be;

b) whether the accounting and other records and the registers
required by this Act to be kept by the company and, if it is a
holding company, by the subsidiaries other than those of which
he has not acted as auditor have been, in his opinion, properly
kept in accordance with the provisions of this Act;

c) in the case of consolidated accounts :
i) the names of the subsidiaries (if any) of which he has not

acted as auditor;

ii) whether he has considered the accounts and auditor’s re-
ports of all subsidiaries of which he has not acted as audi-
tor, being accounts that are included (whether separately
or consolidated with other accounts) in the consolidated
accounts;

iii) whether he is satisfied that the accounts of the subsidiar-
ies that are consolidated with other accounts are in form
and content appropriate and proper for the purposes of
the preparation of the consolidated accounts, and whether
he has received satisfactory information and explanations
as required by him for those purposes; and

iv) whether the auditor’s report on the accounts of any sub-
sidiary was made subject to any qualification (other than
a qualification that is not material in relation to the con-
solidated accounts), or included any comment made un-
der subsection (3), and, if so, particulars of the qualifica-
tion or comment;

d) any defect or irregularity in the accounts or consolidated ac-
counts and any matter not set out in the accounts or consoli-
dated accounts without regard to which a true and fair view of
the matters dealt with by the accounts or consolidated accounts
would not be obtained; and

e) if he is not satisfied as to any matter referred to in paragraph
(a), (b), or (c), his reasons for not being so satisfied.

 In addition, the auditor is required by Subsection (3) of Sec-
tion 174 to form an opinion on the following matters :

a) whether he has obtained all the information and explanations
that he required;

b) whether proper accounting and other records (including reg-
isters) have been kept by the company as required by this
Act;

c) whether the returns received from branch offices of the com-
pany are adequate; and

d) whether the procedures and methods used by a holding com-
pany or a subsidiary in arriving at the amount taken into any
consolidated accounts were appropriate to the circumstances
of the consolidation; and he shall state in his report particu-
lars of any deficiency, failure or shortcoming in respect of any
matter referred to in this subsection.

This report is to be made on the basis of exception reporting,
i.e. the auditor only makes reference to the circumstances if he is
not satisfied with his conclusion.

Both MASB 1 and Paragraph 4 of the Ninth Schedule provide
that the cash flow statement is a component of the financial state-
ments. As such, pursuant to MASB 5 and Section 166A of the Com-
panies Act, 1965, it has to be reported accordingly.

A) Compliance with the provisions of the Act, Section 174 (8)
states :

“If an auditor, in the course of the performance of his duties as
auditor of a company, is satisfied that :

a) there has been a breach or non-observance of any of the pro-
visions of this Act; and

b) the circumstances are such that in his opinion the matter has
not been or will not be adequately dealt with by comment in

P R A C T I C E  G U I D E
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his report on the accounts or consolidated accounts or by
bringing the matter to the notice of the directors of the com-
pany or, if the company is a subsidiary, of the directors of its
holding company, he shall forthwith report the matter in writ-
ing to the Registrar.”

Clarification has been obtained from the Registrar of Compa-
nies on the scope of Section 174(8) of the Act, in particular the
term “in the course of the performance of his duties as auditor of
a company.”

The Registrar has confirmed that in his opinion this section
applies to all breaches of the Act noted by the auditor in the course
of his audit. Thus, all breaches encountered in an audit, whether
relating to the accounts, accounting records or other aspects of
the Act, will have to be reported to the Registrar if the auditor
feels the alternative actions referred to in Section 174(8)(b) of
the Act are inadequate to deal with the matter.

This would also include the Directors’ Report although it is not
part of the accounts that is reported upon by the auditors.

Therefore, in his judgment, the auditor should base on whether
or not to report a breach or non-observance of provisions of the
Act to the Registrar, on the following :

a) consider the evidence of a breach or non-observance and be
satisfied that a breach or non-observance has actually oc-
curred; and

b) form an opinion on whether in the circumstances of a particu-
lar case the matter has been or will be adequately dealt with
in the manner prescribed in Section 174(8)(b) other than by
reporting to the Registrar.

The onus of reporting to the Registrar in such circumstances
has no legal limit as regards to the breach or non-observance and
the decision lies entirely with the reporting auditor.

The reporting requirement makes reference to consolidated
accounts but this is not defined in the Act. Group or group ac-
counts are also not expressly defined in the Act. The Ninth Sched-
ule to the Act, however, only refers to the holding company and
its subsidiary companies.

On the other hand, MASB defines a group as a parent and all its
subsidiaries. It also states that a parent is an enterprise that has
one or more subsidiaries. Consolidated financial statements are fi-
nancial statements of a group presented as a single enterprise.

Reference : MASB 11 — Consolidated Financial Statement
and Investment in Subsidiaries

The reporting auditor is appointed pursuant to Section 172 of
the Act. The appointment is for the company and not for the group.

Subsidiaries for which the auditor of the holding company has
not acted as auditor, would include those audited by a firm whose
constituent partners are different from those of the firm auditing
the holding company and audit firms which are not registered in
Malaysia pursuant to the Act and the Accountants Act, 1967.

The concept of whether an audit is not material and pervasive
or otherwise does not operate in respect of Section 174(2)(b), as
it is specific in that accounting and other records and their regis-
ters are either kept in accordance with the Act or otherwise. Thus,
unless the records are unavailable for the same reason, the audi-
tor’s duties clearly require either an adverse or an unqualified
opinion to be reported.

A disclaimer of opinion in respect of accounting and other
records is appropriate when the auditor has not had satisfactory
access to those records. This would normally lead to a general
disclaimer on the financial statements.

B)Exempt Private Companies
 Every company is required to file an Annual Return in the pre-

scribed form as set out in the Eighth Schedule of the Act and to
file together with the accounts of the company. The accounts are
required to be laid before the annual general meeting held on the
date to which the return is made up to.

However, an exempt private company may choose not to file
the accounts with the Registrar. When accounts are not filed an
Exempt Private Company Certificate confirming its status should
be attached to the Annual Return. This is to be signed by a direc-
tor, the company secretary and the auditor.

In addition, pursuant to Section 165A of the Act, the auditors
are required to state :

a) whether the company has in his opinion kept proper account-
ing records and other books during the period covered by
those accounts;

b) whether the accounts have been audited in accordance with
this Act;

c) whether the auditor’s report on the accounts was made sub-
ject to any qualification, or included any comment made un-
der Section 174(3), and, if so, particulars of the qualification
or comment; and

d) whether as at the date to which the profit and loss account
has been made up, the company appeared to have been able
to meet its liabilities as and when they fall due.

C)Foreign Companies
 Section 336 of the Act states that the provisions of the Act

whould apply to foreign companies operations in Malaysia. The
auditor shall be required to report on these operations pursuant
to Section 174 of the Act.

D)Financial Institutions
 When the accounts or Directors’ Report of a financial institu-

tion incorporate modifications and exceptions as determined by
the Bank Negara Malaysia in accordance with the Act, it is neces-
sary for the auditor to state this fact in his report.

Reference :  Section 169(19), Companies Act, 1965
The form of the accounts and the auditor’s report are set out in

GP8 issued by the Bank Negara Malaysia.

E)Insurance Companies
 The auditor’s report to members on the accounts of insurance

companies should comply with the requirements of the Act. In
addition, the auditor is required to report in accordance with the
provision to the Fourth Schedule of the Insurance Act, 1996 on
the accounts lodged with the Director-General of Insurance.

Reference :  Section 2(1) of Part I
If the accounts presented to members (shareholders) are pre-

pared in the form prescribed by the Insurance Act 1996 as pro-
vided in Section 169(18) of the Companies Act 1965, the report of
the auditor should include a statement to this effect.

The form of the accounts and the auditor’s report is set out in
GP I5 issued by the Bank Negara Malaysia.
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DATES TO
REMEMBER FOR 2000

EXAMINATION

1 September

Closing date for registration as a

student to sit for the examination of

that year.

15 October

Closing date for submission of ex-

amination entry for the examination

of that year.

December

Examination.

of the Malaysian Institute of Taxation

One of the main objectives of the

Malaysian Institute of Taxation

(MIT) is to train and build up a

pool of qualified tax personnel as well as

foster and maintain the highest standard

of professional ethics and competency

among its members.

One avenue of producing qualified tax

personnel is through professional exami-

nations. As such, MIT conducted its first

professional examination in December

1995. To-date, MlT has successfully con-

ducted five examinations. The professional

examinations also seek to overcome the

present shortage of qualified tax practition-

ers in the country.

Examination Structure

The professional examination is cur-

rently held annually and is comprised of

three levels.

Foundation Level

m Taxation I

m Economics & Business Statistics

m Financial Accounting I

Intermediate Level

m Taxation II

m Taxation III

m Company & Business Law

Final Level

m Taxation IV

m Taxation V

m Business & Financial Management

m Financial Accounting II

How to Register

You can contact the Institute’s Secre-

tariat for a copy of the Students’ Guide. The

Guide contains general information on the

examinations and a set of registration

forms, which must be submitted with the

necessary documents to the Secretariat.

Entrance Requirements

(a) Minimum Entry Requirements :

• At least 17 years old.

• At least two principal level passes in the

HSC/STPM examination (excluding

Kertas Am/Pengajian Am) or equivalent.

• Credits in English Language and Math-

ematics and an ordinary pass in Bahasa

Malaysia at MCE/SPM.

(b) Degrees, diplomas and professional

qualifications (local/overseas) recog-

nised by MIT to supersede minimum

requirements in (a).

(c) Full Members of local and overseas

accounting bodies.

Exemption

Exemption from specific papers in the

professional examinations is available, and

the extent of exemption granted will depend

on qualifications attained and course con-

tents as determined by the MIT Council.

Exemption Fees

Foundation RM50.00 per subject

Intermediate RM60.00 per subject

Final RM70.00 per subject

Examination Fees

Foundation RM50.00 per subject

Intermediate RM60.00 per subject

Final RM70.00 per subject

For further enquiries, please contact the Secretariat at Dewan Akauntan, 2 Jalan Tun Sambanthan 3, Brickfields,
50470 Kuala Lumpur. (Tel : 03-2274 5055; Fax : 03-2274 1783)

PROFESSIONAL EXAMINATIONS
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INTRODUCTION
This article begins with a brief back-

ground of accounting standard setting in
Malaysia and the establishment and func-
tions of the MASB. It then goes on to ana-
lyse the general features of the new stand-
ard followed by an analysis of the contents
in terms of the similarities and the differ-
ences between MASB 1 and other related
standards. Comments on other related mat-
ters follow. The conclusion will provide a
summary and an overview of the standard.

BACKGROUND
Prior to the establishment of the MASB,

accounting standard setting in Malaysia was
done by MIA and MACPA. The former is a
regulatory body established under the Ac-
countants Act, 1967; the latter, a ‘subset’ of
MIA, is a company limited by guarantee.
Before the establishment of the two bodies,
accounting practice in Malaysia was mainly
based on the practices in the UK, and also
in Australia and New Zealand which were
not much different from the practices in the
UK. In terms of approach, standard setting
in Malaysia is similar to those in the above
mentioned countries’ and has followed the
microeconomic methodology which fo-
cuses on the use of financial reports for the
needs of individual enterprises for making
economic decisions (Craig and Diga, 1996).

 MASB was established under the Finan-

cial Reporting Act, 1997. Its primary objec-
tive is the setting of accounting standards
and other related responsibilities including
the development of the statements of prin-
ciples and a conceptual framework.3 Todate,
it has issued 16 MASB standards and two
SOPs. The standards cover various topics
including the effects of changes in foreign
exchange rates; construction contracts; re-
lated party disclosures; leases; earnings per
share; property, plant and equipment; and
financial reporting of interests in joint ven-
tures. The SOPs focus upon exempt enter-
prises, and interim financial reporting.

DISCUSSION
General

MASB 1 is an adopted version of IAS 1
(revised), issued by the International Ac-
counting Standards Committee in 1997 (the
year MASB was established) and issued by
the Council of the MIA in the same year as
an Exposure Draft. Except for a few addi-
tions and alterations, MASB 1 is virtually a
reflection of IAS 1 (revised). So although
the focus here is specifically on MASB 1,
the comments made herein may also apply
to IAS 1 (revised) where applicable.

 The introductory section to MASB 1
seems to be more informative compared
to the previous related IAS. Among the top-
ics that are more adequately covered in the
new standard are :  Purpose of Financial

Statements; Responsibility for Financial
Statements; Components of the Financial
Statements; and the Overall Considerations
which cover Fair Presentation and Com-
pliance with MASB Standards.

 Of special significance here is the addi-
tional requirement under Components of
Financial Statements, for a statement of
changes in equity or changes in equity
other than those arising from capital trans-
actions with owners and distribution to
owners. This statement reconciles the
changes in the major components of the
shareholders’ equity from the beginning to
the end of the year. This is, of course, an
advance in terms of informational content
over the previous standard (IAS 5) where
only three statements were required. It is
also consistent with the current trend in
financial reporting. This shall be further
discussed under paragraph 86.

 A further step forward in the standard
is provided in paragraph 10 where enter-
prises are encouraged to make voluntary
disclosures.

 The components of the financial state-
ments are listed (paragraph 8) beginning
with the balance sheet (a) and ending with
accounting policies and explanatory notes
(e). Does this imply that the standard re-
quires these components to be presented
in that order? It is quite appropriate for the
standard to positively state as to the pre-
ferred order in which these financial state-
ment components should be presented.

 Another positive aspect of the new
standard is the detailed statement of the
requirement to comply with MASB stand-
ards under the heading of Overall Consid-
erations (p. 7). This serves as a logical fol-

MASB 1 :  AN ANALYSIS
By Dr. Shaari Isa

LECTURER, FACULTY OF BUSINESS AND ACCOUNTING, UNIVERSITY OF MALAYA*

In 1999 the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board (MASB) issued
its first accounting standard, MASB 1, which became operative on 1
July of the same year. As stated in the Forward to MASB Standards

and Other Technical Pronouncements (1999), the board had adopted 24
of the extant International Accounting Standards (IAS) and the Malaysian
Accounting Standards (MAS) prior to the establishment of MASB by the
Councils of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (MIA) and the
Malaysian Association of Certified Public Accountants (MACPA). This
article which is an attempt at an analysis and a review of MASB 1 is done
with the encouragement and the premise that MASB is “receptive to com-
ments on accounting standards...”2

* In writing of this article the writer acknowledges
the comments made by Associate Professor Dr. S.
Susela Devi.

2 The article analyses similarities and differences be-
tween MASB 1 and other related standards (includ-
ing previous related standards) focusing on the
strengths and the weaknesses associated with the
standard.

3 The details of the MASB functions are spelt out in
section 7(1) of the Financial Reporting Act 1997.
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low-up from the statements in the For-
ward.4 However, one observation here is
concerned with the positive statement that
the “appropriate application of MASB
Standards, with additional disclosure when
necessary, results in virtually all circum-
stances in financial statements that achieve
fair presentations” (paragraphs 11 and 15,
emphasis added). Care should be taken with
such a claim. One reason is that the con-
cept of ‘fairness’5 or ‘truth and fairness’ is
abstract and never defined. Also the stand-
ards at any time are not comprehensive
enough to cover all aspects of business and
accounting. At present, MASB standards
count to less than 20. More are forthcom-
ing of course. In the US, there are more than
100 standards issued by the FASB alone.
Even then, there were court cases which
showed that compliance with the GAAP
(similar to standards) did not automatically
result in the statements that were not mis-
leading.6 Perhaps the phrase “results in vir-
tually all circumstances” should be replaced
by “should normally result”?

Accounting policies
Compared to the previous standard on

policies (IAS 1), MASB 1 is generally more
comprehensive, providing greater explana-
tion of accounting policies. This includes
the explanation of the requirements in situ-
ations where there are no specific stand-
ards. The three considerations of pru-
dence, substance over form and materiality
merely outlined in the previous standard
(IAS 1) become more meaningful when
related to the characteristic of reliability in
the new standard. Also the assumptions
such as going concern, consistency etc. are
better explained under MASB 1.7

 The discussion under Accrual Basis of
Accounting (Paragraph 26) is wider than
in the previous standard (IAS 1) which had
only one sentence. However, the first line
of the new standard, which refers to the
accrual basis of accounting, lacks
specificity. It refers to the recognition of
transactions and events when they occur,
rather than the recognition of revenues when
they are earned which is the basis of the
recognition principle. The accrual concept
is more directly related with the recogni-
tion and the matching principles. This is
similarly expressed in the UK standard,

SSAP 2 (Disclosure of Accounting Policies).
The recognition of transactions and events
is much wider. It refers to the process of
recording an economic event of which cer-
tain criteria must be met before a transac-
tion or event is to be recognised, which
includes definition and measurability.

Another point is that paragraph 26 dis-
cusses one method of matching only — di-
rect association, which in practice is in the
minority. Direct association refers to the
exact cost-and-effect relationship between
an item of revenue and an expense event,
for example, between the amount of sales
(cause) and sales commission (effect).
Besides direct association, there are three
other methods of expense recognitions -
all indirect. It is not intended to discuss
them here. One of these other methods
involves systematic and rational alloca-
tions, which are viewed as ‘exceptional cir-
cumstances’ in MASB 1. However, carry-
ing forward expenditures and allocating
them to future time periods is far from be-
ing ‘exceptional circumstances’. The treat-
ment of long-term assets through depre-
ciation and the allocation of prepaid rent
over the number of time periods it is paid
for, are two examples. Both have future
economic benefits, however, direct associa-
tion is only possible for rent, while for the
long-term asset only systematic allocation
is possible through depreciation. But the
requirement in the standard seems to be
that such deferral is only allowed “if a di-
rect association between the probable fu-
ture economic benefits and expenditures
incurred can be established.” It is doubt-
ful in direct association, that a cause and-
effect relationship, is ever possible regard-
ing the allocation of long-term assets and
also the two examples given in the stand-
ard, that is, product development expendi-
ture and prospecting expenditure. In fact,
matching is not always possible. A notori-
ous example of an item of cost that is often
not matched at all with revenue is adver-
tising expenditure which is just recognised
as expense in the period incurred because
it is difficult to know which item of expense
generates which section of the revenue.

 Paragraph 27 discusses the presentation
or format of the financial statements. This
adds further to the provisions in the previ-
ous standard (1AS 5). In discussing format,

perhaps, there is a need to mention some-
thing about the different formats of finan-
cial statement presentation commonly
used in practice, with an explanation of
MASB’s view of each format and its pref-
erence. For example, for the balance sheet,
there is the report format versus account
format, or the one that shows net current
asset versus the one that does not, or some
other alternative presentation.

 Although paragraph 27 is about the con-
sistency of presentation and classification,
the consistency of principles and proce-
dures should also be emphasised as a natu-
ral follow-up from the previous discussions
on accounting policies and going concerns
which are concerned with the preparation
of the financial statements. Consistency of
presentation has no meaning without the
consistency in the earlier part of the ac-
counting process. As a matter of fact, the
consistency convention applies more to the
application of principles, procedures and
methods. This is because while consist-
ency of presentation is important, consist-
ency of procedures and principles is even
more so because it affects informational
content rather than its arrangement.

 Paragraph 29 focuses upon materiality
and aggregation, which is an advance over
the previous standards (IAS 5). The previ-
ous standard had only one sentence under
materiality. The new standard requires
immaterial items to be aggregated with
‘amounts’ (does it mean ‘items’?) of simi-
lar nature or functions. In common with
paragraph 27, this paragraph is only con-
cerned with the materiality at the presen-
tation level without touching on materiality
at the earlier level. This part of the stand-
ard should perhaps be more balanced in
its focus. It should emphasise upon the im-
portance of materiality both in the process
of preparing as well as the presentation of
the financial statements. Although the na-
ture and size of item is mentioned, not
enough explanation is given to the nature
aspect (or the qualitative aspect) of
materiality. More can be discussed at the

4 MASB (1999), Forward to MASB Standards and
Other Technical Pronouncements, p.6

5 The use of terminology will be discussed later.

6 See the discussion in Kam V., (1994), Accounting
Theory, pp. 545 & 546.

7 UK’s SSAP 2 seems more detailed with accounting
policies placed within a derivative system.
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earlier level including the quantitative and
the qualitative aspects of materiality.

 Paragraph 33 discusses the offsetting of
assets and liabilities. This part seems to be
rather brief with a blanket statement that
offsetting of assets and liabilities should
only be done if permitted or required by
another MASB standard, without identify-
ing the standard. The previous standard
(IAS 13) specifically states that “to (To) per-
mit adequate identification of the separate
assets and liabilities of the enterprise, the
amount at which a current asset or a cur-
rent liability is stated is generally not re-
duced by deducting another current liabil-
ity or current asset. However, such offset-
ting might be appropriate when a legal right
of set-off exists and the offsetting represents
the expectation as to the realisation of the
asset or settlement of liability” (paragraph
13). The absence of a guideline in the
present standard may cause some problems
for an enterprise in a similar situation as
above, since IAS 13 has been subsumed.
This similarly applies to paragraph 34(a).

 Paragraph 34(b) does not appear to be
quite clear. Is it about aggregation or about
offsetting? Is it about (i) the offsetting of
gains against losses and vice versa, or (ii)
the offsetting of gains or losses against re-
lated expenses, resulting in net gains or net
losses, or (iii) is it about the aggregation
of gains with gains and losses with losses?
It appears that 34(b) refers to (iii) because
of the reference to paragraph 29. If so, has
it not been adequately covered under 29?
The offsetting of gains or losses against the
related expenses [(ii)] seems more like
netting or matching. Perhaps it should ap-
propriately be discussed under paragraph
(36) or under matching. A further point is
that paragraph 34(b) is about gains and
losses which are quite different in nature
from incomes and expenses under which
they are discussed.8

 Paragraph 38 discusses two types of com-
parative information, namely, first, the com-
parative figures in respect of the previous
period (the word ‘figures’ not used) which
are to be disclosed against all items in the
financial statements; second, other compara-
tive information in the form of narration and
description whenever and wherever relevant
for a better understanding of the financial
statements. This is an advance over the pre-

vious standard (IAS 5) where the qualitative
type of comparative information was not
mentioned. However, perhaps the paragraph
in the new standard needs to distinguish
more clearly between comparative figures
and other comparative information and the
fact that the former is mandatory, the latter
is left to management decision.

STRUCTURE AND CONTENT
Structure and Content under paragraph

42 onwards provides more information
than the three IAS superseded standards.
Among the topics little discussed in the
previous standards are identification of the
financial statements, reporting period, and
timeliness. However, there are areas that
could make the standard even better. First,
the introductory paragraph (paragraph 42)
to this section should include a guideline
on the placement of accounting informa-
tion, that is, where each piece of account-
ing information is to be reported. For ex-
ample, what information is to be reported
on the main body of the financial state-
ments, which one in the notes, and which
as supplementary information. The FASB,
for example, has determined the criteria
which if met, the information must be re-
ported in the body of the financial state-
ments, nowhere else. Similar guidelines
should also be included for the inclusion
of the information in the notes and as sup-
plementary information.

Paragraph 51 uses the term “52-week pe-
riod” and “one year period” to mean “fiscal
year” and “calendar year” respectively. Would
the latter terms be more precise and, there-
fore, more understandable? Perhaps the
standard should also advocate the use of fis-
cal year that corresponds to the enterprise’s
natural business year. A natural business year
should be the 12 month period that ends
when the business activities of the enterprise
reach their lowest point in the annual cycle.

 Paragraph 53 is concerned with current
and non-current item presentation. This
part provides two alternatives to the pres-
entation of current and non-current items,
that is, either as separate classifications or
in order of their liquidity. The first alterna-
tive, that is, separate classification has been
a long established practice in Malaysia with
the least liquid items often presented first.
This practice does not seem to be consist-

ent with the present concept of useful in-
formation in terms of the users’ primary
concern for the cash flow. Although the
emphasis on cash flow is also expressed
in this standard,9 the example of a balance
sheet structure in Appendix 3 shows pref-
erence for the former. To be consistent
with the current trend in financial report-
ing, should the standard not express pref-
erence for the second alternative?

 Paragraph 57 provides the criteria for
the determination of current assets. The
first criterion is on the basis of an operat-
ing cycle, the second is on the basis of a
period of twelve months, and the third cov-
ers unrestricted cash and cash equivalents.
All other assets are to be classified as a non-
current. Although the paragraph is com-
plete in itself, there are a few things that
may be worth pointing out here. First, it
may be necessary to mention somewhere
under the discussion on current assets,
that as a general rule, the determination
of current assets is based on the longer of
the two periods, an operating cycle or one
year. The previous standard (IAS 13) did
have a discussion on this. Second, not all
business enterprises have clearly defined
operating cycles. In such a case, current
and non-current distinction should be
made on the basis of one year. This part
should also be added in the discussion on
current assets. Third, the term, “cash
equivalent assets” may need some expla-
nations with examples.

 The comment made above on paragraph
57 on current assets should similarly apply
to paragraph 60 on current liabilities. It is
to be noted that in the case of current li-
abilities, there is an additional condition,
that is, management must intend to use ex-
isting current assets or to create other cur-
rent liabilities in order to satisfy the current
obligation. This means that if management
intends to use an asset of non-current na-
ture for that purpose, the item concerned
should not be classified as a current liabil-
ity. The rationale for this is the impact of
such settlement on the current ratio.

8 Although the Proposed Framework defines gains
and losses together with income and expenses re-
spectively, they are usually reported separately in
the income statements which reflect their different
nature.

9 See paragraph 6 on the Purpose of the Financial
Statements
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Budget 2001 Speech by Y.B Tun Daim Zainuddin,
Ministry of Finance Malaysia on 27 October 2000.

Finance (no. 2) Bill 2000

Economic Report 2000/2001, by Ministry of Fi-
nance, Kuala Lumpur : Ministry of Finance,
October 2000.
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2001 Tax & Business Information Budget News,
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Institute of Accountants, October 2000.
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2001 Budget Commentary & Ready Reference, by
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Accountants, Kuala Lumpur : MACPA, 2000.

Call No. :  658.154 MAL

Malaysian Budget 2001 Commentary, by Ernst
& Young, Kuala Lumpur : Ernst & Young, Octo-
ber 2000.

Call No. :  658.154 ERN

2001 Malaysian Budget, by Arthur Anderson,
Kuala Lumpur :  Arthur Anderson, 2000.

Call No. :  658.154 ART

2000/2001 Malaysian Tax and Business Booklet,
by PricewaterhouseCoopers, Kuala Lumpur :
PricewaterhouseCoopers, October 2000.

Call No. : 658.154 PRI

Tax Update :  2001 Budget Issue, by Deloitte Tou-
che Tohmatsu/Deloitte KassimChan, Kuala
Lumpur : Deloitte KassimChan, October 2000.

Call No. :  658.154 DEL

Malaysian Taxletter :  2001 Budget Proposals,
by KPMG/Desa Megat & Co., Kuala Lumpur :
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Research & Development Incentives in Malaysia,
by Ministry of International Trade and Indus-
try, 2nd ed., Kuala Lumpur :  MITI, 1999.

Call No. :  330.9 MIN

Financial Services Trade, Capital Flows, and
Financial Stability, by Massamichi Kono and
Ludger Schuknecht, Geneva :  World Trade Or-
ganisation, November 1998.

Call No. :  658.15 MAS

World Economic Outlook, May 2000: Asset Price
and the Business Cycle, by International Mon-
etary Fund, Washington :  IMF, 2000.

Call No. :  330.9 INT

An Easy Guide For Small Business to Get Started
on Information Technology, by Microsoft.

Call No. :  658.403801 MIC

Business @ The Speed of Thought : Using a Dig-
ital Nervous System, by William H. Gates, New
York :  Warner Books, 1999.

Call No. :  658.403801 GAT

A Comparative Study of Undergraduate and Pro-
fessional Education in the Professions of Account-
ancy, Medicine, Law and Architecture, by
Catriona Paisey and Nicholas J. Paisey, Edin-
burgh :  The Institute of Chartered Accountants
of Scotland, 2000.

Call No. :  657.044 PAI

Developments in the Audit Methodologies of Large
Accounting Firms, by W. Morley Lemon, Kay W.
Tatum and Stuart Turley, May 2000.

Call No. :  657.45 LEM

Accounting Education : Charting the Course
through a Perilous Future, by W. Steve Albrecht
and Robert J. Sack (Accounting Education Se-
ries, Vol. No. 16), Florida :  American Account-
ing Association, 2000.

Call No. :  657.071 ALB

 Paragraph 63 is concerned with current
maturities of long-term liabilities. Three con-
ditions are set that necessitates the enter-
prise to continue classifying long-term inter-
est bearing liabilities as non-current even
when they are due for settlement within 12
months.10 These three conditions are :  the
original term is more than 12 months; there
is intention to refinance the obligation on a
long-term basis and; that intention is sup-
ported by an agreement. These conditions
seem to be narrower than the requirements
under the previous standard (IAS 13) in the
sense that the issue of share capital after the
date of the balance sheet seems to be ex-
cluded. It is also narrower if compared to the
practice in the US where two more condi-
tions are set as follows :

a. If the currently due portion of the obli-
gation is to be settled by the use of as-
sets classified as non-current.

b. If the currently due portion of the obli-
gation is to be settled by the issue of
shares.

 As discussed earlier, it is important that
in the discussion of this aspect of current
assets and current liabilities, the operating
cycle should not be left out.

 Paragraph 66 sets out the line items to
be included in the balance sheet. It appears
that the previous standard (IAS 5) had set
out the requirements with greater clarity
showing not only the headings but also the
items under each heading. For example,
the Specific Disclosures spelt out the gen-
eral disclosure requirements, which are
understandable at a glance. The new stand-
ard outlines the minimum requirements.
It is not clear whether this is meant to be a
“standing” format, which would have been
rather unusual. The example in Appendix
3 does not seem to indicate this. Being a
minimum requirement, it must apply to all
companies, but not all the items can be in-
cluded in all companies. For example mi-
nority interest applies only to consolidated
statements, and not all companies have
such items as intangible assets and non-
current interest-bearing liabilities.11 Unlike
IAS 5, the new standard does not include a
major item, “retained earnings”, although
the term appears in MASB 3. Also perhaps
the term “financial assets” (66c) needs a
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definition or some explanation. Some im-
portant balance sheet disclosures such as
those outlined in IAS 5, for example, meth-
ods of provision for pensions seem to be
absent in the new standard. Maybe they
are included in other standards but a men-
tion or inclusion of them here is necessary.

Would it have been better understood if
the standard outlines the general form of a
classified balance sheet? The general form
of a classified balance sheet first consists of
Assets, Liabilities, and Owners’ Equity.
These are then broken down into the head-
ings of current and non-current assets; cur-
rent and non-current liabilities; share capi-
tal and retained earnings. These are then
followed by the line items under each head-
ing. The item “reserves” is mentioned in the

Act but is not defined and may be getting
out of date. Under this item are usually listed
items such as revaluation reserve and share
premium account. But the revaluation of
many assets (except for investments at fair
values) may not be consistent with the pro-
posed conceptual framework because of the
reliability problem. Share premium account
should be classified under a separate line
item under Share Capital.

Note :  “MASB 1 : An Analysis” part 2 will con-
tinue in the January 2001 Issue of Akauntan
Nasional.

10 The phrase “or an operating cycle, if it is longer” is
missing here although this is mentioned in para-
graph 57.

11 Although paragraph 57 requires non-current assets
to be classified as such the term “non-current as-
sets” is absent from the example in Appendix 3.
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